

On the Existence of Linearly Oscillating Galaxies

Mahir Hadžić, Gerhard Rein & Christopher Straub

Communicated by C. MOUHOT

Abstract

We consider two classes of steady states of the three-dimensional, gravitational Vlasov-Poisson system: the spherically symmetric Antonov-stable steady states (including the polytropes and the King model) and their plane symmetric analogues. We completely describe the essential spectrum of the self-adjoint operator governing the linearized dynamics in the neighborhood of these steady states. We also show that for the steady states under consideration, there exists a gap in the spectrum. We then use a version of the Birman-Schwinger principle first used by Mathur to derive a general criterion for the existence of an eigenvalue inside the first gap of the essential spectrum, which corresponds to linear oscillations about the steady state. It follows in particular that no linear Landau damping can occur in the neighborhood of steady states satisfying our criterion. Verification of this criterion requires a good understanding of the so-called period function associated with each steady state. In the plane symmetric case we verify the criterion rigorously, while in the spherically symmetric case we do so under a natural monotonicity assumption for the associated period function. Our results explain the pulsating behavior triggered by perturbing such steady states, which has been observed numerically.

Contents

1.	Introduction	612
	1.1. The basic set-up and main objective	612
	1.2. Symmetry classes	613
	1.3. Steady states, linearization, and stability	615
	1.4. Main results	617
	1.5. Oscillations and damping; other related work and future perspectives	620
2.	Steady States	622
	2.1. Spherically symmetric steady states	622
	2.2. Plane symmetric steady states	625
3.	Linearization	631

	3.1. The Eulerian picture	 		631
	3.2. Mass-Lagrange coordinates	 		632
	3.3. An Eddington-Ritter type relation	 		636
4.	The Antonov Operators	 		638
	4.1. The radial Antonov operator	 		638
	4.2. The planar Antonov operator	 		641
5.	The Essential Spectra of the Antonov Operators	 		644
	5.1. The essential spectrum of the radial Antonov operator	 		644
	5.2. The essential spectrum of the planar Antonov operator	 		654
6.	Kurth Solutions	 		659
	6.1. The spherically symmetric Kurth family	 		660
	6.2. A planar Kurth-type family	 		661
7.	The Spectral Gap	 		664
	7.1. Spherically symmetric case	 		664
	7.2. Plane symmetric case	 		668
8.	Existence of Eigenvalues	 		670
	8.1. Mathur's argument and a criterion for the existence of eigenvalues			670
	8.2. Examples of linear oscillations	 		681
	8.2.1 Linear oscillations in the planar case	 		682
	8.2.2 Linear oscillations in the radial case	 		684
A.	Auxiliary Results on Potentials	 		686
	A.1. Potentials in the spherically symmetric case	 		686
	A.2. Potentials in the plane symmetric case	 		687
Β.	Properties of the Radial Period Function	 		688
	B.1. An upper bound on T	 		688
	B.2. A lower bound on T	 		691
	B.3. Regularity & monotonicity of T	 		693
Re	ferences	 		693

1. Introduction

1.1. The basic set-up and main objective

The three-dimensional gravitational Vlasov-Poisson system is the fundamental system of equations used in astrophysics to describe galaxies [8]. The basic unknown is the phase-space density $f : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3 \to [0, \infty[$ of the stars in the galaxy; it satisfies the system

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f - \nabla_x U \cdot \nabla_v f = 0, \qquad (1.1)$$

$$\Delta U = 4\pi\rho,\tag{1.2}$$

$$\rho(t, x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f(t, x, v) \,\mathrm{d}v. \tag{1.3}$$

Here $\rho = \rho(t, x)$ and U = U(t, x) denote the macroscopic density of the stars and the induced gravitational potential at time $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and position $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$, $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$ is the momentum or velocity variable, and \cdot denotes the Euclidean scalar product. Equation (1.1) is the Vlasov equation and (1.2) is the Poisson equation. Isolated systems are characterized by the boundary condition

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} U(t, x) = 0. \tag{1.4}$$

We refer to the system (1.1)–(1.3) as the *Vlasov-Poisson system*.

This system possesses a plethora of spatially localized steady states which serve as models of stationary galaxies [8, 17]. The dynamic stability of such equilibria has attracted a lot of interest in both the physics and mathematics communities; we will review some of the corresponding literature below. However, even when a steady state has been shown to be stable the actual dynamical behavior triggered by a small perturbation of it is not determined. In a numerical investigation of the Einstein-Vlasov system, which is the relativistic version of the Vlasov-Poisson system, it was observed that such perturbations lead to solutions which oscillate about the steady state [1]. In these oscillations the spatial support of the solutions expands and contracts in a time-periodic way, i.e., after perturbation the state starts to pulse. The same behavior was observed numerically for the Vlasov-Poisson system in [56], and again for the Einstein-Vlasov system in [21].

Such pulsating solutions are classical for the Euler-Poisson system and have been used to explain the Cepheid variable stars [15,63]; a mathematically rigorous analysis of these solutions is provided in [31,50].

Some oscillatory behavior in the situation of the Vlasov matter model has been discussed in [8,46], but very little is rigorously known about the occurrence of such pulsating solutions in the context of the Vlasov-Poisson system. The main objective of the present paper is to address this issue in the linearized setting within natural symmetry classes. In the next sections of this introduction we outline our paper in more detail and put it into perspective.

1.2. Symmetry classes

The steady states which are studied in this paper and their perturbations will be either spherically symmetric or plane symmetric. We need to make precise what we mean by these symmetries, and we begin with spherical symmetry.

A phase-space density function f is *spherically symmetric* if

$$f(t, Ax, Av) = f(t, x, v)$$
 for all $x, v \in \mathbb{R}^3$ and all rotations $A \in SO(3)$. (1.5)

In this case, it is sometimes convenient to use coordinates adapted to spherical symmetry,

$$r = |x|, \ w = \frac{x \cdot v}{r}, \ L = |x \times v|^2,$$
 (1.6)

where r is the spatial radius, w is the radial velocity, and L is the modulus of the angular momentum squared. In these variables the Vlasov-Poisson system takes the form

$$\partial_t f + w \,\partial_r f + \left(\frac{L}{r^3} - \frac{m(t,r)}{r^2}\right) \,\partial_w f = 0, \tag{1.7}$$

$$m(t,r) = 4\pi \int_0^r s^2 \rho(t,s) \,\mathrm{d}s, \tag{1.8}$$

$$\rho(t,r) = \frac{\pi}{r^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} f(t,r,w,L) \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}w;$$
(1.9)

for the corresponding solution U of the Poisson equation, $\partial_r U = m/r^2$.

A phase-space density function *f* is *plane symmetric* if

$$f(t, x, v) = f(t, x_1, v) = f(t, -x_1, -v_1, \bar{v}) \text{ for all } x, v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \quad (1.10)$$

which implies that $\rho(t, x) = \rho(t, x_1) = \rho(t, -x_1)$ and U can be chosen such that $U(t, x) = U(t, x_1) = U(t, -x_1)$. Since in the case of planar symmetry the effective spatial variable is only x_1 , we drop the subscript and view $x \in \mathbb{R}$ in the planar case, while $v = (v_1, \bar{v}) \in \mathbb{R}^3$. With this symmetry assumption and notational convention the Vlasov-Poisson system can be written as

$$\partial_t f + v_1 \,\partial_x f - \partial_x U \,\partial_{v_1} f = 0, \qquad (1.11)$$

$$U(t, x) = 2\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} |x - y| \,\rho(t, y) \,\mathrm{d}y, \qquad (1.12)$$

$$\rho(t, x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f(t, x, v) \,\mathrm{d}v. \tag{1.13}$$

The system (1.11)-(1.13) is equivalent to the one-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson system, since one can simply integrate out the \bar{v} -dependence, but we prefer to keep to the above form which appears in the astrophysics literature [3,36], and the stability analysis of which differs from the purely one-dimensional one. Clearly, within this symmetry class we cannot require the boundary condition (1.4), but (1.12) implies that

$$\partial_x U(t,x) = 2\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sign}(x-y) \,\rho(t,y) \,\mathrm{d}y, \qquad (1.14)$$

and hence $\lim_{x\to\infty} \partial_x U(t, x) = -\lim_{x\to\infty} \partial_x U(t, x)$, which is a natural substitute for (1.4). The additional reflection symmetry which we included in (1.10) implies that $\partial_x U(t, 0) = 0$ and

$$\partial_x U(t,x) = 4\pi \int_0^x \rho(t,y) \,\mathrm{d}y; \tag{1.15}$$

this identity will be important in what follows.

A short comment on our (ab)use of notation is in order. We will throughout the paper identify f(t, x, v) = f(t, r, w, L) and analogously for other functions or variables. However, we will distinguish different representations of the same set—for example the support of some steady state—in different coordinates. Moreover, while we do not notationally distinguish between a general, or spherically symmetric, or plane symmetric phase space density f, we will notationally distinguish between function spaces and operators consisting of or acting on spherically symmetric, or plane symmetric functions respectively; the latter will be distinguished by a bar, so \mathcal{A} will act on spherically symmetric functions, while $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ will act on plane symmetric ones.

1.3. Steady states, linearization, and stability

The most important class of steady states to the Vlasov-Poisson system are *isolated*, *spherically symmetric* steady states, which are time-independent solutions of (1.7)–(1.9) with the boundary condition (1.4). Physically less important but mathematically easier to analyze are *plane symmetric* steady states solving the system (1.11)–(1.13). The latter have nevertheless been widely used in past investigations [36,45,51,52,68].

To find a spherically symmetric steady state f_0 of the Vlasov-Poisson system one prescribes a *microscopic* equation of state φ and seeks a solution of the form

$$f_0(r, w, L) = \varphi(E, L), \quad E(r, w, L) = \frac{1}{2}w^2 + \Psi_L(r),$$
 (1.16)

where

$$\Psi_L(r) = \frac{L}{2r^2} + U_0(r) \tag{1.17}$$

is the effective potential and U_0 is the gravitational potential induced by f_0 via the Poisson equation. Both *E* and *L* are preserved by the characteristic flow of the spherically symmetric Vlasov equation (1.7), so any sufficiently regular f_0 of the form (1.16) is a solution to the Vlasov equation. For a wide range of φ one finds time-independent solutions of the form (1.16) with finite mass and compact support in phase space [55]. The most representative are the polytropes

$$\varphi(E,L) = (E_0 - E)^k_+ (L - L_0)^l_+, \qquad (1.18)$$

and the King model

$$\varphi(E) = (e^{E_0 - E} - 1)_+, \tag{1.19}$$

which are used extensively in the astrophysics literature [8]. Here, $E_0 < 0$, $L_0 \ge 0$, and $k, l \in \mathbb{R}$ are suitably chosen parameters, see the discussion in the paragraph after (2.3) in Sect. 2.1. If not stated explicitly otherwise we employ the following notational convention throughout the paper: for $t, k \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$t_{+}^{k} := \begin{cases} t^{k}, \ t > 0, \\ 0, \ t \le 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.20)

In the planar case, the ansatz

$$f_0(x,v) = \varphi(E,\bar{v}), \qquad E(x,v) = \frac{1}{2}v_1^2 + U_0(x), \qquad (x,v) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3$$
(1.21)

leads to a solution of the Vlasov equation (1.11), since E and $\bar{v} = (v_2, v_3)$ are conserved quantities of the characteristic flow. Analogously to the radial situation, there exist plane symmetric steady states of polytropic form

$$\varphi(E, \bar{v}) = (E_0 - E)^k_+ \,\beta(\bar{v}), \qquad (1.22)$$

and of King type

$$\varphi(E,\bar{v}) = (e^{E_0 - E} - 1)_+ \,\beta(\bar{v}). \tag{1.23}$$

For the discussion of the range of exponents k in (1.22), the choice of E_0 as well as the \bar{v} -dependency β , see Sect. 2.2. We refer to the above steady states as the *plane* symmetric polytropes and the *plane* symmetric King solution respectively. All of the following can be done for a much larger class of steady states, but for the sake of clarity we limit the discussion to these classical models.

We now linearize the system (1.7)–(1.9) about a fixed radial steady state f_0 with potential U_0 , i.e., we substitute $f = f_0 + \delta f$ into the system and drop all terms which are of higher than linear order in the perturbation δf . For this to be justified δf must be small compared to f_0 , in particular δf must vanish outside the support of f_0 . Thus even if one finds an oscillatory solution δf of the linearized system, this does not explain the pulsations discussed above, since f is always supported in the support of f_0 . However, if we linearize the Vlasov-Poisson system not starting from the Eulerian picture as above, but in suitable mass-Lagrange coordinates, then the corresponding linearized analysis does indeed capture the pulsating behavior which was observed numerically. These different linearization schemes lead to (essentially) the same linear equation of the form

$$\partial_t^2 h + \mathcal{A}h = 0, \tag{1.24}$$

where h = h(x, v) is odd in v and the Antonov or linearized operator A is given as

$$\mathcal{A} := -\mathcal{D}^2 - \mathcal{B},\tag{1.25}$$

where \mathcal{B} is a bounded, symmetric operator, and

$$\mathcal{D} := v \cdot \nabla_x - \nabla_x U_0 \cdot \nabla_v \tag{1.26}$$

is the transport operator associated with the characteristic flow of the steady state, whose functional analytical properties have been investigated in [23,42] and recently in [61]. In Sect. 3 we carry out these linearization schemes and the derivation of the operator \mathcal{A} in more detail. A similar analysis around the plane symmetric steady states (1.22)–(1.23) leads to the linearization analogous to (1.24) with the Antonov operator \mathcal{A} replaced by a related operator $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$; see Sect. 3.

The basic criterion for spectral stability is the absence of growing modes. Starting in the 1960's, a simple criterion for linear stability was proposed and formally derived in the astrophysics literature [2, 14, 35]: if

$$\varphi'(E,L) := \partial_E \varphi(E,L) < 0, \tag{1.27}$$

then the corresponding steady state f_0 is linearly stable. An important tool is the quadratic form

$$\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H,$$
 (1.28)

where H is a suitable Hilbert space consisting of spherically symmetric functions on the support of the steady state which are square-integrable with respect to a certain weight; the latter is chosen such that A is symmetric on H, see Sect. 4. The condition (1.27) implies that (1.28) is non-negative. This *Antonov coercivity* plays an important role in our analysis, cf. Proposition 7.1. The equilibria satisfying (1.27) are called *Antonov-stable* or *linearly stable*. If (1.27) is not satisfied the steady state may in fact be linearly unstable, i.e., there exist growing modes, cf. [23,67]. A planar analogue of Antonov's coercivity bound has been shown in [36] and is proven in Proposition 7.7 using the techniques from [26,42]. The stability of planar steady states is e.g. discussed in [51].

In the mathematics literature a lot of effort went into the rigorous non-linear stability analysis, see [23,25,26,42,43,60] and the references there. In particular, Lemou, Méhats, and Raphaël [43] showed non-linear orbital stability against general perturbations for a wide range of spherically symmetric, isotropic steady states. But beyond the stability assertion, very little is known about the long time behavior of perturbations of Antonov-stable steady states of the form (1.16).

1.4. Main results

In this section we focus on the spherically symmetric situation, but emphasize that similar results are obtained in the planar setting as well.

Oscillation modes correspond to the positive eigenvalues of A with eigenfunction odd in v—a detailed discussion on the meaning of the linearization is given in Sects. 3.1–3.2. An eigenvalue $\lambda > 0$ of A is related to the period P of the corresponding oscillation via

$$P = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{\lambda}}.$$
 (1.29)

In Sect. 3.3 we establish the so-called Eddington-Ritter relation $P\rho(0)^{1/2} = const$ cf. [15,50,63] for the Vlasov-Poisson system, which was observed numerically in [56] at the non-linear level.

The essential spectrum. We provide a sharp description of the essential spectrum of \mathcal{A} . By Theorem 5.9, \mathcal{B} is relatively compact to \mathcal{D}^2 , and therefore the essential spectrum of $\mathcal{A} = -(\mathcal{D}^2 + \mathcal{B})$ coincides with the essential spectrum of $-\mathcal{D}^2$. A fundamental ingredient in our analysis are *action-angle variables*. For any choice of energy level E and angular momentum L, the corresponding particle motion in the gravitational well defined by the effective potential Ψ_L , cf. (1.17), is periodic, and the action variable $\theta \in \mathbb{S}^1$ parametrizes the phase of the oscillation along the particle orbit. The radial particle periods are given by the *period function*

$$T(E,L) := \sqrt{2} \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{E - \Psi_{L}(r)}} \,\mathrm{d}r, \qquad (1.30)$$

where $r_{-}(E, L) < r_{+}(E, L)$ solve $\Psi_{L}(r_{\pm}(E, L)) = E$, see Lemma 2.1; the properties of *T* are analyzed in detail in Appendix **B**. The corresponding change of phase space variables

$$(r, w, L) \mapsto (\theta, E, L)$$

is not volume preserving as it would be in the case of true action-angle variables [4, 41,49], but we use this terminology anyway. In action-angle variables the transport operator D takes the particularly simple form

$$\mathcal{D} = \frac{1}{T(E,L)} \partial_{\theta} \tag{1.31}$$

(see Lemmas 5.1 and 5.2), and therefore the Antonov operator (1.25) can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{A} = -\frac{1}{T(E,L)^2}\partial_{\theta}^2 - \mathcal{B}.$$
(1.32)

It is tempting to express the gravitational "response" operator \mathcal{B} in the new variables as well, but the resulting expression does not lead to any insights. This antagonism between transport and gravity is well explained in Lynden-Bell's notes [49] and also mentioned in [8]. Using (1.31), we prove in Theorems 5.7 and 5.9 that

$$\sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A}) = \sigma_{ess}(-\mathcal{D}^2) = \left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}_0}{T(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2 = \overline{\left\{\frac{4\pi^2k^2}{T^2(E,L)} \mid k \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ (E,L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}\right\}},$$
(1.33)

where $\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ is the interior of the (E, L)-support of the steady state. Related results regarding the essential spectrum of \mathcal{D} instead of $-\mathcal{D}^2$ were stated previously in the physics literature, see e.g. [52]. By Proposition B.1, the period function $(E, L) \mapsto$ T(E, L) is bounded from above and bounded away from zero on the support of the steady state (which is due, among other things, to the finite extent of the steady state), and thus (1.33) in particular shows that the essential spectrum has a gap between the 0-eigenvalue and the value $\frac{4\pi^2}{\sup^2(T)}$. Following Mathur [52], we refer to this gap as the *principal gap* and denote it by

$$\mathcal{G} := \left] 0, \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}^2(T)} \right[. \tag{1.34}$$

We see that the structure of the essential spectrum is entirely encoded in the properties of the period function T(E, L). Another simple consequence of (1.33) is that further gaps in the spectrum are possible depending on the relative size of the maximum and the minimum of the period function on the steady state support, see Remark 5.10. The gap structure is also mentioned in the physics literature, see [8] and references therein. In the plasma-physics context, action-angle variables have been recently used in the important work of Guo and Lin [24], see also [54].

The gap in the spectrum. We next look for eigenvalues in the principal gap \mathcal{G} . One obvious attempt is to obtain such an eigenvalue via a variational principle, more precisely, to minimize the quadratic form (1.28) over the set of *g* orthogonal to ker(\mathcal{A}) satisfying $||g||_H = 1$. Antonov's coercivity bound—as stated in Proposition 7.1—yields a complete characterization of the null-space of \mathcal{A} ; it coincides with the null-space of \mathcal{D} . Due to Jeans' theorem, ker(\mathcal{D}) consists of all functions

of *E* and *L* that belong to H [5,26,61,65], a statement which also follows from the formula (1.31). However, this minimization problem is in general hard. In Theorem 7.5 we show that

$$\inf_{\substack{g \in \ker(\mathcal{A})^{\perp} \setminus \{0\}}} \frac{\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H}{\|g\|_H^2}$$
(1.35)

is positive by considering an intermediate variational problem, cf. Proposition 7.4. The positivity of (1.35) follows immediately from Antonov's coercivity bound (7.1) in the case of an isotropic model, but is harder to obtain for polytropic steady states with an inner vacuum region. This proves the existence of a gap at the origin in the spectrum of \mathcal{A} and shows that no point spectrum can accumulate at $0 \in \sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A})$. In addition, the positivity of (1.35) is a useful tool employed in the following part.

The Birman-Schwinger principle and the existence of oscillating modes. To address the existence of eigenvalues we resort to a version of the Birman-Schwinger principle in Sect. 8. The latter has typically been used to prove the existence of bound states below the essential spectrum of Schrödinger operators [44]. We adapt an approach used by Mathur [52] to find normal modes for the linearized Vlasov-Poisson system, which the author in [52] used in the presence of a fixed external potential.

We restrict the operators to H^{odd} —the subspace of H consisting of functions odd in v (i.e. w)—since only spherically symmetric, odd-in-v eigenfunctions yield the existence of an oscillating mode. It is easily checked that $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}$ is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{A} if and only if 1 is an eigenvalue of the operator

$$Q_{\lambda} = \mathcal{B}\left(-\mathcal{D}^2 - \lambda\right)^{-1} : H^{odd} \to H^{odd}.$$

Lemmas 8.1 and 8.2 further show that the existence of some $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}$ such that Q_{λ} possesses an eigenvalue in $[1, \infty]$ implies that \mathcal{A} has an eigenvalue in the principal gap \mathcal{G} . The operator Q_{λ} is not easy to analyze directly, but the fact that \mathcal{B} maps onto functions of the form $|\varphi'(E, L)| w F(r)$ allows us to switch to an operator

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}: \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F},$$
 (1.36)

where the Hilbert space \mathcal{F} consists of functions of the radial variable r and any eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_{λ} gives an eigenvalue of Q_{λ} , cf. Lemma 8.10. We refer to \mathcal{M}_{λ} as the *Mathur operator*, cf. Definition 8.5. Furthermore, Proposition 8.6 yields an integral kernel representation of the Mathur operator first proposed in [52], and we show that \mathcal{M}_{λ} is indeed a symmetric Hilbert-Schmidt operator—when considered on the "right" function space—and that its spectrum is non-negative. Thus, the largest element in the spectrum of the Mathur operator is given by

$$M_{\lambda} = \|\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1} \to \mathcal{F}_{1}} = \sup\left\{\langle G, \mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G \rangle_{\mathcal{F}_{1}} \mid G \in \mathcal{F}_{1}, \ \|G\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1}} = 1\right\}$$
(1.37)

for a suitably chosen function space \mathcal{F}_1 , and M_{λ} is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_{λ} . We therefore arrive at the next key result of this work: The linearized operator \mathcal{A} has an eigenvalue in the principal gap \mathcal{G} if and only if there exists $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $M_{\lambda} > 1$, cf. Theorem 8.11.

Examples of steady states with linearly oscillating solutions. In Theorem 8.13 we prove that there exist classes of planar steady states such that the associated linearized operator has an eigenvalue in the principal gap. Secondly, in Theorem 8.15, assuming that the maximal value of the period function on the steady state support is attained at the maximal energy and minimal angular momentum, i.e.,

$$\sup_{\mathring{\Omega}_{0}^{FL}}(T) = T(E_0, L_0), \tag{1.38}$$

and that *T* is sufficiently regular (8.43), we show that there are classes of spherically symmetric steady states with an eigenvalue in the principal gap of the associated linearized operator. The assumption (1.38) is implied by the stronger *monotonicity* assumptions

$$\partial_E T \ge 0 \text{ and } \partial_L T \le 0 \text{ on } \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL},$$
 (1.39)

which are expected to hold for a wide class of steady states studied in this paper. The assumption (1.39) and therefore (1.38) has been verified numerically, and it will be rigorously established in future work. In general, monotonicity properties of the period function are an important topic in dynamical systems, especially in connection to bifurcation theory for Hamiltonian dynamical systems [11,12,27]. Monotonicity of the period function plays an important role for phase mixing (see e.g. [62]). However, to verify the criterion of Theorem 8.11, it is used in an entirely different way—and for the opposite purpose.

1.5. Oscillations and damping; other related work and future perspectives

We recall that the numerical investigations [1,21,56] show that oscillations are possible and consist of periodically repeated expansions and contractions of the configuration in (phase) space. It is important to realize that there exists a one parameter-family of explicit solutions to the non-linear Vlasov-Poisson system, which exhibit exactly this pulsating behavior, the so-called Kurth solutions [39]; for a particular parameter the solution becomes stationary. In Sect. 6 we remind the reader of these spherically symmetric solutions and introduce a new class of plane symmetric Kurth-type solutions. In view of the spectral analysis from Sect. 5 (and neglecting various regularity issues), the Kurth steady state is distinguished by the fact that the particle period is constant on the steady state support. Comparing the oscillation period of time-periodic Kurth solutions close to the Kurth steady state with the essential spectrum, we see that these solutions correspond to an eigenvalue in the principal gap.

In the linear regime and from an astrophysics point of view oscillating modes are discussed in [8, Chapter 5], see also [17,33,34,45,52,66,68,69].

A natural question in this context is whether a small perturbation of a stable steady state can lead to a damped mode, oscillatory or not. To discuss this, we first consider the plasma physics case of the Vlasov-Poisson system with a fixed, homogeneous ion background. This system allows for spatially homogeneous steady states where both the spatial net charge density and the electrostatic field vanish and the electrons are freely streaming. In [40] Landau observed that at the linearized level and despite the absence of dissipation, small perturbations of such steady states can lead to solutions where the spatial net charge density and the electrostatic field both decay back to their steady state value zero. This process is referred to as *Landau damping*. It was shown to hold nonlinearly by Mouhot and Villani [53], see also [7,20]. On the other hand, Glassey and Schaeffer [19] showed that small perturbations of a spatially homogeneous steady state are not damped if the steady state has compact velocity support. Close to the homogeneous state one can find spatially periodic steady states, the so-called BGK waves. Guo and Lin [24] showed that at the linearized level small perturbations of certain BGK waves lead to time-periodic, oscillatory modes which again are not damped. The corresponding spectral analysis strongly relies on the fact that the corresponding BGK waves are close to the homogeneous state so that the particle flow is close to free streaming.

By contrast, galaxies are modeled by compactly supported steady states of the gravitational Vlasov-Poisson system, which are far from being spatially homogeneous and have a non-trivial particle flow; in our case all the particle motions are *trapped*. The linearized dynamics about such a state must combine the phase-mixing effects due to the particle flow with the gravitational response of the background. This can be viewed as the interaction between the operators D^2 and \mathcal{B} in the definition (1.25) of \mathcal{A} . In the astrophysical literature, phase-mixing in connection to damping phenomena has for example been used by Lynden-Bell [47,48] and Antonov [2], see also the textbook by Binney and Tremaine [8] for an overview. More recently, Rioseco and Sarbach [62] studied phase-mixing for Vlasov equations in a *given* external potential using action-angle variables.

In light of this discussion, our results in Sect. 8 imply that on the linear level *no* damping occurs around a large class of plane symmetric steady states, and the same conclusion holds in the spherically symmetric case under the additional assumption (1.38) on the period function. This does not mean that such modes are not damped at the non-linear level, but such non-linear damping will work on time scales which are much longer than the oscillation periods. It must involve new mechanisms—the original Landau damping *is* already present at the linear level—and it should be a challenging topic for future work. Furthermore, as stated above, numerical simulations [1,21] indicate that the pulsating behavior is also present in the context of the asymptotically flat Einstein-Vlasov system and many of our methods extend to this case [22].

Before we proceed we wish to bring the reader's attention to the recent book [38] by M. Kunze. While working on our project we became aware—by personal communication [37]—of the impending publication of [38], but our investigation was completed before [38] became accessible, cf. [28]. Comparing [38] to our work, we think that the emphasis of the former is more on developing the Birman-Schwinger principle as an abstract tool in galactic dynamics, while our emphasis is on the application of this tool to the specific question of possible oscillations of galaxies. While there is a considerable overlap in the spectral theoretic aspects of the two works, these aspects play a stronger role in [38]. Kunze also obtains further properties of the period function and a connection between the Antonov operator and related operators, but he gives no examples to which his criterion for

the existence of oscillatory modes applies, and his analysis is limited to radial, isotropic steady states of the form $f_0(r, w, L) = \varphi(E)$. By contrast, we do provide classes of plane symmetric and (under the assumptions discussed above) radial, non-isotropic steady states for which our abstract criterion applies. In the radial setting, the non-isotropy is crucial for our method of verifying the criterion, which is why we put considerable effort in including this case.

2. Steady States

2.1. Spherically symmetric steady states

We consider steady states of the three-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson system (1.1)-(1.3) with boundary condition (1.4) of the form

$$f_0 = \varphi(E, L),$$

where $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty[$ is a suitable ansatz function, *E* is the particle energy induced by the stationary potential $U_0 = U_0(x)$ of the steady state, i.e.,

$$E = E(x, v) = \frac{1}{2}|v|^2 + U_0(x)$$

as above, and *L* is the modulus of the angular momentum squared defined in (1.6). The particle energy *E* is conserved along characteristics of the Vlasov equation, provided U_0 is time-independent, while *L* is conserved, provided U_0 is spherically symmetric. The stationary Vlasov-Poisson system is then reduced to the following equation for the potential:

$$\Delta U_0(x) = 4\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varphi \left(\frac{1}{2} |v|^2 + U_0(x), |x \times v|^2 \right) dv \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$
$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} U_0(x) = 0.$$
(2.1)

In the isotropic case where by definition φ depends only on the particle energy E, every solution $U_0 \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ of this equation is spherically symmetric, cf. [18], while this symmetry must be assumed a-priori when φ depends also on L.

As for the ansatz function, we focus on the polytropes

$$\varphi(E, L) = (E_0 - E)^k_+ (L - L_0)^l_+, \qquad (2.2)$$

and the King model

$$\varphi(E, L) = \varphi(E) = (e^{E_0 - E} - 1)_+, \qquad (2.3)$$

both of which play a prominent role in the astrophysics literature, cf. [8]; we recall (1.20). In both cases, $E_0 < 0$ is a cut-off energy, which is necessary in order that the resulting steady state has compact support and finite mass. In the polytropic case, $L_0 \ge 0$ gives a lower bound for the angular momentum. In particular, $L_0 > 0$ leads to a steady state with a vacuum region at the center. In this case the parameters k > 0 and l > -1 have to be chosen such that $k < l + \frac{7}{2}$ in order for a steady state to exist and have finite mass and compact support, and we also require $k + l + \frac{1}{2} \ge 0$. In the case of no vacuum region, i.e., $L_0 = 0$, we restrict ourselves to l = 0, i.e., L-independent isotropic models; we use the convention $0^0 = 1$ in (2.2) in this case. Again, $0 < k < \frac{7}{2}$. For the existence of steady states under the above (and more general) assumptions we refer to [55] and the references there.

Now let

$$\Omega_0 := \{ (x, v) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3 \mid f_0(x, v) > 0 \}$$

be the (interior of the) support of the steady state in (x, v)-coordinates. For the steady states mentioned above Ω_0 is open and bounded; by $R_0 := \sup\{|x| \mid (x, v) \in \Omega_0\} \in]0, \infty[$ we denote the maximal occurring radius in the steady state support. We add an upper index when expressing this set in different coordinates:

$$\Omega_0^r := \{ (r, w, L) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid \exists (x, v) \in \Omega_0 : r = |x|, \ w = \frac{x \cdot v}{r}, L = L(x, v) \},$$

$$\Omega_0^{EL} := \{ (E, L) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid \exists (x, v) \in \Omega_0 : E = E(x, v), \ L = L(x, v) \}.$$

The derivative $\varphi' := \partial_E \varphi$ exists on $\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ with

$$\varphi' < 0 \text{ on } \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}, \tag{2.4}$$

which is the usual condition for linear or non-linear stability of the steady state, encountered both in the astrophysics and in the mathematics literature, cf. [8,60] and the references there. Here, $\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ denotes the interior of the set Ω_0^{EL} .

All of the following can be done for a much larger class of steady states. In fact, it is only essential that the ansatz function satisfies the conditions of the existence theory [55] and that the steady state satisfies the stability condition (2.4). Furthermore, for the spectral analysis we require that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\varphi'(E(x,v), L(x,v))| \, \mathrm{d}v \le C$$
(2.5)

for some C > 0 independent of x, where we extend $\varphi' = \partial_E \varphi$ by 0 to the whole space. The assumption (2.5) however is of mere technical nature and it is expected that it can be relaxed. In the case of an isotropic steady state, i.e., $\varphi(E, L) = \varphi(E)$, (2.5) follows if

$$\int_{U_0(0)}^{E_0} |\varphi'(E)| \, \mathrm{d}E < \infty, \tag{2.6}$$

cf. [6]. For polytropic ansatz functions, our choice of parameters also yields (2.5), since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\varphi'(E(x,v),L(x,v))| \,\mathrm{d}v = c_{k,l} r^{2l} \left(E_0 - U_0(r) - \frac{L_0}{2r^2} \right)_+^{k+l+\frac{1}{2}}$$
(2.7)

for $x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$ and r = |x|, where $c_{k,l} > 0$ is some constant depending on k and l.

An important quantity for the analysis of spherically symmetric steady states of the Vlasov-Poisson system is the effective potential

$$\Psi_L:]0, \infty[\rightarrow \mathbb{R}, \ \Psi_L(r):=U_0(r) + \frac{L}{2r^2},$$
(2.8)

where L > 0 and we identified $U_0(x) = U_0(|x|)$. We claim the following properties:

Lemma 2.1. (a) For any L > 0 there exists a unique $r_L > 0$ such that

$$\min_{]0,\infty[}(\Psi_L)=\Psi_L(r_L)<0.$$

Moreover, the mapping $]0, \infty[\ni L \mapsto r_L is continuously differentiable.$

(b) For any L > 0 and $E \in]\Psi_L(r_L), 0[$ there exist two unique radii $r_{\pm}(E, L)$ satisfying

$$0 < r_{-}(E, L) < r_{L} < r_{+}(E, L) < \infty$$

and such that $\Psi_L(r_{\pm}(E, L)) = E$. In addition, the functions

$$\{(E, L) \in] -\infty, 0[\times]0, \infty[|\Psi_L(r_L) < E\} \ni (E, L) \mapsto r_{\pm}(E, L)$$

are continuously differentiable.

(c) For any L > 0 and $E \in]\Psi_L(r_L), 0[$,

$$r_+(E,L) < -\frac{M_0}{E},$$
 (2.9)

where $M_0 := ||f_0||_1 \in]0, \infty[$ denotes the total mass of the steady state.

(d) For any L > 0, $E \in]\Psi_L(r_L)$, 0[and $r \in [r_-(E, L), r_+(E, L)]$ the following estimate holds:

$$E - \Psi_L(r) \ge L \frac{(r_+(E,L) - r)(r - r_-(E,L))}{2r^2 r_-(E,L)r_+(E,L)}.$$
(2.10)

Proof. We refer to [26, 42] or more recently, [61, 65]. In these references, similar and further properties have been shown for other classes of steady states. However, the proofs only depend on the properties of the stationary potential U_0 and can therefore be adapted word by word.

The effective potential appears in the particle energy when expressed in (r, w, L)-coordinates:

$$E = E(r, w, L) = \frac{1}{2}w^2 + \frac{L}{2r^2} + U_0(r) = \frac{1}{2}w^2 + \Psi_L(r).$$

Therefore, for fixed L > 0, the particle trajectories of the steady state f_0 are governed by the characteristic system

$$\dot{r} = w, \qquad \dot{w} = -\Psi_L'(r).$$

Let $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto (r(t), w(t), L)$ be an arbitrary global solution of this system. Since the particle energy is conserved along these characteristics, there exists $E \in \mathbb{R}$ such that E = E(r(t), w(t), L) for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. We assume that the solution satisfies $\Psi_L(r_L) < E < 0$, otherwise it is not of interest. For any $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we then have

$$\Psi_L(r_L) \le \Psi_L(r(t)) \le \frac{1}{2}w^2(t) + \Psi_L(r(t)) = E$$

and thus $r_{-}(E, L) \leq r(t) \leq r_{+}(E, L)$. Furthermore, solving for w yields

$$\dot{r}(t) = w(t) = \pm \sqrt{2E - 2\Psi_L(r(t))}$$

for $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, *r* oscillates between $r_{-}(E, L)$ and $r_{+}(E, L)$, where $\dot{r} = 0$ is equivalent to $r = r_{\pm}(E, L)$ and \dot{r} always switches its sign when reaching $r_{\pm}(E, L)$. By applying the inverse function theorem and integrating, we obtain that the period of the *r*-motion, i.e., the time needed for *r* to travel from $r_{-}(E, L)$ to $r_{+}(E, L)$ and back to $r_{-}(E, L)$, is given by following expression:

Definition 2.2. For L > 0 and $\Psi_L(r_L) < E < 0$ let

$$T(E,L) := 2 \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{2E - 2\Psi_{L}(r)}},$$
(2.11)

which is referred to as the period function of the steady state.

Using Lemma 2.1 (c), (d), it can be shown that the above integral is finite with

$$T(E, L) \le 2\pi \frac{M_0^2}{E^2 \sqrt{L}},$$
 (2.12)

see [61,65] for a detailed proof. We only consider T on the interior of Ω_0^{EL} , since the boundary may contain points with $E = \Psi_L(r_L)$, i.e., r_{\pm} may not be defined there. However, it is easy to see that $\partial \Omega_0^{EL}$ is a set of measure zero and therefore not of interest later on.

2.2. Plane symmetric steady states

In the plane symmetric case, we look for stationary solutions of the Vlasov-Poisson system in the form (1.11)–(1.13), and we recall that for this symmetry class, $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $v = (v_1, \bar{v}) \in \mathbb{R}^3$, cf. Sect. 1.2.

The conserved quantities associated with the characteristic flow are v_2 , v_3 , and the energy

$$E(x, v_1) = \frac{1}{2}v_1^2 + U_0(x), \qquad (2.13)$$

where $U_0 \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is the stationary potential. We seek steady states of the form

$$f_0(x,v) = \varphi(E,\bar{v}) = \alpha(E)\,\beta(\bar{v}), \quad (x,v) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3.$$
(2.14)

This ansatz turns the mass density into a functional of the potential U_0 ,

$$\rho_0(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varphi\left(\frac{1}{2}v_1^2 + U_0(x), \bar{v}\right) dv$$

= $2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \beta(\bar{v}) d\bar{v} \int_{U_0(x)}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha(E)}{\sqrt{2E - 2U_0(x)}} dE =: h(U_0(x)), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \quad (2.15)$

and the stationary Vlasov-Poisson system is reduced to the equation

$$U_0'' = 4\pi h(U_0) \text{ on } \mathbb{R}.$$
 (2.16)

Solutions of this equation resulting in steady states with compact support and finite mass are much easier to obtain than in the spherically symmetric setting, and we briefly outline the arguments. The only requirement on the ansatz function is that the resulting function h in (2.15) is C^1 , vanishes on $[E_0, \infty[$ and is positive and decreasing on $] - \infty$, $E_0[$, where E_0 is some cut-off energy. We assume β to be continuous with compact support and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \beta(\bar{v}) \,\mathrm{d}\bar{v} = 1, \qquad (2.17)$$

and for the sake of definiteness and simplicity we require α to be either polytropic

$$\alpha(E) = (E_0 - E)_+^k \tag{2.18}$$

for some $k > \frac{1}{2}$ or of King-type, i.e.,

$$\alpha(E) = \left(e^{E_0 - E} - 1\right)_+.$$
(2.19)

Again, $(...)_+$ denotes the positive part. As in [55], it is convenient to reformulate the problem in terms of $y:=E_0 - U_0$. Let $\Phi(\eta):=\alpha(E_0 - \eta)$, i.e., $\eta = E_0 - E$. Then y solves

$$y'' = -4\pi \tilde{h}(y),$$
 (2.20)

where

$$\tilde{h}(z) := 2 \int_0^z \frac{\Phi(\eta)}{\sqrt{2z - 2\eta}} \,\mathrm{d}\eta, \quad z \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(2.21)

In order to see the required regularity of \tilde{h} we rewrite it, using integration by parts:

$$\tilde{h}(z) = -2\int_{0}^{z} \Phi(\eta) \ \partial_{\eta} \left[\sqrt{2z - 2\eta} \right] \mathrm{d}\eta = 2\int_{0}^{z} \Phi'(\eta) \sqrt{2z - 2\eta} \ \mathrm{d}\eta, \quad z > 0.$$
(2.22)

Now \tilde{h} has the same form as in the spherically symmetric case (cf. [55]), with the sole difference that the microscopic equation of state Φ contains a derivative under the integral sign. For our two examples (2.18) and (2.19), $\tilde{h} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}), \tilde{h}$ is

strictly increasing on $[0, \infty[$ and $\tilde{h} = 0$ on $] - \infty, 0]$; for the polytropic case (2.18), $\tilde{h}(z) = c_k z_+^{k+1/2}$. We define

$$H(z) := 4\pi \int_0^z \tilde{h}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

and observe that

$$\frac{1}{2}(y')^2 + H(y) \tag{2.23}$$

is a conserved quantity for the autonomous, planar system corresponding to (2.20) in the (y, y')-plane. The form of the level sets of this conserved quantity implies immediately that any non-trivial solution y to (2.20) exists globally on \mathbb{R} , and there exists a unique $x^* \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $y'(x^*) = 0$ and $y(x^*) > 0$; in accordance with the reflection symmetry contained in (1.10) we take $x^* = 0$. Since $y(-\cdot)$ is a solution of (2.20) with the same data at x = 0 it follows that y(-x) = y(x); y is even in x as required by (1.10). The form of the level sets of the conserved quantity (2.23) implies that the limits $\lim_{x\to\infty} y'(x) = -\lim_{x\to-\infty} y'(x)$ exist, and $\lim_{x\to\pm\infty} y(x) = -\infty$. Hence there exists $R_0 > 0$ such that $\rho_0:=\tilde{h}(y)$ has compact support $[-R_0, R_0]$, and

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} y'(x) = \int_0^\infty y''(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = -4\pi \int_0^\infty \rho_0(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = :-2\pi M_0;$$

the non-trivial solutions of (2.20) can be uniquely parametrized by the mass $M_0 > 0$ of the resulting steady state. It remains to recover U_0 from y. At this point we recall that in the plane symmetric case the usual boundary condition (1.4) at spatial infinity makes no sense, and instead, U_0 is to obey (1.12). If we take (1.12) as the definition of U_0 —notice that ρ_0 is already defined—, then $\lim_{x\to\infty} U'_0(x) = -\lim_{x\to\infty} y'(x)$ so that $U'_0 + y' = 0$ and $U_0 + y = const$. If we evaluate this identity at $x = R_0$, it follows that the proper choice of the cut-off energy is given by

$$E_0 := U_0(R_0) = 2\pi \int_{-R_0}^{R_0} (R_0 - y)\rho_0(y) \,\mathrm{d}y = 2\pi R_0 M_0.$$

With this choice, (2.15) holds, and all together we have proven the following:

Proposition 2.3. Let an ansatz of the form (2.14) with (2.18) or (2.19) be fixed. Then for each $M_0 > 0$ there exists a unique corresponding steady state (f_0, U_0, ρ_0) of the plane symmetric Vlasov-Poisson system (1.11)–(1.13) with the following properties:

- (a) $M_0 = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho_0(x) \, dx$ is the mass of the steady state.
- (b) $\rho_0 \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$ has compact support $[-R_0, R_0]$ and is strictly decreasing on $[0, R_0]$.
- (c) U_0 is convex on \mathbb{R} and strictly increasing on $[0, \infty[, U_0(x) = 2\pi M_0 x \text{ for } x \ge R_0, \text{ and } U_0(x) = -2\pi M_0 x \text{ for } x \le R_0.$

As in the spherically symmetric setting, let

$$\bar{\Omega}_0 := \{ (x, v) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3 \mid f_0(x, v) \neq 0 \} = \{ (x, v_1) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid E(x, v_1) < E_0 \} \times \{ \beta \neq 0 \}$$

be the (interior of the) support of the steady state in (x, v)-coordinates. The finite cut-off energy ensures that $\overline{\Omega}_0$ is bounded and $\overline{\Omega}_0$ is open for the above ansatz functions. We again add an upper index when expressing this set in different coordinates:

$$\bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}} := \{ (E(x,v), \bar{v}) \mid (x,v) \in \bar{\Omega}_0 \} = [U_0(0), E_0[\times \{\beta \neq 0\}]$$

Next, note that $\varphi' := \partial_E \varphi$ exists on $int(\bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}})$ with

$$\varphi' < 0 \text{ on } \operatorname{int}(\bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{\nu}}). \tag{2.24}$$

Here, int(...) denotes the interior of a set. Condition (2.24) is the analogue of the monotonicity assumption (2.4) in the radial case. In view of a linear stability analysis it leads to an Antonov-type coercivity bound (proved later in Proposition 7.7) which implies linear stability against perturbations which do not exhibit any dependence on x_2 or x_3 . For the linear stability analysis against general perturbations see [36].

Before proceeding, we note that we also have an analogue of (2.5) in the plane symmetric setting, more precisely, there exists C > 0 such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\varphi'(E(x,v),\bar{v})| \, \mathrm{d}v \le C.$$
(2.25)

The assumption (2.25) however is of mere technical nature and it is expected that it can be relaxed. While (2.25) is obvious in the King case, a straight-forward computation yields

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\varphi'(E(x,v),\bar{v})| \, \mathrm{d}v = 2k \int_{U_0(x)}^{E_0} \frac{(E_0 - E)^{k-1}}{\sqrt{2E - 2U_0(x)}} \, \mathrm{d}E = c_k (E_0 - U_0(x))^{k-\frac{1}{2}}$$

in the polytropic case if $U_0(x) < E_0$, where $c_k > 0$ is some constant depending on $k > \frac{1}{2}$.

We now consider the characteristic system corresponding to the steady state, i.e.,

$$\dot{x} = v_1, \qquad \dot{v}_1 = -U_0'(x).$$
 (2.26)

We left out the trivial v_2 and v_3 equations. To analyze the solutions of this system we first introduce the following notation similar to Lemma 2.1:

Lemma 2.4. For all $E > U_0(0) = \min(U_0)$ there exist unique $x_-(E) < 0 < x_+(E)$ satisfying $U_0(x_{\pm}(E)) = E$. x_{\pm} have the following properties:

(a) $U_0(x) < E$ is equivalent to $x_-(E) < x < x_+(E)$.

(b) x_{\pm} are continuously differentiable on $]U_0(0), \infty[$ with

$$x'_{\pm}(E) = \frac{1}{U'_0(x_{\pm}(E))}, \quad E > U_0(0).$$

(c) $x_+ = -x_-$.

(d) x_+ is strictly increasing on $]U_0(0), \infty[, x_-$ strictly decreasing.

(e) $\lim_{E \to U_0(0)} x_{\pm}(E) = 0$, which is why we set $x_{\pm}(U_0(0)) := 0$.

Now consider a global solution $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto (x(t), v_1(t))$ of (2.26). Since *E* is a conserved quantity of the system, there exists $E \ge U_0(0)$ such that $E = E(x(t), v_1(t))$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Solving for v_1 yields

$$v_1(t) = \pm \sqrt{2E - 2U_0(x(t))},$$

i.e., the solution (x, v) is periodic and x oscillates between $x_{-}(E)$ and $x_{+}(E)$.

Definition 2.5. For $E > U_0(0)$ define

$$T(E) := 2 \int_{x_{-}(E)}^{x_{+}(E)} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\sqrt{2E - 2U_{0}(x)}} = 4 \int_{0}^{x_{+}(E)} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\sqrt{2E - 2U_{0}(x)}}.$$
 (2.27)

Then T(E) is the period of any solution of (2.26) having energy E, i.e., the time needed for the *x*-component of the solution to travel from $x_{-}(E)$ to $x_{+}(E)$ and back to $x_{-}(E)$, see [8]. Since $U'_{0}(x) > 0$ for x > 0, the integral (2.27) exists for every $E > U_{0}(0)$.

We shall see in Sect. 5.2 that the properties of T are strongly related to the spectrum of the planar Antonov operator. In fact, the period functions of systems like (2.26) have widely been studied, see [9,11,12,64]. A question of particular interest, which is also crucial for the existence of oscillating modes in Sect. 8, is whether or not the period function is monotone as a function of the energy. To study this monotonicity we first compute the derivative of T:

Lemma 2.6. *T* is continuously differentiable on $]U_0(0), \infty[$ with

$$T'(E) = \frac{2}{E - U_0(0)} \int_0^{x_+(E)} \frac{\left(U'_0(x)\right)^2 - 2(U_0(x) - U_0(0))U''_0(x)}{\left(U'_0(x)\right)^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\sqrt{2E - 2U_0(x)}}$$

for $E > U_0(0)$.

For details on how to calculate this derivative we refer to [12, Theorem 2.1]. The continuity of T' follows by a straight-forward application of the dominated convergence theorem; note that the fraction in the integral above is bounded for $x \rightarrow 0$. Now let

$$G(x) := \left(U_0'(x)\right)^2 - 2(U_0(x) - U_0(0))U_0''(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (2.28)

Obviously, the non-negativity of G will instantly imply the monotonicity of T. The former is easy to verify in the planar case, since G(0) = 0 and

$$G'(x) = -2(U_0(x) - U_0(0))U_0'''(x) = -8\pi(U_0(x) - U_0(0))\rho_0'(x) \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{R},$$

i.e., G is strictly increasing on $[0, R_0]$ and constant on $[R_0, \infty[$. Thus,

Proposition 2.7. *T* is strictly increasing on $]U_0(0), \infty[$.

From the monotonicity we easily obtain the boundedness of T on the energy-support of the steady state:

Proposition 2.8. *For all* $E \in]U_0(0), E_0[,$

$$0 < \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{U_0''(0)}} = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\rho_0(0)}} = :T(U_0(0)) < T(E) < T(E_0) < \infty.$$

Proof. The monotonicity of T immediately gives the upper bound. For the lower bound it remains to show that

$$\lim_{E \to U_0(0)} T(E) = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{U_0''(0)}}.$$

First, we change variables via $\eta = U_0(x)$ to rewrite T(E) for fixed $E > U_0(0)$ as follows:

$$T(E) = 2\sqrt{2} \int_{U_0(0)}^{E} \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta}{\sqrt{E - \eta} U_0'(x_+(\eta))},$$

note that x_+ inverts $U_0: [0, x_+(E)] \rightarrow [U_0(0), E]$. Next, observe that for every $\eta \in]U_0(0), E[$ there exists $s = s(\eta) \in]0, x_+(\eta)[$ such that

$$\frac{\left(U_0'(x_+(\eta))\right)^2}{\eta} = \frac{2U_0''(s)U_0'(s)}{U_0'(s)}$$

by the extended mean value theorem, and hence

$$U'_0(x_+(\eta)) = \sqrt{2\eta \, U''_0(s)}.$$

As $E \to U_0(0)$, we also have $U_0''(s) \to U_0''(0) > 0$ uniformly in $\eta \in]U_0(0), E[$, and therefore

$$T(E) \to \frac{2}{\sqrt{U_0''(0)}} \int_{U_0(0)}^E \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta}{\sqrt{(E-\eta)\eta}} = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{U_0''(0)}}.$$

We note that the finite extent of the steady state (i.e., the existence of the cut-off energy E_0) causes the period to be bounded from above. Conversely, the steady state having a "smooth core" (i.e., $U''_0(0) = 4\pi\rho_0(0) < \infty$) implies that *T* is bounded away from zero. These interpretations can also be found in the physics literature, cf. [8].

3. Linearization

In this section we consider two different methods to linearize the Vlasov-Poisson system about some steady state (f_0, ρ_0, U_0) and to derive the corresponding Antonov operator \mathcal{A} . The different approaches yield (essentially) the same operator \mathcal{A} , but each allows for a different interpretation of oscillatory modes of \mathcal{A} . We carry out the computations for three dimensional, spherically symmetric steady states and only state the results for the case of planar symmetry, since the arguments are analogous and somewhat simpler in that case.

Our purpose is to arrive at the operator \mathcal{A} by some convincing, but not necessarily rigorous, manipulations; a rigorous derivation would only be necessary for deducing results for the non-linear Vlasov-Poisson system from the linearized spectral analysis. Hence for this section we dispense with rigor and formulate our findings not in the form of theorems and such.

In Sect. 3.3 we derive an Eddington-Ritter type relation for the oscillation period in the case of spherically symmetric, polytropic steady states.

3.1. The Eulerian picture

In the literature [23,25,26,30,43] the Vlasov-Poisson system is usually linearized in Eulerian variables, starting with the formal expansion of the form $f = f_0 + \varepsilon \delta f + O(\varepsilon^2)$. After linearizing the system, we follow Antonov [2] and split δf in its even and odd part in v, given by

$$\delta f_{\pm}(t, x, v) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta f(t, x, v) \pm \delta f(t, x, -v) \right), \tag{3.1}$$

to arrive at the following second order equation for δf_{-} :

$$\partial_t^2 \delta f_- - \mathcal{D}^2 \delta f_- + \nabla U_{\operatorname{div} j_{\delta f_-}} \cdot \nabla_v f_0 = 0,$$

where we recall the definition (1.26) of the transport operator \mathcal{D} and introduce

$$\rho_g(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v, \quad j_g(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v \, g(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v, \quad U_g(x) := -\frac{1}{|\cdot|} * \rho_g.$$
(3.2)

For the latter equation to be of the form (1.24), we define the Antonov operator \mathcal{A} as $\mathcal{A}:=-\mathcal{D}^2-\mathcal{B}$, where

$$(\mathcal{B}g)(x,v) = -\nabla_v f_0(x,v) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{x-y}{|x-y|^3} \operatorname{div} j_g(y) \, \mathrm{d}y.$$
(3.3)

For g = g(r, w, L), $\mathcal{B}g$ is spherically symmetric as well and takes on the form

$$(\mathcal{B}g)(r, w, L) = -4\pi w \,\varphi'(E, L) \,j_g(r)$$

= $-\frac{4\pi^2}{r^2} w \,\varphi'(E, L) \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_0^\infty \tilde{w} \,g(r, \tilde{w}, \tilde{L}) \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{L} \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{w},$ (3.4)

where $\varphi'(E, L) = \partial_E \varphi(E, L) < 0$ and $E = E(r, w, L) = \frac{1}{2}w^2 + \Psi_L(r)$.

The same arguments as above can be applied to the plane symmetric case, resulting in

$$(\bar{\mathcal{B}}g)(x,v) = -4\pi v_1 \varphi'(E,\bar{v}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \tilde{v}_1 g(x,\tilde{v}) \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{v}; \qquad (3.5)$$

here we recall that the reflection symmetry included in the definition (1.10) of planar symmetry implies the formula (1.15) for the potential induced by *g*.

We now examine whether the spectral properties of \mathcal{A} obtained in the Eulerian linearization can explain the oscillations about the steady state which were observed numerically in [56]. Assume that we have an eigenvalue $\lambda > 0$ of \mathcal{A} with spherically symmetric, real-valued, odd in v eigenfunction g_- . Let $\omega := \sqrt{\lambda}$. Then $\delta f_- = \cos(\omega t)g_-$ is a solution of the linearized equation $\partial_t^2 \delta f_- + \mathcal{A} \delta f_- = 0$; the corresponding even in v part is given by

$$\delta f_+ = -\frac{1}{\omega}\sin(\omega t)\mathcal{D}g_-.$$

Then the kinetic and potential energies—see e.g. [60, Section 1.5] for the definitions of the energies—of $f_0 + \delta f$ oscillate about the respective energies of the steady state with period $2\pi/\omega$ up to higher order terms in ϵ , more precisely

$$E_{\rm kin}(f_0 + \varepsilon \delta f(t)) = E_{\rm kin}(f_0) - \frac{\varepsilon}{\omega} \sin(\omega t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \nabla U_0 \cdot j_{g_-} \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

$$E_{\rm pot}(f_0 + \varepsilon \delta f(t)) = E_{\rm pot}(f_0) + \frac{\varepsilon}{\omega} \sin(\omega t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \nabla U_0 \cdot j_{g_-} \, \mathrm{d}x + O(\varepsilon^2)$$

However, as discussed in the introduction, the expansion and contraction of the spatial support cannot be seen in the present, Eulerian linearized picture.

3.2. Mass-Lagrange coordinates

The following derivation is based on the so-called mass-Lagrangian coordinates which are often used in spherical symmetry for the Euler-Poisson system, cf. [32, 50]. We restrict ourselves from the start to the spherically symmetric situation, cf. Sect. 1.2.

We fix a steady state (f_0, U_0, ρ_0) which for the sake of simplicity we take isotropic, i.e., $f_0 = \varphi(E)$. We consider a spherically symmetric solution to the Vlasov-Poisson system with data which are dynamically accessible from f_0 so that in particular the solution f(t) has the same mass M > 0 as the steady state, and we assume that $\{r > 0 \mid \rho(t, r) > 0\} =]0, R(t)[$. Then the mapping

$$[0, R(t)] \ni r \mapsto m(t, r) \in [0, M]$$
(3.6)

is one-to-one, since $\partial_r m = 4\pi r^2 \rho > 0$ on]0, R(t)[. Let

$$[0, M] \ni m \mapsto \tilde{r}(t, m) \in [0, R(t)]$$

$$(3.7)$$

denote its inverse. We introduce the new dependent variables

$$\tilde{f}(t,m,w,L) = f(t,r,w,L), \quad \tilde{\rho}(t,m) = \rho(t,r).$$

For a function $g = g(\cdot, w, L)$ we introduce the abbreviations

$$\mathcal{R}(g) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} g(\cdot, w, L) \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}w, \quad \mathcal{J}(g) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} w \, g(\cdot, w, L) \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}w$$
(3.8)

so that

$$\rho(t) = \frac{\pi}{r^2} \mathcal{R}(f(t)), \quad \tilde{\rho}(t) = \frac{\pi}{\tilde{r}^2} \mathcal{R}(\tilde{f}(t)).$$

In order to rewrite the Vlasov-Poisson system in terms of (m, w, L) we compute

$$\partial_t m(t,r) = 4\pi \int_0^r s^2 \partial_t \rho(t,s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

= $-4\pi^2 \int_0^r \partial_r \int_{-\infty}^\infty \int_0^\infty w \, f(t,r,w,L) \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}s$
= $-4\pi^2 \mathcal{J}(f(t))(r).$

Hence

$$\partial_t f = \partial_t \tilde{f} + \partial_m \tilde{f} \partial_t m = \partial_t \tilde{f} - 4\pi^2 \mathcal{J}(\tilde{f}(t)) \partial_m \tilde{f}, \partial_r f = \partial_m \tilde{f} \partial_r m = 4\pi^2 \mathcal{R}(\tilde{f}(t)) \partial_m \tilde{f},$$

and the Vlasov equation (1.7) takes the form

$$\partial_t \tilde{f} + 4\pi^2 \left(w \,\mathcal{R}(\tilde{f}(t)) - \mathcal{J}(\tilde{f}(t)) \right) \partial_m \tilde{f} \\ + \left(\frac{L}{\tilde{r}^3} - \frac{m}{\tilde{r}^2} \right) \partial_w \tilde{f} = 0.$$
(3.9)

It needs to be supplemented with the relation between the function $\tilde{r}(t, m)$ and $\tilde{\rho}$ respectively \tilde{f} . Since

$$\partial_m \tilde{r} = rac{1}{4\pi \tilde{r}^2 \tilde{
ho}} = rac{1}{4\pi^2 \mathcal{R}(\tilde{f})},$$

it follows that

$$\tilde{r}(t,m) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_0^m \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta}{\mathcal{R}(\tilde{f}(t))(\eta)},\tag{3.10}$$

and (3.9), (3.10) constitute the spherically symmetric Vlasov-Poisson system in the coordinates (m, w, L), where we need to recall the abbreviations introduced in (3.8).

We notice that $\tilde{r}(t, m)$ is the radius of the ball about the origin in which mass *m* of the solution f(t) is contained. In a second change of variables we relate this to the steady state configuration as follows. The map

$$[0, R_0] \ni r \mapsto m_0(r) = 4\pi \int_0^r s^2 \rho_0(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \in [0, M]$$

is again one-to-one, and

$$[0, M] \ni m \mapsto r_0(m) \in [0, R_0]$$

denotes its inverse; $R_0 > 0$ is the radius of the spatial support of the steady state. Now we introduce a new radial variable via

$$[0, M] \ni m \mapsto \bar{r} := r_0(m) \in [0, R_0],$$

and new dependent variables

$$\hat{f}(t,\bar{r},w,L) = \tilde{f}(t,m,w,L) = f(t,r,w,L), \ \hat{\rho}(t,\bar{r}) = \tilde{\rho}(t,m) = \rho(t,r).$$

If we let $\hat{r}(t, \bar{r}) = \tilde{r}(t, m_0(\bar{r}))$, the spherically symmetric Vlasov-Poisson system becomes

$$\partial_t \hat{f} + \left(w \, \frac{\mathcal{R}(\hat{f}(t))}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} - \frac{\mathcal{J}(\hat{f}(t))}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \right) \partial_{\bar{r}} \hat{f} + \left(\frac{L}{\hat{r}^3} - \frac{m_0(\bar{r})}{\hat{r}^2} \right) \partial_w \hat{f} = 0, \quad (3.11)$$

$$\hat{r}(t,\bar{r}) = \int_0^{\bar{r}} \frac{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}{\mathcal{R}(\hat{f}(t))} \,\mathrm{d}s; \tag{3.12}$$

notice that $\partial m/\partial \bar{r} = 4\pi^2 \mathcal{R}(f_0)$ and (3.12) is obtained from (3.10) via the change of variables $s \mapsto \eta = m_0(s)$. The ball of radius $\hat{r}(t, \bar{r})$ about the origin contains for the time dependent solution f(t) the same amount of mass as the ball of radius \bar{r} does for the steady state. In this way the steady state mass distribution is used as the reference frame for describing the mass distribution of the time dependent solution. In particular, should $\hat{r}(t, \bar{r})$ on the linearized level oscillate about \bar{r} , this would exactly explain the pulsating behavior of the perturbed steady state which was observed numerically.

In order to linearize (3.11), (3.12) about the steady state we write

$$\hat{f} = f_0 + \varepsilon \delta \hat{f} + O(\varepsilon^2), \quad \hat{\rho} = \rho_0 + \varepsilon \delta \hat{\rho} + O(\varepsilon^2)$$

and

$$\hat{r}(t,\bar{r}) = \bar{r} + \varepsilon \delta \hat{r}(t,\bar{r}) + O(\varepsilon^2), \qquad (3.13)$$

and expand (3.11), (3.12) to the first order. When doing so we observe that the transport operator \mathcal{D} along the characteristic flow of the steady state now takes the form

$$\mathcal{D}f = w \,\partial_{\bar{r}}f + \left(\frac{L}{\bar{r}^3} - \frac{m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^2}\right)\partial_w f.$$

This implies that

$$\partial_t \delta \hat{f} + \mathcal{D} \delta \hat{f} + \left(w \frac{\mathcal{R}(\delta \hat{f})}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} - \frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f})}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \right) \partial_{\bar{r}} f_0 + \delta \hat{r} \left(\frac{2m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^3} - \frac{3L}{\bar{r}^4} \right) \partial_w f_0 = 0,$$
(3.14)

$$\delta \hat{r}(t,\bar{r}) = -\int_0^{\bar{r}} \frac{\mathcal{R}(\delta \hat{f}(t))}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \,\mathrm{d}s. \tag{3.15}$$

Before we turn this system into a second order one for the odd-in-w part of $\delta \hat{f}$ to obtain the corresponding Antonov operator we compute the time derivative of $\delta \hat{r}(t, \bar{r})$. Using the linearized Vlasov equation (3.14) a short computation shows that

$$\partial_t \mathcal{R}(\delta \hat{f}) = -\mathcal{R}(f_0) \partial_{\bar{r}} \left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f})}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \right)$$
(3.16)

and hence

$$\partial_t \delta \hat{r} = \frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f})}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}.$$
(3.17)

Now we again split $\delta \hat{f} = \delta \hat{f}_+ + \delta \hat{f}_-$ into its even and the odd part with respect to w. They satisfy the following linear system:

$$\partial_t \delta \hat{f}_+ + \mathcal{D} \delta \hat{f}_- - \frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f}_-)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \partial_{\bar{r}} f_0 = 0, \qquad (3.18)$$

$$\partial_t \delta \hat{f}_- + \mathcal{D} \delta \hat{f}_+ + w \frac{\mathcal{R}(\delta \hat{f}_+)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \partial_{\bar{r}} f_0 + \delta \hat{r} \left(\frac{2m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^3} - \frac{3L}{\bar{r}^4} \right) \partial_w f_0 = 0, \quad (3.19)$$

$$\delta \hat{r}(t,\bar{r}) = -\int_0^r \frac{\mathcal{R}(\delta f_+(t))}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \,\mathrm{d}s. \tag{3.20}$$

In order to differentiate (3.19) with respect to *t* we observe from (3.16) and (3.17) that

$$\partial_t \mathcal{R}(\delta \hat{f}_+) = -\mathcal{R}(f_0) \, \partial_{\bar{r}} \left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f}_-)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \right), \quad \partial_t \delta \hat{r} = \frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f}_-)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}.$$

Thus

$$0 = \partial_t^2 \delta \hat{f}_- - \mathcal{D}^2 \delta \hat{f}_- + \mathcal{D} \left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f}_-)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \partial_{\bar{r}} f_0 \right) - w \, \partial_{\bar{r}} \left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f}_-)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \right) \partial_{\bar{r}} f_0 + \left(\frac{2m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^3} - \frac{3L}{\bar{r}^4} \right) \frac{\mathcal{J}(\delta \hat{f}_-)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)} \partial_w f_0 = \partial_t^2 \delta \hat{f}_- - \mathcal{D}^2 \delta \hat{f}_- - \mathcal{B} \delta \hat{f}_-,$$
(3.21)

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{B}g &= -\mathcal{D}\left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\partial_{\bar{r}}f_0\right) + w\,\partial_{\bar{r}}\left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\right)\partial_{\bar{r}}f_0 - \left(\frac{2m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^3} - \frac{3L}{\bar{r}^4}\right)\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\partial_w f_0\\ &= \varphi'(E)\left[-\mathcal{D}\left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\partial_{\bar{r}}E\right) + w\partial_{\bar{r}}\left(\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\right)\partial_{\bar{r}}E - w\left(\frac{2m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^3} - \frac{3L}{\bar{r}^4}\right)\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\right]\\ &= \varphi'(E)\left[-w\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\partial_{\bar{r}}^2E - w\left(\frac{2m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^3} - \frac{3L}{\bar{r}^4}\right)\frac{\mathcal{J}(g)}{\mathcal{R}(f_0)}\right]\\ &= -4\pi^2\varphi'(E)\frac{w}{\bar{r}^2}\mathcal{J}(g); \end{split}$$

for the last identity we have used the fact that

$$\partial_{\bar{r}}^2 E = \partial_{\bar{r}}^2 \left(\frac{1}{2} w^2 + \frac{L}{2\bar{r}^2} + U_0(\bar{r}) \right) = \frac{3L}{\bar{r}^4} - \frac{2m_0(\bar{r})}{\bar{r}^3} + 4\pi\rho_0(\bar{r}).$$

We have therefore shown that the linearized dynamics in what we refer to as mass-Lagrange coordinates is governed by (3.21), and hence by an equation of the form (1.24) where the corresponding Antonov operator A is exactly the same as obtained in the Eulerian picture under the assumption of spherical symmetry, cf. (3.4). The analogous arguments imply the analogous result for the plane symmetric case.

Assume now that we have an eigenvalue $\lambda > 0$ and a corresponding, spherically symmetric eigenfunction g_- , which must be odd in w. Then $\delta \hat{f} = \cos(\omega t)g_-$ with $\omega = \sqrt{\lambda}$ solves the above linearized dynamics in mass-Lagrange coordinates (3.21). In view of (3.13) and (3.17) it follows that to linear order,

$$\hat{r}(t,\bar{r}) = \bar{r} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\omega}\sin(\omega t)\frac{\mathcal{J}(g_{-})}{\mathcal{R}(f_{0})}.$$
(3.22)

Hence to linear order the radius of the ball containing a certain mass *m* oscillates with period $2\pi/\omega$ about the corresponding radius for the steady state. Of course the details of this oscillation—like which portions of the configuration take part in it—depend on the actual eigenfunction, but (3.22) nicely explains the numerically observed pulsation behavior. Notice that while the even part of the solution to the linearized dynamics governs the oscillation of the kinetic and potential energies as seen at the end of the previous subsection, its odd part governs the oscillation of the spatial support here.

3.3. An Eddington-Ritter type relation

The Eddington-Ritter relation connects the period of the pulsation of a perturbed steady state to its central density in the context of the Euler-Poisson system, cf. [15,50,63]. In this section we establish its analogue for the case of the Vlasov-Poisson system. To this end we consider a spherically symmetric, polytropic steady state (f_0 , U_0 , ρ_0) with ansatz function of the form

$$\varphi(E,L) = (E_0 - E)_+^k L^l,$$

with k and l fixed. Then the function $y(r) = E_0 - U_0(r)$ satisfies the equation

$$\frac{1}{r^2}(r^2y'(r))' = -4\pi c_{k,l} r^{2l} y(r)_+^{k+l+3/2}$$
(3.23)

with $c_{k,l} > 0$ determined by k and l; this is the spherically symmetric, semilinear Poisson equation (2.1), rewritten in terms of y. Its solutions are uniquely determined by their value y(0) > 0 at the origin, and the induced spatial density is given by

$$\rho_0(r) = c_{k,l} r^{2l} y(r)_+^{k+l+3/2}.$$

If *y* solves (3.23), then for any $\sigma > 0$ the rescaled function

$$\sigma^{-2}y(\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}}r)$$

solves (3.23) as well. This implies that if f_0^* is the steady state induced by taking $y^*(0) = 1$, then all other steady states with the same ansatz function can be obtained via

$$f_0(x,v) = \sigma^{-\frac{2k+l}{l+1}} f_0^*(\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}}x,\sigma v)$$

and

$$y(r) = \sigma^{-2} y^* (\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}} r),$$

in particular, $\sigma = y(0)^{-1/2}$.

Let \mathcal{A}^* denote the Antonov operator corresponding to the steady state y^* , and let $\lambda^* > 0$ denote its smallest, positive eigenvalue so that

$$\mathcal{A}^*h = \lambda^*h$$

for some eigenfunction h; the central aim of the present paper is to establish the existence of this eigenvalue. We want to rescale this eigenvalue equation in such a way that it becomes the eigenvalue equation for a general steady state obtained from y^* by the rescaling above, which results in the function y and the induced operators A and B. First we note that

$$E^*(\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}}x,\sigma v) = \sigma^2 E(x,v),$$

$$w(\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}}x,\sigma v) = \sigma w(x,v),$$

$$L(\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}}x,\sigma v) = \sigma^{-\frac{2k-1}{l+1}}L(x,v)$$

the local energy E^* corresponds to y^* , and E corresponds to the general steady state y. A lengthy computation shows that

;

$$(\mathcal{B}^*h)(\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}}x,\sigma v) = \sigma^{\frac{2k+4l+3}{l+1}}(\mathcal{B}h_{\text{resc}})(x,v)$$

where

$$h_{\operatorname{resc}}(x,v) = h(\sigma^{-\frac{2(k+l)+1}{2l+2}}x,\sigma v).$$

The same scaling law is true for the operator \mathcal{D}^2 . Hence we find that

$$\mathcal{A}h_{\text{resc}} = \sigma^{-\frac{2k+4l+3}{l+1}} (\mathcal{A}^*h)_{\text{resc}} = \sigma^{-\frac{2k+4l+3}{l+1}} \lambda^* h_{\text{resc}}$$

so that

$$\lambda = \sigma^{-\frac{2k+4l+3}{l+1}} \lambda^*$$

is the smallest, positive eigenvalue of A; it has to be the smallest since the scaling preserves order. Let *P* denote the period corresponding to the eigenvalue λ . Then $P = 2\pi/\sqrt{\lambda}$ and expressing σ by y(0) we find that

$$Py(0)^{\frac{k+2l+3/2}{2l+2}} = const;$$

this relation was observed numerically in [56]. If we consider the special case l = 0and recall that then $\rho(0) = c y(0)^{k+3/2}$ we find that

$$P\rho(0)^{1/2} = const,$$

which is the Eddington-Ritter relation known from the Euler-Poisson case.

4. The Antonov Operators

We now give a precise definition of the Antonov operators in the spherically symmetric and in the plane symmetric case which have been derived in the previous section, including the function spaces they act on and some first properties. As explained in Sect. 3, their eigenvalues, if they exist, correspond to linearized galaxy oscillations.

4.1. The radial Antonov operator

The operator will be defined on a suitable subspace of the weighted, real-valued L^2 -space

$$L^{2}_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}}(\Omega_{0}) := \{g \colon \Omega_{0} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ measurable} \mid \|g\|_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}} < \infty\},\$$

where

$$\|g\|_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}}^2 := \int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} |g(x,v)|^2 d(x,v);$$

recall $\varphi' = \partial_E \varphi < 0$ on the steady state support. The scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}}$ is defined accordingly. Later, we work on the radial subspace

$$L^{2}_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|},r}(\Omega_{0}):=\{g\in L^{2}_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}}(\Omega_{0})\mid g \text{ is spherically symmetric a.e. on }\Omega_{0}\}$$

and with odd functions

$$L^{2,odd}_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|},r}(\Omega_0) := \{ g \in L^2_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|},r}(\Omega_0) \mid g \text{ is odd in } v \text{ a.e. on } \Omega_0 \}.$$

Spherical symmetry on Ω_0 is defined similarly to (1.5); note that the set Ω_0 is spherically symmetric. We will always use a lower index r when restricting some function space to its radial subspace. For an a.e. spherically symmetric function $g: \Omega_0 \to \mathbb{R}$, we write g(x, v) = g(r, w, L) with slight abuse of notation; recall (1.6). Similarly to [61] we use the abbreviations

$$H := L^{2}_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}, r}(\Omega_{0}), \qquad \| \cdot \|_{H} := \| \cdot \|_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}}, \qquad H^{odd} := L^{2, odd}_{\frac{1}{|\varphi'|}, r}(\Omega_{0}).$$
(4.1)

The first part of the linearized operator consists of the squared transport operator which we define in a weak sense similar to [61,65]. For a smooth function $g \in C^1(\Omega_0)$,

$$\mathcal{D}g(x,v) := v \cdot \partial_x g(x,v) - \partial_x U_0(x) \cdot \partial_v g(x,v), \quad (x,v) \in \Omega_0.$$

Definition 4.1. For a spherically symmetric function $g \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega_0)$, $\mathcal{D}g$ exists weakly if there exists some spherically symmetric $\mu \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega_0)$ such that for every test function $\xi \in C^1_{c,r}(\Omega_0)$,

$$\int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} g \ \mathcal{D}\xi \ d(x,v) = -\int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \ \mu \ \xi \ d(x,v).$$
(4.2)

In this case, $\mathcal{D}g:=\mu$ weakly. The domain of \mathcal{D} is defined as

$$D(\mathcal{D}):=\{g \in H \mid \mathcal{D}g \text{ exists weakly and } \mathcal{D}g \in H\}.$$
(4.3)

Obviously, the weak definition of \mathcal{D} extends the classical one on $C^1_{c,r}(\Omega_0)$. Furthermore, the resulting operator $\mathcal{D}: D(\mathcal{D}) \to H$ has the following properties:

Proposition 4.2. (a) $\mathcal{D}: D(\mathcal{D}) \to H$ is skew-adjoint as a densely defined operator on H, i.e., $\mathcal{D}^* = -\mathcal{D}$.

(b) The kernel of \mathcal{D} is given by

$$\ker(\mathcal{D}) = \{g \in H \mid \exists f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R} \text{ s.t. } g(x, v) = f(E(x, v), L(x, v))$$

for a.e. $(x, v) \in \Omega_0\}.$

(c) Let

$$D(\mathcal{D}^2) := \{ g \in D(\mathcal{D}) \mid \mathcal{D}g \in D(\mathcal{D}) \}.$$

Then $\mathcal{D}^2 \colon D(\mathcal{D}^2) \to H$ is self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on H. (d) The restricted operator $\mathcal{D}^2 \colon D(\mathcal{D}^2) \cap H^{odd} \to H^{odd}$ is self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on H^{odd} .

Proof. For parts (a) and (b) cf. [61,65]; the same proofs work for the present steady states.

Part (c) follows by von Neumann's theorem [57, Theorem X.25] since $\mathcal{D}^2 = -\mathcal{D}^*\mathcal{D}$ and $D(\mathcal{D}^2) = \{g \in D(\mathcal{D}) \mid \mathcal{D}g \in D(\mathcal{D}^*)\}$ by (a). For (d), note that \mathcal{D}^2 preserves *v* parity, meaning that the operator restricted to

For (d), note that \mathcal{D}^2 preserves v parity, meaning that the operator restricted to H^{odd} is well-defined. Its self-adjointness follows with part (c) by decomposing all functions involved into their even and odd parts in v.

We offer a more intuitive characterization of the domains $D(\mathcal{D})$ and $D(\mathcal{D}^2)$ in Sect. 5.1. The use of action-angle type variables in Sect. 5.1 also offers alternate ways to prove the skew-adjointness and the representation of the kernel.

We now get to the second part of the linearized operator. For $g \in H$ let

$$(\mathcal{B}g)(r, w, L) := 4\pi^2 |\varphi'(E, L)| \frac{w}{r^2} \mathcal{J}(g)(r)$$
(4.4)

for a.e. $(r, w, L) \in \Omega_0^r$, where

$$\mathcal{J}(g)(r) := \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} w g(r, w, L) \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L, \quad \text{a.e. } r > 0,$$

g is extended by 0 to $\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$, and we used the abbreviation E = E(r, w, L).

Lemma 4.3. The operator $\mathcal{B}: H \to H$ is well-defined, linear, continuous, and symmetric.

Proof. For $g \in H$ we have

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{B}g\|_{H}^{2} &= (2\pi)^{6} \int_{0}^{\infty} |\mathcal{J}(g)(r)|^{2} \frac{1}{r^{4}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} w^{2} |\varphi'(E,L)| \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^{2}} |\mathcal{J}(g)(r)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} w^{2} |\varphi'(E,L)| \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \right) \\ &\qquad \times \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{|g(r,w,L)|^{2}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \right) \mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq C \|g\|_{H}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Here, C > 0 changed from line to line, but depends only on the fixed steady state f_0 . In the first and third inequality, we used that

$$\frac{\pi}{r^2} \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} w^2 |\varphi'(E,L)| \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L = -\frac{\pi}{r^2} \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} w \, \partial_w \left[\varphi(E,L)\right] \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L$$
$$= \frac{\pi}{r^2} \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi(E,L) \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varphi(E,L) \, \mathrm{d}v = \rho_0(r) \tag{4.5}$$

for r > 0 and that ρ_0 is bounded on the support of the steady state. The symmetry of \mathcal{B} follows by

$$\langle \mathcal{B}g,h\rangle_H = (2\pi)^4 \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{r^2} \mathcal{J}(g)(r) \mathcal{J}(h)(r) \,\mathrm{d}r$$

and the symmetry of the latter expression for $g, h \in H$.

Obviously, $\mathcal{B}g$ is odd in v for every $g \in H$, which implies that the restriction $\mathcal{B}: H^{odd} \to H^{odd}$ onto odd function also has the properties from above.

Equation (A.2) from the appendix yields the following alternate representation of $\mathcal{B}g$ in the case $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$:

$$(\mathcal{B}g)(r, w, L) = |\varphi'(E, L)| w U'_{\mathcal{D}g}(r), \text{ a.e. } (r, w, L) \in \Omega_0^r.$$
 (4.6)

We are now in the position to define the Antonov operator.

Definition 4.4. Let

$$\mathcal{A}: \mathbf{D}(\mathcal{D}^2) \to H, \ \mathcal{A}:= -\mathcal{D}^2 - \mathcal{B}.$$

For $g \in D(\mathcal{D}^2)$,

$$\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_{H} = \|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}^{2} - (2\pi)^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^{2}} (\mathcal{J}(g)(r))^{2} dr = \|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}^{2} - \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{2} \left(U'_{\mathcal{D}g}(r)\right)^{2} dr = \|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}^{2} - \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\partial_{x}U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_{2}^{2}.$$

The latter expression is also defined on D(D) which motivates the definition

$$\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H := \|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2 \text{ for } g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{D}).$$

Up to some factor, the quadratic form of A equals the second order variation of an important energy-Casimir functional (see [26]), also known [23,42] as the Antonov functional. This is why we call A the Antonov operator or the linearized operator.

Before proceeding we observe that \mathcal{A} inherits the self-adjointness of \mathcal{D}^2 and \mathcal{B} :

Lemma 4.5. The operator $\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{D}^2) \to H$ is self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on H. Its restriction $\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{D}^2) \cap H^{odd} \to H^{odd}$ to odd functions is also self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on H^{odd} .

Proof. This follows by the self-adjointness of \mathcal{D}^2 on $D(\mathcal{D}^2)$ and $D(\mathcal{D}^2) \cap H^{odd}$, see Proposition 4.2, together with the Kato-Rellich theorem [29, Chapter 13] and Lemma 4.3.

4.2. The planar Antonov operator

The function spaces and operators in the plane symmetric setting are defined similarly to the spherically symmetric case, i.e.,

$$\bar{H}:=\{g: \bar{\Omega}_0 \to \mathbb{R} \text{ measurable} \mid ||g||_{\bar{H}} < \infty\},\$$

where

$$||g||_{\tilde{H}}^{2} := \int_{\tilde{\Omega}_{0}} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} |g(x, v)|^{2} d(x, v).$$

The scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\bar{H}}$ is defined accordingly. Functions in \bar{H} are in general not plane symmetric in the sense of (1.10), but for the sake of generality we consider the operators on \bar{H} too. Eqn. (1.10) is valid for functions in

$$\begin{aligned} \bar{\mathcal{H}} &:= \{ g \in \bar{H} \mid g \text{ is odd in } v_1 \text{ and } x \text{ a.e. on } \bar{\Omega}_0 \} \\ &= \{ g \in \bar{H} \mid \text{ for a.e. } (x, v) \in \bar{\Omega}_0 \colon g(x, v) = -g(-x, v) = -g(x, -v_1, \bar{v}) \}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.7)$$

Observe that oddness in x and v_1 is stronger than the symmetry required in (1.10). However, imposing the above symmetry condition simplifies the following analysis, and, as we shall see in Sect. 8, we obtain eigenvalues of A in \overline{H} nonetheless.

As to the operators, we again start by defining the planar transport operator in a weak sense similarly to the spherically symmetric setting in the previous section. For $g \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}_0)$,

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}g(x,v):=v_1\ \partial_x g(x,v) - U_0'(x)\ \partial_{v_1}g(x,v), \quad (x,v)\in \bar{\Omega}_0.$$

Definition 4.6. For $g \in L^1_{loc}(\bar{\Omega}_0)$, $\bar{\mathcal{D}}g$ exists weakly if there exists some $\mu \in L^1_{loc}(\bar{\Omega}_0)$ such that for every test function $\xi \in C^1_c(\bar{\Omega}_0)$,

$$\int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})|} g \,\bar{\mathcal{D}}\xi \,\mathrm{d}(x,v) = -\int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})|} \mu \,\xi \,\mathrm{d}(x,v). \tag{4.8}$$

In this case, $\overline{D}g := \mu$ weakly. The domain of \overline{D} is defined as

$$D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) := \{ g \in \bar{H} \mid \bar{\mathcal{D}}g \text{ exists weakly and } \bar{\mathcal{D}}g \in \bar{H} \}.$$
(4.9)

The resulting operator again extends \bar{D} for smooth functions and has the following further properties:

Proposition 4.7. (a) $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$: $D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}) \to \overline{H}$ is skew-adjoint as a densely defined operator on \overline{H} , i.e., $\overline{\mathcal{D}}^* = -\overline{\mathcal{D}}$.

(b) The kernel of \overline{D} is given by

$$\ker(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) = \{g \in \bar{H} \mid \exists f : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R} \text{ s.t. } g(x, v) = f(E(x, v_1), \bar{v})$$

for a.e. $(x, v) \in \bar{\Omega}_0\}.$

(c) Let

$$D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2) := \{ g \in D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) \mid \bar{\mathcal{D}}g \in D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) \}.$$

Then $\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2 \colon D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2) \to \overline{H}$ is self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on \overline{H} .

(d) \overline{D} reverses v_1 -parity and x-parity respectively, i.e., \overline{D}^2 preserves these parities. Furthermore, the restricted operator \overline{D}^2 : $D(\overline{D}^2) \cap \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is self-adjoint as well. All of the above statements can be proven similarly to the spherically symmetric setting, see Proposition 4.2. The plane symmetric case however is not covered in [61,65]. The use of action-angle type variables in Sect. 5.2 offers alternative and more direct proofs, see Proposition 5.15.

The second part of the linearized operator is given by

$$\left(\bar{\mathcal{B}}g\right)(x,v) := 4\pi \left|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})\right| v_1 \,\bar{\mathcal{J}}(g)(x) \tag{4.10}$$

for $g \in \overline{H}$ and a.e. $(x, v) \in \overline{\Omega}_0$, where

$$\bar{\mathcal{J}}(g)(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1 g(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v, \quad \text{a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.11)

and g is extended by 0 to $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3$. The resulting operator has the following properties:

Lemma 4.8. $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$: $\overline{H} \to \overline{H}$ is well-defined, linear, continuous, and symmetric.

Proof. For $g \in \overline{H}$,

$$\begin{split} \|\bar{\mathcal{B}}g\|_{\bar{H}}^2 &= 16\pi^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\bar{\mathcal{J}}(g)(x)|^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\varphi'(E,\bar{v})| \ v_1^2 \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\bar{\mathcal{J}}(g)(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = C \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1 \, g(x,v) \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^2 \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1^2 \left| \varphi'(E,\bar{v}) \right| \, \mathrm{d}v \right) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|g(x,v)|^2}{|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})|} \, \mathrm{d}v \right) \mathrm{d}x \leq C \|g\|_{\bar{H}}^2, \end{split}$$

where in the first and third inequality we used that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1^2 |\varphi'(E(x, v_1), \bar{v})| \, \mathrm{d}v &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}} v_1^2 \, \alpha'(E(x, v_1)) \, \mathrm{d}v_1 \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}} v_1 \, \partial_{v_1} \left[\alpha(E(x, v_1)) \right] \, \mathrm{d}v_1 \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \alpha(E(x, v_1)) \, \mathrm{d}v_1 = \rho_0(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \quad (4.12) \end{split}$$

together with the fact that ρ_0 is bounded by $\rho_0(0) < \infty$. The symmetry of $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$ follows by

$$\langle \bar{\mathcal{B}}g,h\rangle_{\bar{H}} = 4\pi \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} v_1 \,\bar{\mathcal{J}}(g)(x) \,h(x,v) \,\mathrm{d}(x,v) = 4\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathcal{J}}(g)(x) \,\bar{\mathcal{J}}(h)(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

and the symmetry of the latter expression for $g, h \in \overline{H}$.

Since $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$ preserves *x*-parity and the image of $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$ is always an odd function in v_1 , the restricted operator $\overline{\mathcal{B}} \colon \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ has the analogous properties.

Eqn. (A.4) yields the following alternative representation of $\overline{B}g$ in the case $g \in D(\overline{D})$:

$$\left(\bar{\mathcal{B}}g\right)(x,v) = |\varphi'(E,\bar{v})| v_1 U'_{\bar{\mathcal{D}}g}(x)$$
(4.13)

 \square

for a.e. $(x, v) \in \overline{\Omega}_0$. We refer to Sect. A.2 in the appendix for a short discussion of the potentials induced by images of the planar transport operator.

We are now in the position to define the linearized operator in the planar setting:

Definition 4.9. Let

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}: D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2) \to \bar{H}, \ \bar{\mathcal{A}}:= -\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - \bar{\mathcal{B}}.$$

For $g \in D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2)$,

$$\langle \bar{\mathcal{A}}g, g \rangle_{\bar{H}} = \| \bar{\mathcal{D}}g \|_{\bar{H}}^2 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \| U'_{\bar{\mathcal{D}}g} \|_2^2.$$

The latter expression is also defined for $g \in D(\overline{D})$. \overline{A} is the (planar) Antonov or linearized operator.

We again have the following properties:

Lemma 4.10. The operator $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$: $D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2) \to \overline{H}$ is self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on \overline{H} . Its restriction $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$: $D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2) \cap \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ to odd functions is also self-adjoint.

Proof. We use the self-adjointness of \overline{D}^2 from Proposition 4.7 and the symmetry and boundedness of \overline{B} from Lemma 4.8.

5. The Essential Spectra of the Antonov Operators

5.1. The essential spectrum of the radial Antonov operator

Let \mathcal{A} denote the self-adjoint operator $\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{D}) \to H$ introduced in Definition 4.4; most of the results below also hold true for its restriction to odd functions.

We will see in Theorem 5.9 that the essential spectrum of $\mathcal{A} = -(\mathcal{D}^2 + \mathcal{B})$ is solely determined by the one of $-\mathcal{D}^2$. This is why we first analyze the squared transport operator. We do this by introducing one of the key tools in our work, the action-angle variables.

For fixed $(r, w, L) \in \Omega_0^r$ let $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto (R, W)(t, r, w, L)$ be the unique global solution to the characteristic system

$$\dot{R} = W, \quad \dot{W} = -\Psi'_L(R) \tag{5.1}$$

satisfying the initial condition (R, W)(0, r, w, L) = (r, w). As discussed in Sect. 2.1, $(R, W)(\cdot, r, w, L)$ is periodic with period T(E, L), where $E = E(r, w, L) = \frac{1}{2}w^2 + \Psi_L(r)$. We now use the variables $\theta \in [0, 1], (E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$ given by

$$(r, w, L) = ((R, W)(\theta T(E, L), r_{-}(E, L), 0, L), L).$$

For functions $g \in H$ we write

$$g(\theta, E, L) = g((R, W)(\theta T(E, L), r_{-}(E, L), 0, L), L)$$

for a.e. $(\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta} := [0, 1] \times \Omega_0^{EL}$ by slight abuse of notation. Integrals change via

$$dx dv = 4\pi^2 T(E, L) d\theta dE dL;$$
(5.2)

note that the mapping $[0, \frac{1}{2}] \ni \theta \mapsto R(\theta T(E, L), r_{-}(E, L), 0, L) \in [r_{-}(E, L), r_{+}(E, L)]$ is bijective for $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}$ with inverse given by

$$\theta(r, E, L) := \frac{1}{T(E, L)} \int_{r_{-}(E, L)}^{r} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{\sqrt{2E - 2\Psi_{L}(s)}},$$
(5.3)

 $r_{-}(E, L) \leq r \leq r_{+}(E, L)$. In particular, the transformation $(x, v) \mapsto (\theta, E, L)$ is not measure preserving as it would be in the case of "true" action-angle variables, see [4,41,49]. However, (θ, E, L) have the same interpretation as action-angle variables, since (E, L) fix a trajectory of the stationary characteristic system and $\theta \in [0, 1[$ gives the position along the characteristic flow. Actual action-angle variables have been used in [23] without the restriction to spherically symmetric functions.

Using the chain rule we see that \mathcal{D} corresponds to a θ -derivative in (θ, E, L) -variables.

Lemma 5.1. For every $g \in C_r^1(\Omega_0)$,

$$(\mathcal{D}g)(\theta, E, L) = \frac{1}{T(E, L)}(\partial_{\theta}g)(\theta, E, L), \quad 0 \le \theta \le 1, \ (E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}.$$
(5.4)

Similarly, for $g \in C_r^2(\Omega_0)$,

$$\left(\mathcal{D}^2 g\right)(\theta, E, L) = \frac{1}{T(E, L)^2} (\partial_\theta^2 g)(\theta, E, L), \quad 0 \le \theta \le 1, \ (E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}.$$

To analyze $-D^2$ and its spectrum, we need a formula similar to the ones derived in Lemma 5.1 for all functions in D(D) (see Definition 4.1) and $D(D^2)$. We therefore define

$$H_{\theta}^{1} := \left\{ y \in H^{1}(]0, 1[) \mid y(0) = y(1) \right\};$$
(5.5)

note that $H^1([0, 1[) \hookrightarrow C([0, 1]))$, i.e., the boundary condition is imposed for the continuous representative.

Lemma 5.2. It holds that

$$D(\mathcal{D}) = \{g \in H \mid \text{for a.e. } (E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}, \ g(\cdot, E, L) \in H_\theta^1, \\ and \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{T(E, L)^{-1}}{|\varphi'(E, L)|} \int_0^1 |\partial_\theta g(\theta, E, L)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E, L) < \infty \}.$$

If $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$,

$$(\mathcal{D}g)(\theta, E, L) = \frac{1}{T(E, L)}(\partial_{\theta}g)(\theta, E, L)$$

for a.e. $(\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta}$.

Proof. First, consider $g \in D(D)$. By the weak definition of D, a change of variables and Lemma 5.1, we obtain the following for every test function $\xi \in C_{c,r}^1(\Omega_0)$:

$$\begin{aligned} 4\pi^2 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 \partial_\theta \xi(\theta, E, L) \ g(\theta, E, L) \ d\theta \ d(E, L) \\ &= \int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \mathcal{D}\xi \ g \ d(x,v) = -\int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \xi \ \mathcal{D}g \ d(x,v) \\ &= -4\pi^2 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 \xi(\theta, E, L) \ (\mathcal{D}g)(\theta, E, L) \ d\theta \ d(E, L) \end{aligned}$$

We now choose ξ to be factorized in θ and (E, L), i.e., $\xi(\theta, E, L) = \zeta(\theta) \chi(E, L)$ for $(\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta}$, where $\zeta \in C_c^{\infty}(]0, 1[)$ and $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})$. Note that every such choice of ζ and χ induces some ξ in $C_{c,r}^1(\Omega_0)$. Inserting this into the above calculation yields

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \chi(E,L) \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 \dot{\zeta}(\theta) \ g(\theta,E,L) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \\ &= -\int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \chi(E,L) \frac{T(E,L)}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 \zeta(\theta) \ (\mathcal{D}g)(\theta,E,L) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \end{split}$$

Since this holds true for every $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})$, it follows that

$$\int_0^1 \dot{\zeta}(\theta) \ g(\theta, E, L) \, \mathrm{d}\theta = -T(E, L) \int_0^1 \zeta(\theta) \ (\mathcal{D}g)(\theta, E, L) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \tag{5.6}$$

for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL, 1}$ Since $\zeta \in C_c^{\infty}(]0, 1[)$ is arbitrary, this means that $g(\cdot, E, L)$ is weakly differentiable with $\partial_{\theta}g(\cdot, E, L) = T(E, L)(\mathcal{D}g)(\cdot, E, L)$. In addition,

$$4\pi^2 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)^{-1}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 |\partial_\theta g(\theta,E,L)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) = \|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2 < \infty,$$

in particular, $\partial_{\theta} g(\cdot, E, L) \in L^2(]0, 1[)$ for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$. What remains to show is the boundary condition g(0, E, L) = g(1, E, L). Observe that (5.6) also holds true for $\zeta(\theta)$:=1, $0 \le \theta \le 1$, since this still leads to $\xi \in C_{c,r}^1(\Omega_0)$. Therefore, integrating by parts yields

$$0 = \frac{1}{T(E,L)} \int_0^1 \dot{\zeta}(\theta) \ g(\theta, E, L) \, \mathrm{d}\theta = -\int_0^1 \zeta(\theta) \ \partial_\theta g(\theta, E, L) \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$= \int_0^1 \dot{\zeta}(\theta) \ g(\theta, E, L) \, \mathrm{d}\theta - \zeta(\theta) g(\theta, E, L) \Big|_{\theta=0}^{\theta=1} = g(0, E, L) - g(1, E, L)$$

¹ The set of measure zero can be chosen independently of the test function $\zeta \in C_c^{\infty}(]0, 1[)$ by considering a countable subset of $C_c^{\infty}(]0, 1[)$ which is dense with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{H^1(]0,1[)}$.
for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$, i.e., $g(\cdot, E, L) \in H_{\theta}^1$ and we have proven the first implication.

Conversely, let $g \in H$ be such that $g(\cdot, E, L) \in H^1_{\theta}$ for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega^{EL}_0$ and

$$\int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)^{-1}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 |\partial_\theta g(\theta,E,L)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}(E,L) < \infty. \tag{5.7}$$

For any test function $\xi \in C_{c,r}^1(\Omega_0)$ and $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ we obviously have $\xi(\cdot, E, L) \in C^1([0, 1])$ with $\xi(0, E, L) = \xi(1, E, L)$. Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} g \ \mathcal{D}\xi \ \mathrm{d}(x,v) &= 4\pi^2 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \\ &\qquad \qquad \times \int_0^1 g(\theta,E,L) \ \partial_\theta \xi(\theta,E,L) \ \mathrm{d}\theta \ \mathrm{d}(E,L) \\ &= -\int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \ \frac{(\partial_\theta g)}{T(E,L)} \ \xi \ \mathrm{d}(x,v), \end{split}$$

where we again used Lemma 5.1 and integrated by parts. By the weak definition of D, the above means that Dg exists weakly and

$$(\mathcal{D}g)(\theta, E, L) = \frac{1}{T(E, L)} \partial_{\theta}g(\theta, E, L)$$

for a.e. $(\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta}$. Eqn. (5.7) then also shows $\mathcal{D}g \in H$, i.e., $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$. \Box

Remark 5.3. (Oddness-in-v) Recall the definition (4.1) of the space H^{odd} of odd-in-v functions in H. It is of interest to describe the oddness with respect to the v-coordinate in the action-angle coordinates. To that end let

$$L^{2,odd}([0, 1[]) := \{ y \in L^2([0, 1[] | y(\theta) = -y(1 - \theta) \text{ for a.e. } \theta \in]0, 1[] \}.$$

It is then easy to check that for every $g \in H$,

$$g \in H^{odd} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad g(\cdot, E, L) \in L^{2,odd}(]0, 1[) \text{ for a.e. } (E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}.$$

To obtain a representation of the domain of \mathcal{D}^2 similar to Lemma 5.2, let

$$H_{\theta}^{2} := \left\{ y \in H^{2}(]0, 1[) \mid y(0) = y(1) \text{ and } \dot{y}(0) = \dot{y}(1) \right\} = \left\{ y \in H_{\theta}^{1} \mid \dot{y} \in H_{\theta}^{1} \right\};$$
(5.8)

note $H^2(]0, 1[) \hookrightarrow C^1([0, 1])$, i.e., the boundary conditions are imposed for the continuously differentiable representative. Then, by applying Lemma 5.2 we obtain

Corollary 5.4. It holds that

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{D}(\mathcal{D}^2) &= \{ g \in H \mid \text{for a.e. } (E,L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}, \ g(\cdot,E,L) \in H_\theta^2, \\ and \ \sum_{j=1}^2 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)^{1-2j}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 |\partial_\theta^j g(\theta,E,L)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) < \infty \}. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, if $g \in D(\mathcal{D}^2)$ *,*

$$\left(\mathcal{D}^2g\right)(\theta,E,L)=\frac{1}{T(E,L)^2}(\partial_\theta^2g)(\theta,E,L)$$

for a.e. $(\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta}$.

We next apply Lemma 5.2 to obtain the following useful lemma, which particularly implies that the range of \mathcal{D} is closed, cf. [10, Theorem 2.19].

Lemma 5.5. For every $h \in H$ with $h \perp \text{ker}(\mathcal{D})$ there exists $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$ such that $\mathcal{D}g = h$. In particular,

$$\ker(\mathcal{D})^{\perp} = \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{D}). \tag{5.9}$$

Proof. We define the spherically symmetric function $g: \Omega_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ via

$$g(\theta, E, L) := T(E, L) \int_0^{\theta} h(s, E, L) \,\mathrm{d}s \text{ for a.e. } (\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta}$$

and apply Lemma 5.2 to verify the claimed properties of g. First, $g(\cdot, E, L)$ is weakly differentiable for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$ with $\partial_\theta g(\cdot, E, L) = T(E, L)$ $h(\cdot, E, L)$. In addition,

$$|g(\theta, E, L)|^2 \le T(E, L)^2 \int_0^1 |h(s, E, L)|^2 ds,$$

i.e., $g(\cdot, E, L) \in L^2(]0, 1[)$ for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$ and $g \in H$, since

$$\|g\|_{H}^{2} \leq 4\pi^{2} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)^{3}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_{0}^{1} |h(s,E,L)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}(E,L) \leq \sup_{\hat{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}}^{2} (T) \,\|h\|_{H}^{2};$$

note that *T* is bounded by Proposition B.1. Furthermore, $\partial_{\theta} g(\cdot, E, L) \in L^2(]0, 1[)$, i.e., $g(\cdot, E, L) \in H^1(]0, 1[)$ for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$. Moreover,

$$g(1, E, L) = \int_0^1 h(s, E, L) \, \mathrm{d}s = 0 = g(0, E, L).$$

for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$, since $h \perp \ker(\mathcal{D})$. Lastly,

$$4\pi^2 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)^{-1}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 |\partial_\theta g(\theta,E,L)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) = \|h\|_H^2 < \infty. \qquad \Box$$

We now turn our attention to the one-dimensional Laplacian as an operator on H^2_{θ} :

Lemma 5.6. The operator

$$-\partial_{\theta}^2 \colon H_{\theta}^2 \to L^2(]0,1[), \ y \mapsto -\ddot{y}$$

is self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on the Hilbert space $L^2(]0, 1[]$. Its spectrum is given by

$$\sigma(-\partial_{\theta}^2) = (2\pi \mathbb{N}_0)^2 := \{(2\pi k)^2 \mid k \in \mathbb{N}_0\}.$$

In particular, every element of the spectrum is an eigenvalue. The eigenspace of the eigenvalue 0 consists of all constant functions. For $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the eigenspace of $(2\pi k)^2$ is $\{c_1 \cos(2\pi k \cdot) + c_2 \sin(2\pi k \cdot) \mid c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}\}$.

Proof. It is straight forward to verify that $-\partial_{\theta}^2$ is self-adjoint; note that the boundary conditions built into H_{θ}^2 cause all boundary terms to vanish when integrating by parts.

Using basic ODE theory, it can be easily verified that the set of proper eigenvalues of $-\partial_{\theta}^2$ equals $(2\pi \mathbb{N}_0)^2$. What remains to show is that the spectrum of $-\partial_{\theta}^2$ does not contain any other elements. This can be done by explicitly deriving the resolvent operator for $\lambda \notin (2\pi \mathbb{N}_0)^2$ by expanding all functions involved into their Fourier series; these techniques are related to the ones used for Riesz-spectral operators [13, Theorem 2.3.5].

Similar to the above Lemma one can also show that the operator

$$-\partial_{\theta}^{2} \colon H^{2}_{\theta} \cap L^{2,odd}(]0,1[) \to L^{2,odd}(]0,1[), \ y \mapsto -\ddot{y}$$

is self-adjoint as a densely defined operator on the Hilbert space $L^{2,odd}(]0, 1[)$ and that its spectrum is $(2\pi\mathbb{N})^2$; note that non-zero constant functions are not part of $H^2_{\theta} \cap L^{2,odd}(]0, 1[)$.

Combining Corollary 5.4, i.e., $(-D^2) = -\frac{1}{T(E,L)^2} \partial_{\theta}^2$, and Lemma 5.6, i.e., $(\sigma(-\partial_{\theta}^2) = (2\pi \mathbb{N}_0)^2)$, allows us to explicitly determine the spectrum of $-D^2$:

Theorem 5.7. The spectrum of the self-adjoint operator $-\mathcal{D}^2 \colon D(\mathcal{D}^2) \to H$ is

$$\sigma(-\mathcal{D}^2) = \left(\frac{2\pi \mathbb{N}_0}{T(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2 := \overline{\left\{\left(\frac{2\pi k}{T(E,L)}\right)^2 \mid k \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ (E,L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}\right\}}.$$

Furthermore, the spectrum is purely essential, i.e.,

$$\sigma_{ess}(-\mathcal{D}^2) = \sigma(-\mathcal{D}^2).$$

Proof. We first show $(2\pi k T(E^*, L^*)^{-1})^2 \in \sigma_{ess}(-\mathcal{D}^2)$ for fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(E^*, L^*) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$. The idea is that

$$(\theta, E, L) \mapsto \delta_{(E^*, L^*)}(E, L) \sin(2\pi k\theta)$$

defines an "eigendistribution" of $(2\pi k T(E^*, L^*)^{-1})^2$ (where δ denotes Dirac's delta distribution) and that by approximating, we can show that $(2\pi k T(E^*, L^*)^{-1})^2$ is indeed an approximate eigenvalue.

We therefore prove $(2\pi k T(E^*, L^*)^{-1})^2 \in \sigma_{ess}(-D^2)$ by verifying Weyl's criterion [29, Theorem 7.2], i.e., we construct a sequence $(g_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(D^2)$ with

(i)
$$||g_j||_H = 1$$
 for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$,
(ii) $\left\| -\mathcal{D}^2 g_j - \left(2\pi k T(E^*, L^*)^{-1} \right)^2 g_j \right\|_H \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$,
(iii) $g_j \to 0$ in H as $j \to \infty$.

To construct such a Weyl sequence, we approximate the Dirac distribution as follows: For $j \in \mathbb{N}$ let $\chi_j : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be such that

(\$\alpha\$) supp
$$(\chi_j) \subset \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL} \cap B_{\frac{1}{j}}(E^*, L^*),$$

(\$\beta\$) $\int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \chi_j^2(E, L) d(E, L) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2}.$

Such χ_j can e.g. be explicitly defined using a rescaling scheme. For $j \in \mathbb{N}$ we now define the spherically symmetric function $g_j \colon \Omega_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$g_j(\theta, E, L) := \sqrt{\frac{|\varphi'(E, L)|}{T(E, L)}} \chi_j(E, L) \sin(2\pi k\theta), \quad (\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta}.$$

Then $(g_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is indeed a Weyl sequence. First, $g_j \in D(\mathcal{D}^2)$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$ by Corollary 5.4, note that T > 0 is continuous on $\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ by Lemma B.7 and therefore $\frac{1}{T}$ is bounded on the support of χ_j . Now to properties (i)–(iii):

(i) For every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ a straight forward calculation using (β) yields $||g_j||_H = 1$.

(ii) It follows from Corollary 5.4 that

$$(-\mathcal{D}^2 g_j)(\theta, E, L) = \left(\frac{2\pi k}{T(E, L)}\right)^2 g_j(\theta, E, L) \text{ for a.e. } (\theta, E, L) \in \Omega_0^{\theta}.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \| -\mathcal{D}^{2}g_{j} - \left(2\pi k \ T(E^{*}, L^{*})^{-1}\right)^{2}g_{j}\|_{H}^{2} \\ &= 4\pi^{2} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{T(E, L)}{|\varphi'(E, L)|} \left| \left(\frac{2\pi k}{T(E, L)}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{2\pi k}{T(E^{*}, L^{*})}\right)^{2} \right|^{2} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{1} \left|g_{j}(\theta, E, L)\right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\theta \ \mathrm{d}(E, L) \\ &= 2^{5}\pi^{6}k^{4} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \chi_{j}^{2}(E, L) \left| \frac{1}{T(E, L)^{2}} - \frac{1}{T(E^{*}, L^{*})^{2}} \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}(E, L). \end{split}$$

Since T > 0 is continuous on $\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ by Lemma B.7, $|T(E, L)^{-2} - T(E^*, L^*)^{-2}|$ tends to zero for $(E, L) \in \text{supp}(\chi_j)$ as $j \to \infty$ by (α) . Together with (β) this implies (ii).

(iii) For every $h \in H$ the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality yields

$$\left|\langle g_j,h\rangle_H\right| \le \|g_j\|_H \left(4\pi^2 \int_{\operatorname{supp}\,(\chi_j)} \frac{T(E,L)}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 |h(\theta,E,L)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}(E,L)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

with $||g_j||_H = 1$ and the right integral tending to zero as $j \to \infty$. Due to the Riesz representation theorem we obtain (iii).

By a completely similar proof—where we just have to replace $sin(2\pi k\theta)$ in the definition of g_j by a non-zero, constant function—we also get $0 \in \sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{D}^2)$. Since the spectrum of an operator is always closed and the boundary values being non-isolated, we obtain

$$\overline{\left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}_0}{T(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2} \subset \sigma_{ess}(-\mathcal{D}^2) \subset \sigma(-\mathcal{D}^2).$$

It remains to show that

$$\sigma(-\mathcal{D}^2) \subset \overline{\left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}_0}{T(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2}.$$

Fix an arbitrary $\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \overline{\left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}_0}{T(\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2}$; note $\sigma(-\mathcal{D}^2) \subset \mathbb{R}$. Due to the radial particle period *T* being bounded away from zero by Proposition B.1, there exists c > 0 such that

dist
$$\left(\lambda T(E,L)^2, (2\pi\mathbb{N}_0)^2\right) \ge c$$
 for every $(E,L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$. (5.10)

Since $(2\pi \mathbb{N}_0)^2 = \sigma(-\partial_{\theta}^2)$, we then obtain the following estimate for the onedimensional resolvent operator $(-\partial_{\theta}^2 - \lambda T(E, L)^2)^{-1} : L^2(]0, 1[) \to H^2_{\theta}$ by (5.10):

$$\left\| \left(-\partial_{\theta}^2 - \lambda T(E, L)^2 \right)^{-1} y \right\|_2 \le \frac{1}{c} \|y\|_2 \text{ for } y \in L^2(]0, 1[), \ (E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL},$$

see for example [29, Theorem 5.8]. Therefore, inserting $y = (-\partial_{\theta}^2 - \lambda T(E, L)^2) z$ in the above estimate yields

$$\|z\|_{2} \leq \frac{1}{c} \left\| \left(-\partial_{\theta}^{2} - \lambda T(E, L)^{2} \right) z \right\|_{2} \quad \text{for } z \in H_{\theta}^{2}, \ (E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}.$$
(5.11)

Now, suppose $\lambda \in \sigma(-\mathcal{D}^2)$. Then, by a weaker version of Weyl's criterion (see [29, Theorem 5.10]), there exists a sequence $(g_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(\mathcal{D}^2)$ such that $||g_j||_H = 1$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $||-\mathcal{D}^2g_j - \lambda g_j||_H \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$. However,

$$\begin{split} \| -\mathcal{D}^2 g_j - \lambda g_j \|_H^2 \\ &= 4\pi^2 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)^{-3}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_0^1 \left| -\partial_\theta^2 g_j(\theta,E,L) - \lambda T(E,L)^2 g_j(\theta,E,L) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}(E,L) \end{split}$$

by Corollary 5.4. Then, applying (5.11) to $g_j(\cdot, E, L) \in H^2_{\theta}$ for a.e. $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}$ yields

$$\begin{split} \| -\mathcal{D}^{2}g_{j} - \lambda g_{j} \|_{H}^{2} &\geq 4\pi^{2}c^{2} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{T(E,L)^{-3}}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \int_{0}^{1} |g_{j}(\theta,E,L)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}(E,L) \\ &\geq \frac{c^{2}}{\sup_{\tilde{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}}^{4}(T)} > 0, \end{split}$$

and therefore the desired contradiction.

In particular, we obtain the following estimate:

Corollary 5.8. (A Poincaré inequality) For every $g \in D(D)$ with $g \perp ker(D)$ we have

$$\|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}^{2} \geq \frac{4\pi^{2}}{\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}}^{2}(T)}\|g\|_{H}^{2}.$$

Proof. The statement on $D(D^2)$ follows by the skew-adjointness of D together with the spectral properties of $-D^2$ stated in the above theorem, see e.g. [29, Proposition 5.12].

Mollifying extends this estimate to $D(\mathcal{D})$. One way to do this is to express g in (θ, E, L) -coordinates and mollify the θ -function for a.e. $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$, for example by using Fourier partial series. Note that the mollification has to preserve the property $g \perp \ker(\mathcal{D})$.

Alternatively, an estimate as above can also be shown by more fundamental techniques without determining the spectrum of $-D^2$, see e.g. [61, proof of Theorem 2.3].

We now use the representation of $\sigma_{ess}(-D^2)$ from Theorem 5.7 to explicitly determine $\sigma_{ess}(A)$ as well. In fact, the key property of the essential spectrum is that it is stable under certain types of perturbations. In our situation, this means that the essential spectrum of $\mathcal{A} = -(D^2 + \mathcal{B})$ (see (4.4) for the definition of \mathcal{B}) is equal to the one of $-D^2$:

Theorem 5.9. The operator $(-\mathcal{B})$ is relatively $(-\mathcal{D}^2)$ -compact, cf. [29, Definition 14.1]. Therefore, by the Weyl theorem [29, Theorem 14.6],

$$\sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A}) = \sigma_{ess}(-\mathcal{D}^2).$$

Thus, by Theorem 5.7,

$$\sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A}) = \overline{\left(\frac{2\pi \mathbb{N}_0}{T(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2},\tag{5.12}$$

where \mathcal{A} denotes the unrestricted operator $\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{D}^2) \to H$. Similarly,

$$\sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A}\big|_{H^{odd}}) = \left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}}{T(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2.$$
(5.13)

Here, we use the convention $\min(\mathbb{N}) = 1$, $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

Proof. By Lemma 4.3, $-\mathcal{B}$ is continuous on H, i.e., relatively $(-\mathcal{D}^2)$ -bounded with relative bound 0. Furthermore, $(-\mathcal{D}^2)$ is self-adjoint and $\rho(-\mathcal{D}^2) \neq \emptyset$. In this situation, the relative $(-\mathcal{D}^2)$ -compactness of $-\mathcal{B}$ is equivalent to the following (see for example [16, III Definition 2.15 and III Exercise 2.18(1)]):

$$-\mathcal{B}: \left(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{D}^2), \|\mathcal{D}^2 \cdot\|_H + \|\cdot\|_H \right) \to H \text{ is compact};$$

the domain of $-\mathcal{B}$ in this statement is $D(\mathcal{D}^2)$, equipped with the graph norm of $(-\mathcal{D}^2)$.

To prove this statement, let $(g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset D(\mathcal{D}^2)$ be such that $(g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$, $(\mathcal{D}^2g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset H$ are bounded. Corollary 5.8—note $\mathcal{D}g_k \in \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{D}) \subset \ker(\mathcal{D})^{\perp}$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ —then yields that $(\mathcal{D}g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset H$ is bounded as well. Thus, by (A.1), $(U_{\mathcal{D}g_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset C \cap H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is bounded in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. In addition, (A.2) yields $\supp(\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g_k}) \subset B_{R_0}(0)$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$. By the compact embedding $H^2(B_{R_0}(0)) \subseteq H^1(B_{R_0}(0)), (\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is strongly convergent in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$, at least after extracting a subsequence. Representing $\mathcal{B}g_k$ as in (4.6) and rewriting $\int w^2 |\varphi'(E, L)| d(w, L)$ as in (4.5), it follows that $(\mathcal{B}g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in H, and thus strongly convergent in H.

The analogous relative compactness result also holds true when we restrict all operators to H^{odd} , i.e., functions odd in v. In addition, it can be shown similarly to Theorem 5.7 that the spectrum of the restricted squared transport operator is given by

$$\sigma_{ess}(-\mathcal{D}^2\big|_{H^{odd}}) = \overline{\left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}}{T(\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL})}\right)^2},$$
(5.14)

since $\sin(2\pi k \cdot) \in H^2_{\theta} \cap L^{2,odd}(]0, 1[)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$, but non-zero constant functions which correspond to the eigenvalue 0—are not in $L^{2,odd}(]0, 1[)$.

The sets (5.12), (5.13) may look qualitatively different for different steady state models depending on the behavior of the period function *T*:

Remark 5.10. If $\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}(T) \ge 2 \inf_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}(T)$,

$$\sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A}) = \{0\} \cup \left[\frac{4\pi^2}{\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}^2(T)}, \infty\right[.$$

Otherwise, i.e., $\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}(T) < 2 \inf_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}(T)$, there may appear further gaps in the essential spectrum. In general, the number of gaps in the essential spectrum (including the one at zero) is given by

$$1 + \sup \left\{ k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \mid (k+1) \inf_{\hat{\Delta}_0^{EL}} (T) > k \sup_{\hat{\Delta}_0^{EL}} (T) \right\}.$$

Note that we have infinitely many gaps iff T is constant on $\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$.

In any case, the essential spectrum of A possesses a gap

$$\mathcal{G} :=]0, \min \left(\sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A}) \setminus \{0\} \right) [= \left] 0, \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}^2(T)} \right[$$

at the origin since *T* is bounded from above, see Sect. B.1 in the appendix. Following Mathur [52], we call this the principal gap of the essential spectrum; although in [52] this term is used for the gap of the spectrum of -i D around the origin.

5.2. The essential spectrum of the planar Antonov operator

We now show the analogues of the above results for the planar linearized operator \overline{A} introduced in Definition 4.9. Since most of the proofs are similar to the radial setting, see Sect. 5.1, we shall skip some of the details. We again start by analyzing the squared transport operator \overline{D}^2 using action-angle variables.

For fixed $(x, v_1) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ let $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto (X, V_1)(t, x, v_1)$ be the unique global solution to the characteristic system

$$\dot{X} = V_1, \quad \dot{V}_1 = -U'_0(X)$$
 (5.15)

satisfying the initial condition $(X, V_1)(0, x, v_1) = (x, v_1)$. As derived in Sect. 2.2, $(X, V_1)(\cdot, x, v_1)$ is periodic with period T(E), where $E \equiv E((X, V_1)(t, x, v_1))$ for $t \in \mathbb{R}$. We now use the variable $\theta \in [0, 1]$ given by

$$(x, v_1) = (X, V_1)(\theta T(E), x_-(E), 0)$$
(5.16)

together with $E \in [U_0(0), E_0[$ and \bar{v} on the steady state support. The major benefit of the plane symmetric case compared to the spherically symmetric setting is that the (x, v_1) -motion can be described by one angle θ and only one conserved quantity E; it is independent of the other integrals \bar{v} . For functions $g: \bar{\Omega}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ we write

$$g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) := g((X, V_1)(\theta T(E), x_-(E), 0), \bar{v})$$

for $(\theta, E, \bar{v}) \in \bar{\Omega}_0^{\theta} := [0, 1] \times \bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}} = [0, 1] \times [U_0(0), E_0[\times \{\beta \neq 0\} \text{ by slight abuse}$ of notation. As in the spherically symmetric case the transformation $(x, v) \mapsto (\theta, E, \bar{v})$ is not measure preserving, since

$$dx dv = T(E) d\theta dE d\bar{v}.$$
(5.17)

Regarding the latter statement, we observe that the mapping $[0, \frac{1}{2}] \ni \theta \mapsto X(\theta T(E), x_{-}(E), 0) \in [x_{-}(E), x_{+}(E)]$ is bijective for $E > U_{0}(0)$ and its inverse is given by

$$\theta(x, E) = \frac{1}{T(E)} \int_{x_{-}(E)}^{x} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2E - 2U_0(y)}} \, \mathrm{d}y.$$
(5.18)

Related planar action-angle coordinates are also used for the study of BGK waves for the one-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson system in the plasma case [24].

Using the chain rule we see that \overline{D} can be written as a θ -derivative.

Lemma 5.11. For $g \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}_0)$ and $(\theta, E, \overline{v}) \in \overline{\Omega}_0^{\theta}$,

$$(\bar{\mathcal{D}}g)(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = \frac{1}{T(E)}(\partial_{\theta}g)(\theta, E, \bar{v}).$$

Similarly, for $g \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}_0)$,

$$(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 g)(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = \frac{1}{T(E)^2} (\partial_{\theta}^2 g)(\theta, E, \bar{v}).$$

Next we generalize the above lemma onto the weak extension of \overline{D} —introduced in Definition 4.6—and give an alternate representation of $D(\overline{D})$ analogous to Lemma 5.2:

Lemma 5.12. It holds that

$$D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) = \{ g \in \bar{H} \mid \text{for a.e. } (E, \bar{v}) \in \bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}, \ g(\cdot, E, \bar{v}) \in H_\theta^1, \\ \text{and} \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}} \frac{T(E)^{-1}}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} \int_0^1 |\partial_\theta g(\theta, E, \bar{v})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E, \bar{v}) < \infty \},$$

where H^1_{θ} is given by (5.5). If $g \in D(\overline{D})$,

$$\left(\bar{\mathcal{D}}g\right)(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = \frac{1}{T(E)}(\partial_{\theta}g)(\theta, E, \bar{v})$$

for a.e. $(\theta, E, \overline{v}) \in \overline{\Omega}_0^{\theta}$.

The proof is completely analogous to the one of Lemma 5.2. The v_1 -parity and *x*-parity can also be translated into $(\theta, E, \overline{v})$ -coordinates:

Remark 5.13. Consider $g: \overline{\Omega}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$. Then

- (a) g is odd in v_1 if and only if $g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = -g(1 \theta, E, \bar{v})$ for $(\theta, E, \bar{v}) \in \bar{\Omega}_0^{\theta}$.
- (b) g is odd in x if and only if $g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = -g(\frac{1}{2} \theta, E, \bar{v})$ as well as $g(1 \theta, E, \bar{v}) = -g(\theta + \frac{1}{2}, E, \bar{v})$ for $0 \le \theta \le \frac{1}{2}$ and $(E, \bar{v}) \in \bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}$.

Applying Lemma 5.12 yields the following for the squared transport operator in the plane symmetric setting:

Corollary 5.14. With H^2_{θ} as defined in (5.8),

$$D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2) = \{g \in \bar{H} \mid \text{for a.e. } (E, \bar{v}) \in \bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}, \ g(\cdot, E, \bar{v}) \in H_\theta^2, \\ and \sum_{j=1}^2 \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}} \frac{T(E)^{1-2j}}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} \int_0^1 |\partial_\theta^j g(\theta, E, \bar{v})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(E, \bar{v}) < \infty \}.$$

The above results allow us to conclude the following fundamental properties of the transport operator and its square which have partly been stated in Proposition 4.7 before:

Proposition 5.15. (a) $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$: $D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}) \to \overline{H}$ is skew-adjoint and $\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2$: $D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2) \to \overline{H}$ is self-adjoint. The restrictions to $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ are skew-adjoint respectively self-adjoint as well.

- (b) The kernel of \overline{D} consists of all functions depending solely on E and \overline{v} a.e..
- (c) For every $h \in \overline{H}$ with $h \perp \ker(\overline{D})$ there exists $g \in D(\overline{D})$ such that $\overline{D}g = h$. In particular,

$$\ker(\bar{\mathcal{D}})^{\perp} = \operatorname{im}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}). \tag{5.19}$$

Proof. Interpreting \overline{D} as a θ -derivative, we integrate by parts in the θ -integral to obtain the skew-symmetry of \overline{D} and the symmetry of \overline{D}^2 . From there we easily obtain the skew-adjointness and self-adjointness respectively.

Part (b) follows since the kernel of $\partial_{\theta} : H^1_{\theta} \to L^2(]0, 1[)$ consists of all functions which are constant a.e..

As to the last part, we define $g : \overline{\Omega}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ via

$$g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) := T(E) \int_0^{\theta} h(s, E, \bar{v}) \,\mathrm{d}s \quad \text{for a.e. } (\theta, E, \bar{v}) \in \bar{\Omega}_0^{\theta}.$$

It is then straight-forward to verify that $g \in \overline{H}$ with $||g||_{\overline{H}}^2 \leq T(E_0)^2 ||h||_{\overline{H}}^2$ and $g(\cdot, E, \overline{v}) \in H_{\theta}^1$ for a.e. $(E, \overline{v}) \in \overline{\Omega}_0^{E\overline{v}}$, in particular $g(0, E, \overline{v}) = 0 = g(1, E, \overline{v})$ since $h \perp \ker(\mathcal{D})$. In addition, $\overline{\mathcal{D}}g = h$ as required. For more details we refer to the proof of Lemma 5.5 in the spherically symmetric setting.

Finally we combine Corollary 5.14 and the spectral properties of $-\partial_{\theta}^2 \colon H_{\theta}^2 \to L^2(]0, 1[)$ from Lemma 5.6 to explicitly determine the spectrum of $-\overline{D}^2$.

Theorem 5.16. The spectrum of the self-adjoint operator $-\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2 \colon D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2) \to \overline{H}$ is

$$\sigma(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2) = \left(\frac{2\pi \mathbb{N}_0}{T([U_0(0), E_0])}\right)^2 := \left\{ \left(\frac{2\pi k}{T(E)}\right)^2 \mid k \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ U_0(0) \le E \le E_0 \right\}.$$

Furthermore, the spectrum is purely essential, i.e.,

$$\sigma_{ess}(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2) = \sigma(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2).$$

Proof. Since the proof is very similar to the one of Theorem 5.7, we only outline it for the plane symmetric setting. For fixed $E^* \in]U_0(0), E_0[$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we show $(2\pi k T(E^*)^{-1})^2 \in \sigma_{ess}(-\overline{D}^2)$ by constructing approximate eigenfunctions to the eigendistribution

$$(\theta, E, \overline{v}) \mapsto \delta_{E^*}(E) \sin(2\pi k\theta),$$
 (5.20)

i.e., a "Weyl-sequence" $(g_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2)$ satisfying

(i) $||g_j||_{\bar{H}} = 1$ for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$,

(ii)
$$\left\| -\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 g_j - \left(2\pi k \ T(E^*)^{-1} \right)^2 g_j \right\|_{\bar{H}} \to 0 \text{ as } j \to \infty,$$

(iii) $g_j \rightarrow 0$ in \bar{H} as $j \rightarrow \infty$.

To this end choose $\chi_j : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that supp $(\chi_j) \subset]E^* - \frac{1}{j}, E^* + \frac{1}{j}[\cap]U_0(0), E_0[$ and

$$\int_{U_0(0)}^{E_0} \chi_j^2(E) \,\mathrm{d}E = 2$$

for $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$g_j(\theta, E, \bar{v}) := \sqrt{\frac{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|}{T(E)}} \chi_j(E) \sqrt{\beta(\bar{v})} \sin(2\pi k\theta), \qquad (\theta, E, \bar{v}) \in \bar{\Omega}_0^{\theta}, \ j \in \mathbb{N},$$

defines a Weyl-sequence with the three properties claimed above. In particular, $g_j \in D(\overline{D}^2)$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$ by Corollary 5.14 since *T* is bounded away from zero, see Proposition 2.8. Furthermore,

$$\| - \bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 g_j - \left(2\pi k T(E^*)^{-1}\right)^2 g_j \|_{\bar{H}}$$

= $2^3 (\pi k)^4 \int_{U_0(0)}^{E_0} \chi_j^2(E) \left| \frac{1}{T(E)^2} - \frac{1}{T(E^*)^2} \right|^2 dE \to 0$

as $j \to \infty$ by the continuity of T > 0 on $]U_0(0), E_0[$, see Lemma 2.6. In addition, the essential spectrum contains 0 (since the kernel of \overline{D} is an eigenspace of infinite multiplicity) and is closed, which means that we have shown

$$\left(\frac{2\pi\,\mathbb{N}_0}{T\left([U_0(0),\,E_0]\right)}\right)^2 \subset \sigma_{ess}(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2) \subset \sigma\left(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2\right).$$

Conversely, for fixed $\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}_0}{T([U_0(0), E_0])}\right)^2$ there exists c > 0 such that

dist
$$\left(\lambda T(E)^2, (2\pi \mathbb{N}_0)^2\right) \ge c$$
 for every $E \in [U_0(0), E_0]$

due to the boundedness of T away from zero, see Proposition 2.8. Since $(2\pi \mathbb{N}_0)^2$ equals the spectrum of $-\partial_{\theta}^2 \colon H_{\theta}^2 \to L^2(]0, 1[),$

$$\|z\|_2 \le \frac{1}{c} \left\| \left(-\partial_\theta^2 - \lambda \ T(E)^2 \right) z \right\|_2 \quad \text{for } z \in H_\theta^2, \ E \in [U_0(0), E_0],$$

see [29, Theorem 5.8]. However, this rules out the existence of a sequence $(g_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2)$ such that $||g_j||_{\bar{H}} = 1$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $||-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2g_j - \lambda g_j||_{\bar{H}} \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$, since in that case,

$$\begin{split} \left\| -\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 g_j - \lambda g_j \right\|_{\bar{H}}^2 &= \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}} \frac{T(E)^{-3}}{|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})|} \int_0^1 |-\partial_\theta^2 g_j(\theta, E, \bar{v}) \\ &- \lambda T(E)^2 g_j(\theta, E, \bar{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}(E, \bar{v}) \\ &\geq \frac{c^2}{T(E)^4} \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}} \frac{T(E)}{|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})|} \int_0^1 |g_j(\theta, E, \bar{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}(E, \bar{v}) \\ &= \frac{c^2}{T(E)^4} > 0 \end{split}$$

for $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, by a weak version of Weyl's criterion [29, Theorem 5.10] we conclude $\lambda \notin \sigma(-\overline{D}^2)$.

A simple consequence of the spectral properties of $-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2$ is the following estimate:

Corollary 5.17. (A Poincaré inequality) For every $g \in D(\overline{D})$ with $g \perp \ker(\overline{D})$,

$$\|\bar{\mathcal{D}}g\|_{\bar{H}}^2 \ge \frac{4\pi^2}{T(E_0)^2} \|g\|_{\bar{H}}^2.$$

While the above estimate for $g \in D(\overline{D}^2)$ follows immediately from Theorem 5.16 and the skew-symmetry of \overline{D} , we have to mollify an element of $D(\overline{D})$ in some way to get the result there as well. This approximation will be useful later on as well.

Remark 5.18. Let $g \in D(\overline{D})$. To approximate g by smooth functions while keeping $\overline{D}g$ under control, we expand g in its θ -Fourier series, i.e.,

$$g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k(E, \bar{v}) \cos(2k\pi\theta) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_k(E, \bar{v}) \sin(2\pi k\theta), \qquad (5.21)$$

where the coefficients a_k , b_k are given by

$$a_0(E, \bar{v}) := \int_0^1 g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) \, \mathrm{d}\theta,$$

$$a_k(E, \bar{v}) := 2 \int_0^1 g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) \cos(2\pi k\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta,$$

$$b_k(E, \bar{v}) := 2 \int_0^1 g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) \sin(2\pi k\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta,$$

for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(E, \bar{v}) \in \overline{\Omega}_0^{E\bar{v}}$. Furthermore, by Lemma 5.12,

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = -\frac{2\pi}{T(E)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \, a_k(E, \bar{v}) \sin(2k\pi\theta) + \frac{2\pi}{T(E)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \, b_k(E, \bar{v}) \cos(2\pi k\theta).$$
(5.22)

Eqns. (5.21) and (5.22) both hold as limits in \overline{H} . Thus we may assume g to be of the form

$$g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = \sum_{k=0}^{K} a_k(E, \bar{v}) \cos(2k\pi\theta) + \sum_{k=1}^{K} b_k(E, \bar{v}) \sin(2\pi k\theta)$$
(5.23)

for some $K \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe that $g \perp \ker(\overline{D})$ is equivalent to $a_0 = 0$ on $\overline{\Omega}_0^{E\overline{v}}$. Similarly, g being odd in v_1 is equivalent to $a_k = 0$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and g being odd in x is equivalent to $a_{2k} = 0 = b_{2k+1}$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, i.e., these properties carry over too.

To achieve $g \in D(\overline{D}^2)$, we have to mollify g in the (E, \overline{v}) -direction as well. More precisely, we replace a_k , b_k by approximations \tilde{a}_k , $\tilde{b}_k \in C_c^{\infty}(\operatorname{int}(\overline{\Omega}_0^{E\overline{v}}))$ in (5.23) such that the resulting function \tilde{g} is in $C_c^2(\overline{\Omega}_0)$. Then \tilde{g} and $\overline{D}\tilde{g}$ approximate g and $\overline{D}g$ respectively. In particular, by requiring $\tilde{a}_k = 0$ or $\tilde{b}_k = 0$ if $a_k = 0$ or $b_k = 0$ respectively, the possible parity properties of g carry over to \tilde{g} .

We use Theorem 5.16 to determine the spectrum of $\overline{A} = -(\overline{D}^2 + \overline{B})$ by showing that adding \overline{B} does not change the essential spectrum; see (4.10) for the definition of \overline{B} .

Theorem 5.19. $(-\bar{\mathcal{B}})$ is relatively $(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2)$ -compact. Therefore, by the Weyl theorem,

$$\sigma_{ess}(\bar{\mathcal{A}}) = \sigma_{ess}(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2).$$

Together with Theorem 5.16, this implies that

$$\sigma_{ess}(\bar{\mathcal{A}}) = \left(\frac{2\pi\mathbb{N}_0}{T([U_0(0), E_0])}\right)^2 = 4\pi^2 \left(\frac{\mathbb{N}_0}{T([U_0(0), E_0])}\right)^2,$$
(5.24)

where $\bar{\mathcal{A}}$ denotes the operator on the whole space $D(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2)$ with no symmetry restrictions. In addition,

$$\sigma_{ess}(\bar{\mathcal{A}}\big|_{\bar{\mathcal{H}}}) = 4\pi^2 \left(\frac{2\mathbb{N}}{T([U_0(0), E_0])}\right)^2;$$
(5.25)

recall that $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ denotes the functions in \overline{H} which are odd in v_1 and x. Here, $\min(\mathbb{N}) = 1$, $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

Proof. Since \overline{B} is continuous on \overline{H} and \overline{D}^2 is self-adjoint with non-empty resolvent set, the claimed relative compactness is equivalent to the operator

$$-\bar{\mathcal{B}}: \left(\mathbf{D}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2), \|\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 \cdot\|_{\bar{H}} + \|\cdot\|_{\bar{H}} \right) \to \bar{H}$$
(5.26)

being compact; we refer to the proof of Theorem 5.9 for more details. Let $(g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset D(\bar{D}^2)$ be such that $(g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(\bar{D}^2g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ are bounded in \bar{H} . Then $(\bar{D}g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \bar{H}$ is also bounded, see Corollary 5.17. Thus, $(U'_{\bar{D}g_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(U''_{\bar{D}g_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ are bounded in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ due to (A.3), and $\sup (U'_{\bar{D}g_k})$, $\sup (U''_{\bar{D}g_k}) \subset [-R_0, R_0]$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, the compact embedding $H^1([-R_0, R_0]) \subseteq L^2([-R_0, R_0])$ yields that $(U'_{\bar{D}g_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges strongly in $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, at least after extracting a subsequence. Representing $\bar{\mathcal{B}}$ as in (4.13) and rewriting the *v*-integral as in (4.12) then gives $\|\bar{\mathcal{B}}g_k - \bar{\mathcal{B}}g_l\|_{\bar{H}}^2 \to 0$ as $k, l \to \infty$. We therefore conclude that $(\bar{\mathcal{B}}g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is strongly convergent in \bar{H} .

Translating oddness in v_1 or x into the θ -coordinate allows us to conclude the statements for the restriction of \overline{A} onto \overline{H} .

As in the spherically symmetric case, these sets contain a finite number of gaps iff *T* is non-constant. The precise form of the sets depends on the steady state and the behavior of the period function *T*; see Remark 5.10. In any case, the boundedness of *T* from above (Proposition 2.8) again yields the existence of a gap in the essential spectrum of \overline{A} at the origin which we refer to as the *principal gap*.

6. Kurth Solutions

In this section we present two families of semi-explicit, time dependent solutions which are exactly time-periodic and arise by a suitable perturbation of a corresponding steady state. The first family solves the spherically symmetric Vlasov-Poisson system and was introduced by R. Kurth [39]. The second family is the analogue for the plane symmetric case. We are in particular interested in the relation of the period of the time-periodic solutions close to the corresponding steady state and the orbital period(s) of the particles in the steady state configuration itself. The latter will give us a first intuition of where the eigenvalue of the linearized operator corresponding to the aforementioned oscillations can be positioned relative to the essential spectrum.

6.1. The spherically symmetric Kurth family

Following Kurth [39] we define, in the spherically symmetric situation,

$$f_0(x,v) := \frac{3}{4\pi^3} \begin{cases} \left(1 - |x|^2 - |v|^2 + |x \times v|^2\right)^{-1/2}, & \text{where } (\ldots) > 0\\ & \text{and } |x \times v| < 1,\\ 0 & , & \text{else}; \end{cases}$$

see also [60, Section 1.3]. An easy calculation shows that f_0 is a stationary solution of the radial Vlasov-Poisson system corresponding to the ansatz function

$$\varphi(E,L) = \frac{3}{4\pi^3} \begin{cases} (-2 - 2E + L)^{-1/2} , \text{ where } (\ldots) > 0 \text{ and } L < 1, \\ 0 , \text{ else;} \end{cases}$$

we emphasize the fact that f_0 is singular at the boundary of its support. Setting

$$f(t, x, v) := f_0\left(\frac{x}{R(t)}, R(t)v - \dot{R}(t)x\right)$$
(6.1)

embeds this steady state into a family of time-periodic solutions, with spatial mass density

$$\rho(t) = \frac{3}{4\pi} \frac{1}{R^3(t)} \mathbb{1}_{B_{R(t)}},$$

provided the function R(t) solves the differential equation

$$\ddot{R} - \frac{1}{R^3} + \frac{1}{R^2} = 0.$$
(6.2)

We supplement this equation with initial data

$$R(0) = 1, \ \dot{R}(0) = \gamma. \tag{6.3}$$

For $\gamma = 0$ we find that R(t) = 1 is constant and recover the steady state f_0 . For $0 < |\gamma| < 1$, the solution is time-periodic, which can be seen as follows. The equation has the conserved quantity

$$\frac{1}{2}\dot{R}^2 + \frac{1}{2R^2} - \frac{1}{R} = const = \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 - \frac{1}{2} =: E_{\gamma}.$$

The behavior of the corresponding potential $\frac{1}{2R^2} - \frac{1}{R}$ implies that energy levels $-\frac{1}{2} < E_{\gamma} < 0$, i.e., $0 < |\gamma| < 1$, correspond to closed orbits and non-trivial, time-periodic solutions of (6.2). Their periods are given by

$$P(\gamma) = 2 \int_{R_{-}(\gamma)}^{R_{+}(\gamma)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{2E_{\gamma} + \frac{2}{r} - \frac{1}{r^{2}}}}$$

= $\frac{2}{\sqrt{-2E_{\gamma}}} \int_{R_{-}(\gamma)}^{R_{+}(\gamma)} \frac{r \,\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{(R_{+}(\gamma) - r)(r - R_{-}(\gamma))}},$ (6.4)

where $0 < R_{-}(\gamma) < R_{+}(\gamma)$ are the two positive roots of the polynomial $2E_{\gamma}r^{2} + 2r - 1$. In the integral in (6.4), $R_{-}(\gamma) \le r \le R_{+}(\gamma)$, and the remaining integral is equal to π . Hence the fact that these roots converge to 1 as $\gamma \to 0$ implies that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to 0} P(\gamma) = 2\pi$$

On the other hand, a straight-forward calculation shows that the radial particle period of all the particles in the steady state equals π , i.e.,

$$T(E, L) = \pi, \quad (E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}.$$

In view of the spectral considerations of the previous section, this means that the eigenvalue corresponding to the limiting period 2π lies in the principal gap of the essential spectrum of the linearized operator. Note that the Kurth steady state does not satisfy our general assumptions, but the results from Sect. 5.1 are still expected to hold true in the Kurth setting. However, the discrepancy between the limiting period and the period of the particle trajectories is only present when restricting the latter to the radial motion. When the particle trajectories are considered in (x, v)-coordinates, all particles have period 2π , caused by an azimuthal period of 2π . This illustrates that the restriction to the spherically symmetric setting may be important when searching for isolated eigenvalues in the principal gap of the essential spectrum.

6.2. A planar Kurth-type family

Let

$$f_0(x,v) := \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \left(1 - x^2 - v_1^2 \right)_+^{-1/2} \beta(\bar{v})$$

for $(x, v) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3$, where β is as specified in Sect. 2.2, in particular $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \beta = 1$; also recall (1.20). Then $f_0(x, v) = 0$ if $|x| \ge 1$, and for |x| < 1 the induced spatial density becomes

$$\rho_0(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f_0(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{v_1^2 < 1 - x^2} \left(1 - x^2 - v_1^2 \right)^{-1/2} \mathrm{d}v_1$$
$$= \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{x^2}^1 \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta}{\sqrt{1 - \eta}\sqrt{\eta - x^2}} = \frac{1}{4\pi}$$

so that

$$\rho_0 = \frac{1}{4\pi} \mathbb{1}_{]-1,1[}.$$

This density induces the potential

$$U_0(x) = 2\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} |x - y| \,\rho_0(y) \,\mathrm{d}y = \begin{cases} x , x \ge 1, \\ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + x^2\right), & -1 < x < 1, \\ -x , & x \le -1, \end{cases}$$

and

$$U'_0(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & , x \ge 1, \\ x & , -1 < x < 1, \\ -1 & , x \le -1. \end{cases}$$

On the support of f_0 the particle energy *E* takes the form

$$E(x, v_1) = \frac{1}{2}v_1^2 + U_0(x) = \frac{1}{2}\left(1 + x^2 + v_1^2\right),$$

i.e., f_0 only depends on the conserved quantities E and \bar{v} via the ansatz function

$$\varphi(E, \bar{v}) = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}\pi^2} (1 - E)_+^{-1/2} \beta(\bar{v}).$$

With the exception of the factor $(4\sqrt{2}\pi^2)^{-1}$, which we inserted to make f_0 look similar to the radial case, φ is exactly of the polytropic form (2.18) with index $k = -\frac{1}{2}$. In particular, f_0 indeed induces a stationary solution of the planar Vlasov-Poisson system (1.11)–(1.13).

As in the spherically symmetric setting, we embed this steady state into a family of time-periodic solutions

$$f(t, x, v) := f_0\left(\frac{x}{R(t)}, R(t)v_1 - \dot{R}(t)x, \bar{v}\right),$$

where the function R(t) still needs to be determined. This phase space density induces the spatial density

$$\rho(t, x) = \frac{1}{R(t)} \rho_0\left(\frac{x}{R(t)}\right)$$

and potential

$$U(t, x) = R(t) U_0\left(\frac{x}{R(t)}\right),$$

so that

$$U'(t,x) = U'_0\left(\frac{x}{R(t)}\right).$$

Substituting all this into the Vlasov equation and observing that f_0 satisfies the stationary Vlasov equation with potential U_0 we see that f satisfies the Vlasov equation with its induced potential U, iff

$$\ddot{R} - \frac{1}{R^3} + 1 = 0. \tag{6.5}$$

We again supplement this with the initial data (6.3); the choice $\gamma = 0$ recovers the steady state f_0 . For $\gamma \neq 0$ the solution is time-periodic, which can be seen similarly to the radial setting. Along solutions of (6.5) the following quantity is conserved:

$$\frac{1}{2}\dot{R}^2 + \frac{1}{2R^2} + R = const = \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 + \frac{3}{2} =: E_{\gamma}.$$
(6.6)

The corresponding potential $\frac{1}{2R^2} + R$ has a unique, strict, global minimum at R = 1 and becomes infinite both for $R \to 0$ and $R \to \infty$. Hence every level set of the energy (6.6) with $E_{\gamma} > \frac{3}{2}$, i.e., $\gamma \neq 0$, corresponds to a closed orbit and a non-trivial, time-periodic solution of (6.5) with data (6.3).

We now want to determine the period of the above time-periodic solutions in the limit $\gamma \rightarrow 0$ and compare it to the periods of the particle trajectories in the steady state. As to the latter, they are given as the solutions to

$$\ddot{x} = -x$$

i.e.,

$$T(E) = 2\pi, \quad \frac{1}{2} < E \le 1.$$

The period of the time-periodic solution depends on γ and is given as

$$P(\gamma) = 2 \int_{R_{-}(\gamma)}^{R_{+}(\gamma)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{2E_{\gamma} - 2r - 1/r^{2}}} = 2 \int_{R_{-}(\gamma)}^{R_{+}(\gamma)} \frac{r \,\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{2E_{\gamma}r^{2} - 2r^{3} - 1}}$$

Here $0 < R_{-}(\gamma) < R_{+}(\gamma)$ are the two positive roots of the cubic polynomial

$$p_{\gamma}(r) = 2E_{\gamma}r^2 - 2r^3 - 1;$$

notice that $p'_{\gamma}(r) = 0$ for r = 0 and $r = \frac{2}{3}E_{\gamma}$ and $p_{\gamma}(\frac{2}{3}E_{\gamma}) > 0$ if $E_{\gamma} > \frac{3}{2}$, i.e., $\gamma \neq 0$. If we denote the third, negative root of p_{γ} by $r^*(\gamma)$, we can factor the polynomial p_{γ} and conclude that

$$r^*(\gamma) = -\frac{1}{2R_+(\gamma)R_-(\gamma)}.$$

Hence,

$$P(\gamma) = \sqrt{2} \int_{R_{-}(\gamma)}^{R_{+}(\gamma)} \frac{r \, \mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{(R_{+}(\gamma) - r)(r - R_{-}(\gamma))(r - r^{*}(\gamma))}}.$$

Now we observe that

$$\int_{R_{-}(\gamma)}^{R_{+}(\gamma)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{(R_{+}(\gamma) - r)(r - R_{-}(\gamma))}} = \pi$$

Using the fact that the function $r/\sqrt{r-r^*(\gamma)}$ is strictly increasing on $[0, \infty[$, we obtain the estimate

$$\sqrt{2\pi} \frac{R_-(\gamma)}{\sqrt{R_-(\gamma) - r^*(\gamma)}} < P(\gamma) < \sqrt{2\pi} \frac{R_+(\gamma)}{\sqrt{R_+(\gamma) - r^*(\gamma)}}.$$

For $\gamma \to 0$, both $R_+(\gamma) \to 1$ and $R_-(\gamma) \to 1$, and thus

$$\lim_{\gamma \to 0} P(\gamma) = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{3}}.$$

In contrast to the radial case, the limiting period is strictly smaller than the period of the particle trajectories. In the light of the spectral analysis this means that the eigenvalue corresponding to the limiting period $2\pi/\sqrt{3}$ is not in the principal gap of the planar linearized operator—again assuming that the results from Sect. 5.2 also apply to the plane symmetric Kurth steady state. However, when restricting \overline{A} to the space of functions being odd in v_1 and x, the aforementioned eigenvalue lies in the principal gap since the non-zero bottom of the essential spectrum quadruples, see (5.25). This shows that assuming oddness in v_1 and x can be beneficial in the search for eigenvalues; note that such symmetries are needed for a function to be plane symmetric in the sense of (1.10) anyway.

7. The Spectral Gap

We show that the spectra of A and \overline{A} are contained in $[0, \infty]$ (Corollaries 7.2 and 7.8) and then characterize the respective nullspaces (Corollary 7.3 and Theorem 7.9). In particular, we show that the whole spectra posses a gap at the origin; in the plane symmetric case we restrict the linearized operator \overline{A} appropriately to obtain the latter results.

In both the radial and planar setting, the above results are all based on certain forms of Antonov's coercivity bound.

7.1. Spherically symmetric case

Let \mathcal{A} denote the self-adjoint Antonov operator on H with domain $D(\mathcal{D}^2)$; similar statements hold true for its restriction to H^{odd} . First, we restate Antonov's coercivity bound:

Proposition 7.1. For $g \in C^2_{c,r}(\Omega_0)$ odd in v,

$$\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H \ge \int_{\Omega_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E, L)|} \frac{U_0'(r)}{r} |g(x, v)|^2 d(x, v).$$
 (7.1)

An estimate of the above type was first shown by V. A. Antonov [2]. For recent proofs we refer the reader to [26, Lemma 1.1] or [42, (4.6)]. In the former reference the result is only proven for isotropic steady states, but the same proof can also be applied to show the coercivity bound for general linearly stable models and then provides a sharper estimate than the one stated above. We use (7.1) to deduce the following two corollaries:

Corollary 7.2. *The quadratic form associated with* A *is non-negative on* D(D)*. Thus,* $\sigma(A) \subset [0, \infty[$.

Proof. We split $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$ into its even and odd part in v as in (3.1) and use an approximation argument to extend Antonov's coercivity bound to $D(\mathcal{D})$ (see for example [61, Proposition 2]) to obtain $\langle \mathcal{A}(g_{-}), g_{-} \rangle_{H} \geq 0$. On the other hand, $\mathcal{B}(g_{+}) = 0$, and therefore $\langle \mathcal{A}(g_{+}), g_{+} \rangle_{H} \geq 0$. Since the odd and even subspaces are orthogonal to each other and $\mathcal{A}(g_{\pm}) = (\mathcal{A}g)_{\pm}$ since \mathcal{D}^{2} preserves v-parity, we conclude that

$$\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H = \langle \mathcal{A}(g_+), g_+ \rangle_H + \langle \mathcal{A}(g_-), g_- \rangle_H \ge 0.$$

For the equivalence of the non-negativity of the quadratic form of \mathcal{A} and $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \subset [0, \infty[$ we refer to [29, Proposition 5.12].

Corollary 7.3. $\ker(\mathcal{A}) = \ker(\mathcal{D}).$

Proof. The representation (4.6) of \mathcal{B} immediately yields ker(\mathcal{D}) \subset ker(\mathcal{A}).

Conversely, if Ag = 0 for some $g \in D(D^2)$, we split g into its even and odd part w.r.t. v as in (3.1) to obtain

$$0 = (\mathcal{A}g)_{+} = -\mathcal{D}^{2}(g_{+}), \tag{7.2}$$

$$0 = (\mathcal{A}g)_{-} = -\mathcal{D}^{2}(g_{-}) - \mathcal{B}(g_{-}).$$
(7.3)

We then extend Proposition 7.1 to $D(D^2)$ by approximation to obtain $g_- = 0$. For the approximation process, note that the weight $\frac{U'_0(r)}{r}$ is positive and bounded on the radial support, in particular $\lim_{r\to 0} \frac{U'_0(r)}{r} = U''_0(0) = \frac{4\pi}{3}\rho_0(0) < \infty$ if the steady state does not have an inner radial vacuum region.

On the other hand, (7.2) implies $\|\mathcal{D}(g_+)\|_H^2 = \overline{0}$ and therefore $g_+ \in \ker(\mathcal{D})$, i.e., overall we conclude that $g \in \ker(\mathcal{D})$.

One approach to get a positive eigenvalue of A restricted to H^{odd} is to show that

$$\lambda_1 := \inf_{\substack{g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{D}) \setminus \{0\}\\g \perp \ker(\mathcal{D})}} \frac{\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H}{\|g\|_H^2}$$
(7.4)

is positive, i.e., $\lambda_1 > 0$, and that the infimum is obtained by some odd-in-v function.

While the existence of eigenvalues will be approached in Sect. 8 by a different method, we next show $\lambda_1 > 0$; the positivity of λ_1 however is a useful tool for Sect. 8. First, we consider the following intermediate variational problem:

Proposition 7.4. Let

$$\tilde{\lambda} := \inf_{\substack{g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{D}) \\ g \notin \ker(\mathcal{D})}} \frac{\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H}{\|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2} = \inf_{\substack{g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{D}) \\ g \notin \ker(\mathcal{D})}} 1 - \frac{\|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2}{4\pi \|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2}.$$

Then $0 < \tilde{\lambda} < 1$ and the infimum is obtained by a minimizer.

Proof. Let $(g_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(\mathcal{D})$ be a minimizing sequence, i.e., $\|\mathcal{D}g_k\|_H^2 = 1$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\langle \mathcal{A}g_k, g_k \rangle_H \to \tilde{\lambda}$ as $k \to \infty$.

Convergence of the potentials. Due to Sect. A.1 in the appendix, $U_{\mathcal{D}g_k} \in C \cap H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(U_{\mathcal{D}g_k})_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ by (A.1). Let $\psi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ be such that $U_{\mathcal{D}g_k} \rightharpoonup \psi$ in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ as $k \rightarrow \infty$ after extracting a subsequence.

(A.2) yields supp $(\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g_k}) \subset B_{R_0}(0)$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and therefore supp $(\nabla \psi) \subset B_{R_0}(0)$. Together with the compact embedding $H^2(B_{R_0}(0)) \Subset H^1(B_{R_0}(0))$ we obtain

$$\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}_{g_k}} \to \nabla \psi \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3), \ k \to \infty.$$

Convergence of $(\mathcal{D}g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$. $(\mathcal{D}g_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in H. Thus, there exists $h \in H$ such that $\mathcal{D}g_k \rightharpoonup h$ in H as $k \rightarrow \infty$, again after extracting a subsequence.

The connection between the above limits. Using (2.5), it follows from the above step that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathcal{D}g_k(\cdot, v) \, \mathrm{d}v = \rho_{\mathcal{D}g_k} \rightharpoonup \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} h(\cdot, v) \, \mathrm{d}v \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^3), \ k \to \infty.$$

As before, we extend all functions by 0. Since $\Delta U_{\mathcal{D}g_k} = 4\pi \rho_{\mathcal{D}g_k}$, the uniqueness of weak limits in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ then yields

$$\Delta \psi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} h(\cdot, v) \, \mathrm{d}v \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

From this equality it follows that $\psi = U_h$, where $U_h := -\frac{1}{|\cdot|} * \rho_h$ is the gravitational potential induced by $\rho_h := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} h(\cdot, v) \, dv$. To see this, first note $\rho_h \in L^1 \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ since supp $(\rho_h) \subset B_{R_0}(0)$. Then basic potential theory yields $U_h \in L^6(\mathbb{R}^3)$. On the other hand, $\psi \in L^6(\mathbb{R}^3)$ by the embedding $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \hookrightarrow L^6(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Thus, $u := U_h - \psi \in L^6(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and u is harmonic. The mean value property of harmonic functions then yields u = 0, i.e., $\psi = U_h$.

The minimizer. Since $\mathcal{D}g_k \in \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{D}) \subset \ker(\mathcal{D})^{\perp}$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ by the skewadjointness of \mathcal{D} , we also have $h \perp \ker(\mathcal{D})$. By Lemma 5.5 there exists $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$ such that $\mathcal{D}g = h$. Then the above convergences imply that

$$1 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2 = 1 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\nabla\psi\|_2^2 = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(1 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g_k}\|_2^2\right) = \tilde{\lambda}.$$

If $\|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2 = 0$ we would instantly get $\tilde{\lambda} = 1$. However, this contradicts the fact that we can easily choose some $f \in D(\mathcal{D}) \setminus \ker(\mathcal{D})$ such that $\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}f} \neq 0$.

Thus, $\|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2 > 0$, in particular, $\mathcal{D}g \neq 0$. This means that g can be taken as a test function in the infimum $\tilde{\lambda}$, leading to

$$1 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2 = \tilde{\lambda} \le 1 - \frac{\|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2}{4\pi \|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2}$$

i.e., $\|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}^{2} \geq 1$. On the other hand, the weak lower semicontinuity of L^{2} -norms yields

$$\|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}^{2} \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \|\mathcal{D}g_{k}\|_{H}^{2} = 1.$$

Overall, $\|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}^{2} = 1$ and therefore

$$\tilde{\lambda} = 1 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\partial_x U_{\mathcal{D}g}\|_2^2 = \langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H = \frac{\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H}{\|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2},$$

i.e., g is the desired minimizer.

The techniques we employed in the above proof are similar to the ones used for Schrödinger type operators [44, Chapter 11] and for the Guo-Lin operator, see [23, Lemma 3.1] and [65, Proposition 4.8].

We now apply Proposition 7.4 together with the Poincaré inequality from Corollary 5.8 to estimate λ_1 .

Theorem 7.5. The constant λ_1 defined in (7.4) is strictly positive. In particular,

$$\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \setminus \{0\} \subset [\lambda_1, \infty[, \qquad (7.5)$$

i.e, there is a gap in the spectrum of A*.*

Proof. Combining Proposition 7.4 and Corollary 5.8 yields

$$\langle \mathcal{A}g, g \rangle_H \ge \tilde{\lambda} \|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2 \ge \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{FL}}^2(T)} \tilde{\lambda} \|g\|_H^2$$
(7.6)

for every $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$ with $g \perp \ker(\mathcal{D})$. Therefore

$$\lambda_1 \ge \tilde{\lambda} \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup_{\hat{\Delta}_0^{EL}}^2(T)} > 0.$$

To conclude (7.5), recall that we have explicitly characterized the essential spectrum of \mathcal{A} in Theorem 5.9. In particular, every element of $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ within the principal gap \mathcal{G} has to be an eigenvalue. Since \mathcal{A} is self-adjoint, eigenfunctions corresponding to different eigenvalues are orthogonal to each other and the eigenspace of the eigenvalue 0 equals ker(\mathcal{D}), see Corollary 7.3. Thus, applying (7.6) to an eigenfunction of a non-zero eigenvalue indeed yields (7.5).

Remark 7.6. (a) Since $H^{odd} \subset \ker(\mathcal{D})^{\perp}$, the spectrum of the restricted operator $\mathcal{A}: H^{odd} \cap D(\mathcal{D}^2) \to H^{odd}$ is bounded from below by $\lambda_1 > 0$.

(b) A non-zero, odd-in-v function where equality holds in (7.6) also constitutes a minimizer to the variational problem (7.4). However, (7.6) contains the two separate variational problems Theorem 5.9 and Proposition 7.4 with differing minimizers, which is why we do not pursue this approach any further.

7.2. Plane symmetric case

We now turn our attention to the planar linearized operator \overline{A} : $D(\overline{D}^2) \rightarrow \overline{H}$, see Definition 4.9. First, we prove a coercivity bound analogous to Proposition 7.1 in the radial setting.

Proposition 7.7. Let $g \in C_c^2(\overline{\Omega}_0)$ be odd in v_1 .

(a) $\langle \bar{A}g, g \rangle_{\bar{H}} \ge 0.$ (b) If g is also odd in x,

$$\langle \bar{\mathcal{A}}g, g \rangle_{\bar{H}} \ge 3 \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} \frac{U_0'(x)}{x} |g(x, v)|^2 d(x, v).$$
 (7.7)

Proof. We proceed similarly to [26, Proof of Lemma 1.1]: For every $g \in C_c^2(\bar{\Omega}_0)$,

$$\begin{split} \langle \bar{\mathcal{B}}g, g \rangle_{\bar{H}} &= 4\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1 g(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v \right)^2 \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq 4\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1^2 \left| \varphi'(E, \bar{v}) \right| \, \mathrm{d}v \right) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|g(x, v)|^2}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} \, \mathrm{d}v \right) \mathrm{d}x \\ &= 4\pi \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \rho_0(x) \frac{|g(x, v)|^2}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} \, \mathrm{d}(x, v), \end{split}$$

where we used (4.12) for the last equality. Thus,

$$\langle \bar{\mathcal{A}}g, g \rangle_{\bar{H}} \ge \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} \left(|\bar{\mathcal{D}}g(x, v)|^2 - 4\pi\rho_0(x) |g(x, v)|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}(x, v).$$
 (7.8)

For (a) consider

$$\mu(x,v) := \frac{1}{v_1} g(x,v), \quad (x,v) \in \bar{\Omega}_0.$$

Since g is odd in v_1 , we obtain $\mu \in C_c^2(\bar{\Omega}_0)$. Furthermore, $\bar{\mathcal{D}}g = v_1\bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu + \mu\bar{\mathcal{D}}v_1$ and therefore

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\mathcal{D}}g|^2 &= v_1^2 |\bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu|^2 + v_1 \bar{\mathcal{D}} \left(\mu^2\right) \bar{\mathcal{D}}v_1 + \mu^2 |\bar{\mathcal{D}}v_1|^2 \\ &= v_1^2 |\bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu|^2 + \bar{\mathcal{D}} \left(v_1 \mu^2 \bar{\mathcal{D}}v_1\right) + 4\pi g^2 \rho_0. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\langle \bar{\mathcal{A}}g,g\rangle_{\bar{H}} \geq \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})|} v_1^2 |\bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu(x,v)|^2 d(x,v) \geq 0;$$

note that there are no boundary terms when we integrate by parts to obtain

$$\int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E,\bar{v})|} \,\bar{\mathcal{D}}\left(v_1 \mu^2 \bar{\mathcal{D}} v_1\right) \mathsf{d}(x,v) = 0.$$
(7.9)

For part (b) we consider

$$\mu(x,v) := \frac{1}{v_1 x} g(x,v), \quad (x,v) \in \bar{\Omega}_0;$$

 $\mu \in C_c^2(\bar{\Omega}_0)$, since g is odd in x and v_1 . As in the first part, $\bar{\mathcal{D}}g = v_1 x \bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu + \mu \bar{\mathcal{D}}(v_1 x)$ and hence

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\mathcal{D}}g|^2 &= v_1^2 x^2 |\bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu|^2 + \bar{\mathcal{D}} \left(v_1 x \, \mu^2 \bar{\mathcal{D}} \left(v_1 x \right) \right) - v_1 x \, \mu^2 \bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 (v_1 x) \\ &= v_1^2 x^2 |\bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu|^2 + \bar{\mathcal{D}} \left(v_1 x \, \mu^2 \bar{\mathcal{D}} \left(v_1 x \right) \right) + 4\pi g^2 \rho_0 + 3g^2 \frac{U_0'}{x}. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\langle \bar{\mathcal{A}}g, g \rangle_{\bar{H}} \ge \int_{\bar{\Omega}_0} \frac{1}{|\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|} \left(v_1^2 x^2 |\bar{\mathcal{D}}\mu(x, v)|^2 + 3 \frac{U_0'(x)}{x} |g(x, v)|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}(x, v),$$

where we again integrated by parts similarly to (7.9); note that the boundary terms at x = 0 vanish since g is odd in x.

We again obtain the positivity of \overline{A} :

Corollary 7.8. The quadratic form associated with \overline{A} is non-negative on $D(\overline{D})$. Thus, $\sigma(\overline{A}) \subset [0, \infty[$.

Proof. We split $g \in D(\overline{D})$ into its even and odd part g_{\pm} in v_1 analogously to (3.1). Then $\langle \overline{A}(g_+), g_+ \rangle_{\overline{H}} \geq 0$ since $\overline{B}(g_+) = 0$. On the other hand, an approximation argument (as in Remark 5.18) allows us to extend Proposition 7.7 (a) onto functions in $D(\overline{D})$ which are odd in v_1 , i.e., $\langle A(g_-), g_- \rangle_{\overline{H}} \geq 0$.

Theorem 7.9. There exists c > 0 such that for all $g \in D(\overline{D}) \cap \overline{H}$,

$$\langle \bar{\mathcal{A}}g, g \rangle_{\bar{H}} \ge c \|g\|_{\bar{H}}^2.$$

In particular, the kernel of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$: $D(\overline{\mathcal{D}}^2) \cap \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is trivial.

Proof. Approximating as in Remark 5.18 allows us to extend the coercivity bound (7.7) to $D(\bar{D}) \cap \bar{\mathcal{H}}$; note that the weight $\frac{U'_0(x)}{x}$ is bounded on \mathbb{R} , since $\lim_{x\to 0} \frac{U'_0(x)}{x} = U''_0(0) = 4\pi\rho_0(0) < \infty$. Furthermore, $\frac{U'_0(x)}{x}$ is bounded away from zero on the support of the steady state since $\rho_0(0) > 0$, which implies the above estimate.

In particular, the spectrum of \overline{A} : $D(\overline{D}) \cap \overline{H} \to \overline{H}$ is bounded away from zero, cf. [29, Proposition 5.12]. The proof of this result in the plane symmetric setting is easier than in the radial case since $\rho_0(0) > 0$ here.

8. Existence of Eigenvalues

As explained in the introduction, S. Mathur [52] used a version of the Birman-Schwinger principle to show the existence of periodic solutions to the linearized Vlasov-Poisson system in the presence of an external potential. In this section we use this approach to derive a criterion for the existence of periodic oscillations without such an external potential. More precisely, we are interested in the existence of eigenfunctions for the operators \mathcal{A} and $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$, see Definitions 4.4 and 4.9 respectively. In the radial case, we seek an eigenfunction which is odd in v/w, in the planar case the eigenfunction has to be plane symmetric in the sense of (1.10). This is why we always restrict \mathcal{A} to odd functions in this section, i.e., by \mathcal{A} we denote

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}\big|_{H^{odd}} \colon \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{D}^2) \cap H^{odd} \to H^{odd},$$

 D^2 and B are restricted accordingly; see Sect. 4.1 for the definitions of these function spaces and operators.

In the planar setting we restrict the linearized operator \overline{A} onto the functions which are odd in v_1 and x, i.e., by \overline{A} we denote

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \bar{\mathcal{A}} \big|_{\bar{\mathcal{H}}} \colon \mathrm{D}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2) \cap \bar{\mathcal{H}} \to \bar{\mathcal{H}},$$

 \overline{D}^2 and \overline{B} are restricted accordingly; the function spaces and operators are defined in Sect. 4.2, see in particular (4.7) for the definition of \overline{H} .

8.1. Mathur's argument and a criterion for the existence of eigenvalues

We reformulate the eigenvalue problem using a Birman-Schwinger type argument. For $g \in H^{odd} \cap D(\mathcal{D}^2)$ and $\lambda \notin \sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A})$ let

$$h := \left(-\mathcal{D}^2 - \lambda\right)g \in H^{odd}.$$

Since $\sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A}) = \sigma_{ess}(-\mathcal{D}^2) = \sigma(-\mathcal{D}^2)$, the resolvent operator

$$R_{-\mathcal{D}^2}(\lambda) := \left(-\mathcal{D}^2 - \lambda\right)^{-1} : H^{odd} \to H^{odd}$$

is bounded and we can recover g from h via $g = R_{-D^2}(\lambda)h$. It is clear that g is an eigenfunction of \mathcal{A} with eigenvalue λ if and only if $(-D^2 - \lambda)g = \mathcal{B}g$, i.e.,

$$h = \mathcal{B}g = \mathcal{B}R_{-\mathcal{D}^2}(\lambda)h.$$

In the planar case, we conclude similarly that $g \in D(\bar{D}^2) \cap \bar{\mathcal{H}}$ is an eigenfunction of $\bar{\mathcal{A}}$ with eigenvalue $\lambda \notin \sigma_{ess}(\bar{\mathcal{A}})$ if and only if $(-\bar{D}^2 - \lambda)g = \bar{\mathcal{B}}g$, or equivalently $h = \bar{\mathcal{B}}R_{-\bar{D}^2}(\lambda)h$ with $h = (-\bar{D}^2 - \lambda)g$. It is therefore natural to introduce the λ -parametrized families of operators

$$Q_{\lambda} := \mathcal{B}R_{-\mathcal{D}^2}(\lambda) \colon H^{odd} \to H^{odd}, \tag{8.1}$$

$$\bar{Q}_{\lambda} := \bar{\mathcal{B}}R_{-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2}(\lambda) \colon \bar{\mathcal{H}} \to \bar{\mathcal{H}}.$$
(8.2)

Before proving some general properties of these operators in Lemma 8.3 we first discuss the connection between their eigenvalues and the ones of \mathcal{A} and $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ respectively. We have shown above that λ is an eigenvalue of $\mathcal{A}(\overline{\mathcal{A}})$ if and only if 1 is an eigenvalue of $Q_{\lambda}(\overline{Q}_{\lambda})$. In fact, it is easy to see that the following lemma holds.

Lemma 8.1. Let $\lambda \notin \sigma_{ess}(\mathcal{A})$ ($\lambda \notin \sigma_{ess}(\bar{\mathcal{A}})$) and $\mu \geq 1$. Then λ is an eigenvalue of $-\mathcal{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{B}(-\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\bar{\mathcal{B}})$ if and only if μ is an eigenvalue of $Q_{\lambda}(\bar{Q}_{\lambda})$.

Lemma 8.1 is simply a version of the Birman-Schwinger principle [44]. The spectral properties of the Antonov operators derived in the previous sections yield the following connection between eigenvalues in the principal gap of $-D^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}B$ $(-\bar{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\bar{B})$ and $A(\bar{A})$.

Lemma 8.2. (a) If there exists $\mu \ge 1$ such that $-\mathcal{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{B}$ possesses an eigenvalue in the principal gap

$$\mathcal{G} = \left] 0, \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}}^2(T)} \right[, \qquad (8.3)$$

then A also has an eigenvalue in G.

(b) If there exists $\mu \ge 1$ such that $-\overline{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\overline{B}$ possesses an eigenvalue in the principal gap

$$\bar{\mathcal{G}} := \left] 0, 4 \frac{4\pi^2}{T^2(E_0)} \right[, \tag{8.4}$$

then $\bar{\mathcal{A}}$ also has an eigenvalue in $\bar{\mathcal{G}}$.

Proof. For part (a), $\mathcal{B} \ge 0$ (in the sense of quadratic forms, see [29, Definition 5.11]) and $\frac{1}{\mu} \le 1$ yield $-\mathcal{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{B} \ge \mathcal{A}$. Note that $-\mathcal{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{B}$ is self-adjoint since \mathcal{D}^2 is self-adjoint and \mathcal{B} is bounded and symmetric. By assuming the existence of an eigenvalue of $-\mathcal{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{B}$ in the principal gap, we have $-\mathcal{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{B} < \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup^2(T)}$ id, where < is defined as \ne . Thus, transitivity yields $\mathcal{A} < \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup^2(T)}$ id, which means that

$$\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \not\subset \left[\frac{4\pi^2}{\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_0^{FL}}^2(T)}, \infty \right[,$$

cf. [29]. Since \mathcal{A} is restricted to functions odd in v here, Theorem 7.5 (see also Remark 7.6 (a)) implies $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \subset]0, \infty[$, i.e., we obtain $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap \mathcal{G} \neq \emptyset$. By Theorem 5.9 every element of the spectrum of \mathcal{A} within \mathcal{G} has to be an eigenvalue of \mathcal{A} ; see also [58, Theorem XIII.1].

The proof of part (b) is analogous; the positivity of the resulting eigenvalue is ensured by Theorem 7.9. Recall however that we have restricted the operators onto $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ in the planar setting and the essential spectrum of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ is given by (5.25). In particular, the bottom of the essential spectrum is $4\frac{4\pi^2}{T^2(E_0)}$.

We now investigate the properties of Q_{λ} and \overline{Q}_{λ} for fixed $\lambda \in \rho(-D^2)$ and $\lambda \in \rho(-\overline{D}^2)$ respectively. As usual, $\rho := \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma$ denotes the resolvent set. Since all involved operators are self-adjoint, we always restrict ourselves to real λ .

Lemma 8.3. The operators $Q_{\lambda} \colon H^{odd} \to H^{odd}$ and $\bar{Q}_{\lambda} \colon \bar{\mathcal{H}} \to \bar{\mathcal{H}}$ are both linear, continuous, and compact.

Proof. We only prove the claim for Q_{λ} as the claim for \overline{Q}_{λ} follows analogously. Linearity is obvious, continuity follows by Lemma 4.3 together with the boundedness of the resolvent operator $R_{-D^2}(\lambda)$ in the case $\lambda \in \rho(-D^2)$. The compactness of Q_{λ} is equivalent to the relative $(-D^2)$ -compactness of \mathcal{B} , see Theorem 5.9 (and [29, Definition 14.1]).

Since $\operatorname{im}(Q_{\lambda}) \subset \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{B})$, it is of interest to characterize measurable functions $G \colon [0, \infty[\to \mathbb{R} \text{ such that } g(r, w, L) = |\varphi'(E, L)| w G(r) \in H$; recall the definition of \mathcal{B} in (4.4).

Lemma 8.4. (a) If a spherically symmetric $g: \Omega_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ is of the form $g(r, w, L) = |\varphi'(E, L)| w G(r)$, then

$$g \in H \Leftrightarrow \int_0^\infty r^2 \,\rho_0(r) \, G^2(r) \, \mathrm{d}r < \infty.$$

In particular, by the boundedness of ρ_0 , $\int_0^\infty r^2 G^2(r) dr < \infty$ implies $g \in H$. (b) If $g: \overline{\Omega}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ is of the form $g(x, v) = |\varphi'(E, \overline{v})| v_1 G(x)$, then

$$g \in \overline{H} \Leftrightarrow \int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho_0(x) \, G^2(x) \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

In particular, by the boundedness of ρ_0 , $\int_{\mathbb{R}} G^2(x) dx < \infty$ implies $g \in \overline{H}$. Furthermore, g is odd in x if and only if G is odd in x.

Proof. As to part (a), Fubini's theorem shows that $g \in H$ is equivalent to

$$\infty > \|g\|_{H}^{2} = 4\pi^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} G^{2}(r) \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} w^{2} |\varphi'(E, L)| \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}r$$
$$= 4\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{2} \rho_{0}(r) \, G^{2}(r) \, \mathrm{d}r,$$

where we used (4.5) for the last equality.

Similarly, for $g: \overline{\Omega}_0 \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$\|g\|_{\bar{H}}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}} G^2(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1^2 |\varphi'(E, \bar{v})| \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho_0(x) \, G^2(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

by (4.12), and part (b) follows.

Let

$$S := \{ r \ge 0 \mid \rho_0(r) \neq 0 \} \subset [0, R_0[, \tag{8.5})$$

$$S := \{ x \in \mathbb{R} \mid \rho_0(x) \neq 0 \} =] - R_0, R_0[, \tag{8.6}$$

denote the spatial support of the respective steady states. Based on the previous lemma, it is natural to introduce the spaces

$$\mathcal{F} := \left\{ G \colon S \to \mathbb{R} \text{ measurable} \mid \int_{S} r^2 \,\rho_0(r) \, G^2(r) \, \mathrm{d}r < \infty \right\}, \qquad (8.7)$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{1} := \left\{ G \colon S \to \mathbb{R} \text{ measurable } | \int_{S} r^{2} G^{2}(r) \, \mathrm{d}r < \infty \right\} \subset \mathcal{F}, \qquad (8.8)$$

and similarly

$$\bar{\mathcal{F}} := \left\{ G \colon \bar{S} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ measurable and odd } \mid \int_{\bar{S}} \rho_0(x) G^2(x) \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty \right\}, \qquad (8.9)$$

$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}_1 := \left\{ G \colon \bar{S} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ measurable and odd } | \int_{\bar{S}} G^2(x) \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty \right\} \subset \bar{\mathcal{F}}.$$
(8.10)

We treat $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_1, \overline{\mathcal{F}}, \overline{\mathcal{F}}_1$ as (subsets of weighted) L^2 -spaces, i.e., we identify functions which are equal a.e. on *S* or \overline{S} respectively. Their norms $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{F}}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{F}_1}, \|\cdot\|_{\overline{\mathcal{F}}}, \|\cdot\|_{\overline{\mathcal{F}$

Definition & Remark 8.5. (The Mathur operators)

(a) Let $G \in \mathcal{F}$ and define $g(r, w, L) := |\varphi'(E, L)| w G(r)$. Then by Lemma 8.4, $g \in H^{odd}$. Since $Q_{\lambda}g \in im(\mathcal{B})$, there exists $F \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $(Q_{\lambda}g)(r, w, L) =$ $|\varphi'(E, L)| w F(r)$ for a.e. $(r, w, L) \in \Omega_0^r$, and F is uniquely determined by G. This defines a map

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda} \colon \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}, \ G \mapsto F.$$

(b) Let $G \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$ and define $g(x, v) := |\varphi'(E, \overline{v})| v_1 G(x)$. Then by Lemma 8.4, $g \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}$. Since $\overline{Q}_{\lambda}g \in \operatorname{im}(\overline{\mathcal{B}})$, there exists a unique $F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$ such that $(\overline{Q}_{\lambda}g)(x, v) = |\varphi'(E, \overline{v})| v_1 F(x)$ for a.e. $(x, v) \in \overline{\Omega}_0$. This defines a map

$$\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda} \colon \bar{\mathcal{F}} \to \bar{\mathcal{F}}, \ G \mapsto F.$$

These operators were introduced by Mathur [52], and we refer to \mathcal{M}_{λ} ($\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}$) as the (*planar*) *Mathur operator*. The following key integral kernel representation of \mathcal{M}_{λ} is essentially also contained in [52].

Proposition 8.6. For any $G \in \mathcal{F}$,

$$(\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G)(r) = \int_{S} K_{\lambda}(r,\sigma) G(\sigma) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \tag{8.11}$$

for a.e. $r \in S$, where

$$K_{\lambda}(r,\sigma) := \frac{32\pi^2}{r^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}(r) \cap \Omega_0^{EL}(\sigma)} \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{T(E,L)}$$
$$\times \frac{\sin(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))\sin(2\pi k\theta(\sigma,E,L))}{\frac{4\pi^2}{T(E,L)^2}k^2 - \lambda} d(E,L)$$
(8.12)

for $r, \sigma > 0$,

$$\Omega_0^{EL}(r) := \left\{ (E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL} \mid r_-(E, L) < r < r_+(E, L) \right\}, \quad r > 0,$$

and θ is defined in (5.3). Moreover, the map $]0, \infty[^2 \ni (r, \sigma) \mapsto K_{\lambda}(r, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}$ is continuous.

Proof. To apply Q_{λ} on $g \in H^{odd}$ defined by $g(r, w, L) = |\varphi'(E, L)| w G(r)$, we first have to apply the resolvent operator $R_{-D^2}(\lambda)$. For this purpose we expand g in its θ -Fourier series (recall that g is odd w.r.t. v):

$$g(\theta, E, L) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_k(E, L) \sin(2\pi k\theta), \qquad (8.13)$$

where

$$b_k(E,L) := 2 \int_0^1 g(\theta, E, L) \sin(2\pi k\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta, \qquad (E,L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}. \tag{8.14}$$

Using (8.13)—which holds as a limit in *H*—now allows us to apply the resolvent operator:

$$(R_{-\mathcal{D}^{2}}(\lambda)g)(\theta, E, L) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E,L)^{2}}k^{2} - \lambda} b_{k}(E, L)\sin(2\pi k\theta)$$
(8.15)

as a limit in H; the representation (8.15) of the resolvent follows by Corollary 5.4.

To apply \mathcal{B} , we change variables via (5.3) and get

$$b_k(E, L) = 4 \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} g(\theta, E, L) \sin(2\pi k\theta) \, d\theta$$

= $4 \frac{|\varphi'(E, L)|}{T(E, L)} \int_{r_-(E, L)}^{r_+(E, L)} G(r) \sin(2\pi k\theta(r, E, L)) \, dr.$ (8.16)

As for \mathcal{B} , observe that for every $f \in H^{odd}$,

$$(\mathcal{B}f)(r, w, L) = 8\pi^2 |\varphi'(E, L)| \frac{w}{r^2} \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}(r)} f(r, \sqrt{2\tilde{E} - 2\Psi_{\tilde{L}}(r)}, \tilde{L}) d(\tilde{E}, \tilde{L}).$$
(8.17)

Inserting $f = R_{-D^2}(\lambda)g$ yields the following for the integral in (8.17) for r > 0:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega_0^{EL}(r)} \left(R_{-\mathcal{D}^2}(\lambda) g \right) (\theta(r, E, L), E, L) \, \mathrm{d}(E, L) \\ &= 4 \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}(r)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{|\varphi'(E, L)|}{T(E, L)} \frac{\sin(2\pi k \theta(r, E, L))}{\frac{4\pi^2}{T(E, L)^2} k^2 - \lambda} \\ &\times \int_{r_-(E, L)}^{r_+(E, L)} G(\sigma) \sin(2\pi k \theta(\sigma, E, L)) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}(E, L) \\ &= 4 \int_0^{\infty} G(\sigma) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\Omega_0^{EL}(r) \cap \Omega_0^{EL}(\sigma)} \frac{|\varphi'(E, L)|}{T(E, L)} \\ &\times \frac{\sin(2\pi k \theta(r, E, L)) \sin(2\pi k \theta(\sigma, E, L))}{\frac{4\pi^2}{T(E, L)^2} k^2 - \lambda} \, \mathrm{d}(E, L) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma, \end{split}$$
(8.18)

where we used (8.15), (8.16), and Fubini's theorem. Note that we switched the infinite sum with the σ -integral and then with the (E, L)-integral in the last equality. Switching with the σ -integral is verified by fixing $(E, L) \in \Omega_0^{EL}(r)$ and observing that the weight $r^2 \rho_0(r)$ is bounded away from 0 on $[r_-(E, L), r_+(E, L)]$ if L > 0, i.e., *G* is integrable over $[r_-(E, L), r_+(E, L)]$. Furthermore, recall that the distance of λ to the essential spectrum of $-\mathcal{D}^2$ is positive. The second switch will be justified below. Together with (8.17) we get the desired representation (8.11) of $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G$.

To prove the continuity of $(r, \sigma) \mapsto K_{\lambda}(r, \sigma)$ we first extend the mapping θ from (5.3) by setting

$$\theta(r, E, L) := 0 \text{ for } r > 0, \ (E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL} \setminus \Omega_0^{EL}(r).$$
(8.19)

Then

$$(r,\sigma) \mapsto \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{T(E,L)} \frac{\sin(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))\sin(2\pi k\theta(\sigma,E,L))}{\frac{4\pi^2}{T(E,L)^2}k^2 - \lambda}$$
(8.20)

is continuous on $]0, \infty[^2$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$. Moreover, there exists a constant C > 0 depending only on λ such that

$$\left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{T(E,L)} \frac{\sin(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))\sin(2\pi k\theta(\sigma,E,L))}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E,L)^{2}}k^{2} - \lambda} \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{\inf_{\hat{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}}(T)} C \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k^{2}} \leq \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{\inf_{\hat{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}}(T)} C \frac{\pi^{2}}{6}$$
(8.21)

for $r, \sigma > 0$, $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$; note $\inf_{\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}}(T) > 0$ by Proposition B.1. This shows that for fixed $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ the limit

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{T(E,L)} \frac{\sin(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))\sin(2\pi k\theta(\sigma,E,L))}{\frac{4\pi^2}{T(E,L)^2}k^2 - \lambda}$$
(8.22)

exists uniformly in $r, \sigma > 0$ and (8.22) defines a continuous function in (r, σ) . Moreover, since $|\varphi'|$ is integrable over Ω_0^{EL} by (2.5) (after changing variables via (5.2)), we conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{T(E,L)} \frac{\sin(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))\sin(2\pi k\theta(\sigma,E,L))}{\frac{4\pi^2}{T(E,L)^2}k^2 - \lambda} d(E,L) \quad (8.23)$$

is also continuous in $r, \sigma > 0$. The dominated convergence theorem and (8.21) yield that we can switch the order of the integral and the infinite sum in (8.23), i.e., it follows that the kernel K_{λ} is indeed continuous on $]0, \infty[^2$.

In the planar case, we can prove an analogous statement by exactly the same method.

Proposition 8.7. For any $G \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$,

$$\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}(G)(x) = \int_{\bar{S}} \bar{K}_{\lambda}(x, y) G(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \tag{8.24}$$

for a.e. $x \in \overline{S}$, where

$$\bar{K}_{\lambda}(x, y) := 32\pi \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\bar{\Omega}_{0}^{E}(x) \cap \bar{\Omega}_{0}^{E}(y)} \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{T(E)} \frac{\sin(4\pi k\theta(x, E))\sin(4\pi k\theta(y, E))}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E)^{2}}(2k)^{2} - \lambda} dE$$
(8.25)

for $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\bar{\Omega}_0^E(x) := \{ E \in]U_0(0), E_0[\mid x_-(E) < x < x_+(E) \}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

and θ is defined in (5.18). Moreover, $\mathbb{R}^2 \ni (x, y) \mapsto \overline{K}_{\lambda}(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}$ is a bounded continuous function. Here α is the microscopic equation of state related to f_0 via (2.14).

Proof. Except for obvious changes the proof is almost identical to the one of Proposition 8.6. The resolvent operator reads

$$\left(R_{-\bar{D}^2}(\lambda)g\right)(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\frac{4\pi^2}{T(E)^2}(2k)^2 - \lambda} b_k(E, \bar{v})\sin(4\pi k\theta), \qquad (8.26)$$

where

$$b_k(E, \bar{v}) := 2 \int_0^1 g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) \sin(4\pi k\theta) \, d\theta \quad \text{and}$$
$$g(\theta, E, \bar{v}) = \sum_{k=1}^\infty b_k(E, \bar{v}) \sin(4\pi k\theta) \tag{8.27}$$

is the θ -Fourier series expansion of $g \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ defined by $g(x, v) = |\varphi'(E, \overline{v})| v_1 G(x)$. Recall that g is odd in x and v_1 , so the Fourier series does not contain any cos-terms nor $\sin(2\pi k \cdot)$ -terms with odd k, see also Remark 5.18. We then follow the proof above and note that the \overline{v} -integral can be computed explicitly since $\varphi'(E, \overline{v}) = \alpha'(E) \beta(\overline{v})$. For the spectral analysis it is beneficial to treat \mathcal{M}_{λ} ($\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}$) as an operator on \mathcal{F}_1 ($\overline{\mathcal{F}}_1$) instead of \mathcal{F} ($\overline{\mathcal{F}}$), since the Mathur operators are symmetric on the former spaces.

Lemma 8.8. Define $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}: \mathcal{F}_{1} \to \mathcal{F}_{1}$ and $\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}: \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1} \to \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}$ by (8.11) and (8.24) respectively. These operators are well-defined, linear, bounded, and self-adjoint. Furthermore, they are Hilbert-Schmidt operators and therefore compact, see e.g. [59, Theorems VI.22 and VI.23].

Proof. For all the claimed properties except of the self-adjointness, it suffices to show that the integrals

$$\int_{S} \int_{S} \frac{r^2}{\sigma^2} K_{\lambda}^2(r,\sigma) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}r, \quad \int_{\bar{S}} \int_{\bar{S}} \bar{K}_{\lambda}^2(x,y) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x \tag{8.28}$$

are finite, since for $G \in \mathcal{F}_1$ we have by Cauchy-Schwarz

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{2} &= \int_{S} r^{2} \left(\int_{S} K_{\lambda}(r,\sigma) G(\sigma) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq \|G\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{2} \int_{S} \int_{S} \frac{r^{2}}{\sigma^{2}} K_{\lambda}^{2}(r,\sigma) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}r; \end{aligned}$$

a similar estimate holds in the planar case.

If the spherically symmetric steady state is of polytropic form (2.2) with $L_0 > 0$, then the spatial support is bounded away from 0 due to the presence of an inner vacuum region. In this case (8.28) is obviously finite since the integrand is bounded on S^2 . In the planar setting, the finiteness of the second integral in (8.28) follows similarly by the boundedness of the integrand as there are no singular terms in (8.25). The finiteness of the first integral in (8.28) for the remaining radial steady states is more challenging but will be shown below. Before that, observe that the symmetry of $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}: \mathcal{F}_1 \to \mathcal{F}_1$ follows from

$$\langle \mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G, F \rangle_{\mathcal{F}} = \int_{S} \int_{S} r^{2} K_{\lambda}(r, \sigma) G(\sigma) F(r) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}r$$

and the symmetry of $r^2 K_{\lambda}(r, \sigma)$ in (r, σ) . The planar case is obvious.

Now consider a radial steady state of King type (2.3) or a polytrope (2.2) with $L_0 = 0$. In particular, $\varphi(E, L) = \varphi(E)$ in both cases, i.e., the steady state is isotropic. For every $f \in L^2(S \times S)$,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{S} \int_{S} \frac{r}{\sigma} K_{\lambda}(r,\sigma) f(r,\sigma) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}r \right| \\ &\leq 32\pi^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E)|}{T(E,L)} \frac{1}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E,L)^{2}} k^{2} - \lambda} \\ &\times \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \left| \frac{\sin(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))}{r} \frac{\sin(2\pi k\theta(\sigma,E,L))}{\sigma} f(r,\sigma) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \\ &\leq 32\pi^{2} \|f\|_{L^{2}(S \times S)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E)|}{T(E,L)} \\ &\times \frac{1}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E,L)^{2}} k^{2} - \lambda} \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \frac{\sin^{2}(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))}{r^{2}} \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \end{split}$$

by inserting (8.12); the following calculations will show that we can switch the infinite sum with the integrals. Thus,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{S} \int_{S} \frac{r^{2}}{\sigma^{2}} K_{\lambda}^{2}(r,\sigma) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq 32\pi^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E)|}{T(E,L)} \frac{1}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E,L)^{2}}k^{2} - \lambda} \\ &\times \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \frac{\sin^{2}(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L))}{r^{2}} \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \\ &\leq \frac{32\pi^{2}}{\inf_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}}(T)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E)|}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E,L)^{2}}k^{2} - \lambda} \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{r^{2}} \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \\ &\leq C \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E)|}{r_{-}(E,L)} \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \end{split}$$

for some constant C > 0 depending on the steady state and λ ; note that T is bounded away from 0 by Proposition B.1 and that the distance between λ and the spectrum of $-D^2$ is positive. To show that the latter integral is finite, recall that $r_-(E, L)$ is defined in Lemma 2.1 as a solution of

$$E = \Psi_L(r_-(E, L)) = U_0(r_-(E, L)) + \frac{L}{2r_-^2(E, L)},$$

which implies

$$\frac{1}{r_{-}(E,L)} = \frac{\sqrt{2E - 2U_0(r_{-}(E,L))}}{\sqrt{L}} \le \sqrt{2} \frac{\sqrt{E_0 - U_0(0)}}{\sqrt{L}}.$$

Thus,

$$\int_{\Omega_0^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E)|}{r_-(E,L)} \, \mathrm{d}(E,L) \le \sqrt{2E_0 - 2U_0(0)} \int_0^{L_{max}} \frac{\mathrm{d}L}{\sqrt{L}} \int_{U_0(0)}^{E_0} |\varphi'(E)| \, \mathrm{d}E < \infty,$$

where $L_{max} \in]0, \infty[$ is the maximal *L*-value in the steady state support and the finiteness of the latter integral follows since k > 0 in the polytropic case. We therefore conclude that the first integral in (8.28) is indeed finite.

In the next lemma we show that $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}(\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda})$ map $\mathcal{F}(\bar{\mathcal{F}})$ into the smaller spaces $\mathcal{F}_{1}(\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1})$.

Lemma 8.9. $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{F}) \subset \mathcal{F}_1$ and $\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}(\bar{\mathcal{F}}) \subset \bar{\mathcal{F}}_1$.

Proof. Let $F \in \mathcal{M}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{F})$, i.e., there exists $G \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G = F$. Define the spherically symmetric functions $f, g: \Omega_0 \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\begin{split} f(r, w, L) &= |\varphi'(E, L)| \, w \, F(r), \\ g(r, w, L) &= |\varphi'(E, L)| \, w \, G(r), \quad (r, w, L) \in \Omega_0^r. \end{split}$$

Lemma 8.4 yields $f, g \in H^{odd}$, and $Q_{\lambda}g = f$ by the definition of \mathcal{M}_{λ} , see Definition 8.5. In other words,

$$\begin{split} f(r, w, L) &= \mathcal{B}h(r, w, L) = 4\pi^2 |\varphi'(E, L)| \, \frac{w}{r^2} \\ &\int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} \tilde{w} \, h(r, \tilde{w}, \tilde{L}) \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{w} \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{L}, \quad (r, w, L) \in \Omega_0^r, \end{split}$$

where $h:=R_{-\mathcal{D}^2}(\lambda)g \in D(\mathcal{D}^2) \cap H^{odd}$. Using the representation of *F* provided by the formula above, we arrive at

$$\begin{split} \|F\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{2} &= \int_{S} r^{2} F^{2}(r) \, \mathrm{d}r = 16\pi^{4} \int_{S} \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} w \, h(r, w, L) \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq 16\pi^{4} \int_{S} \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} w^{2} \left| \varphi'(E, L) \right| \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \right) \\ &\qquad \times \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h^{2}(r, w, L)}{\left| \varphi'(E, L) \right|} \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \right) \mathrm{d}r \\ &\leq C \|h\|_{H}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where we used (4.5) and the boundedness of ρ_0 in the last inequality. In the planar setting the proof is analogous; apply (4.12) instead of (4.5) for the last step. \Box

We are now in the position to show the equivalence of the eigenvalues of Q_{λ} (\bar{Q}_{λ}) and the ones of the Mathur operator \mathcal{M}_{λ} $(\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda})$:

Lemma 8.10. Let $\mu \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$.

- (a) μ is an eigenvalue of Q_{λ} if and only if μ is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_{λ} . Here, \mathcal{M}_{λ} can be seen as an operator $\mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}$ or $\mathcal{F}_1 \to \mathcal{F}_1$.
- (b) μ is an eigenvalue of \overline{Q}_{λ} if and only if μ is an eigenvalue of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}$, where $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}$ can be seen as an operator $\overline{\mathcal{F}} \to \overline{\mathcal{F}}$ or $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_1 \to \overline{\mathcal{F}}_1$.

Proof. We only prove part (a), similar arguments apply in the planar setting.

If there exists $g \in H^{odd}$ with $Q_{\lambda}g = \mu g$, then $g \in \text{im}(\mathcal{B})$ since $\mu \neq 0$. Thus, there exists $G: S \to \mathbb{R}$ such that g is of the form $g(r, w, L) = |\varphi'(E, L)| w G(r)$, and $G \in \mathcal{F}$ by Lemma 8.4. Using Definition 8.5, the eigenvalue equation becomes

$$|\varphi'(E,L)| w \mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G(r) = \mu |\varphi'(E,L)| w G(r), \quad (r,w,L) \in \Omega_0^r.$$
 (8.29)

Hence, $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G = \mu G$. In particular, $G \in \mathcal{F}_1$ by Lemma 8.9.

Conversely, let $G \in \mathcal{F}$ (recall $\mathcal{F}_1 \subset \mathcal{F}$) be such that $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G = \mu G$ and define $g(r, w, L) = |\varphi'(E, L)| w G(r)$. Then $g \in H^{odd}$ and (8.29) holds true. \Box

Since $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda} \colon \mathcal{F}_{1} \to \mathcal{F}_{1} \ (\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda} \colon \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{1} \to \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{1})$ is a symmetric and compact Hilbert-Schmidt operator by Lemma 8.8, the spectrum of \mathcal{M}_{λ} is real and its largest element is given by

$$M_{\lambda} := \sup\left\{ \langle G, \mathcal{M}_{\lambda}G \rangle_{\mathcal{F}_{1}} \mid G \in \mathcal{F}_{1}, \ \|G\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1}} = 1 \right\}.$$
(8.30)

Similarly, the largest element in the spectrum of $\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}$ is

$$\bar{M}_{\lambda} := \sup\left\{ \langle G, \bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}G \rangle_{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}} \mid G \in \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}, \ \|G\|_{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}} = 1 \right\}.$$
(8.31)

Furthermore, if $M_{\lambda} \neq 0$ ($\overline{M}_{\lambda} \neq 0$), then M_{λ} (\overline{M}_{λ}) is actually an eigenvalue of \mathcal{M}_{λ} ($\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}$).

Theorem 8.11. (Criterion for the existence of oscillating modes)

(a) Let f_0 be a radial steady state of the form (2.2) or (2.3). Then the linearized operator \mathcal{A} possesses an eigenvalue in the principal gap \mathcal{G} —defined in (8.3)—with associated eigenfunction odd in v if and only if there exists a $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}$ such that

$$M_{\lambda} \ge 1. \tag{8.32}$$

(b) Let f₀ be a planar steady state as specified in Sect. 2.2. Then the linearized operator Ā possesses an eigenvalue in the principal gap Ḡ—defined in (8.4)—with associated eigenfunction odd in v₁ and x if and only if there exists a λ ∈ Ḡ such that

$$M_{\lambda} \ge 1. \tag{8.33}$$

Proof of part (a). If $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}$ is an eigenvalue of \mathcal{A} (restricted to H^{odd} , i.e., functions in the spherically symmetric, weighted L^2 -space H which are odd in v), then 1 is an eigenvalue of Q_{λ} by Lemma 8.1. Thus, Lemma 8.10 yields that 1 is also an eigenvalue of $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda} : \mathcal{F}_1 \to \mathcal{F}_1$, which implies $M_{\lambda} \ge 1$.

Conversely, if there exists $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $M_{\lambda} \geq 1$, then \mathcal{M}_{λ} has an eigenvalue $\mu \geq 1$. Lemma 8.10 implies that μ is also an eigenvalue of Q_{λ} , and therefore λ is an eigenvalue of $-\mathcal{D}^2 - \frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{B}$ by Lemma 8.1. Using Lemma 8.2, we conclude that \mathcal{A} indeed has an eigenvalue in the principal gap \mathcal{G} .

Proof of part (b). The proof is analogous to the radial setting and uses the planar statements of Lemmas 8.1, 8.2, and 8.10. However, recall that we restricted \overline{A} to \overline{H} , i.e., functions odd in v_1 and x, in the planar setting, which causes the top of the principal gap \overline{G} to quadruple, see (8.4) and also Theorem 5.19.

Before verifying these criteria for selected steady states, we state some properties of M_{λ} and \bar{M}_{λ} .

Remark 8.12. (Criterion for the existence of eigenvalues in the principal gap) Using the kernel representation of the radial Mathur operator provided by Proposition 8.6, the associated quadratic form can be rewritten as

for $G \in \mathcal{F}_1$. Since λ is in the principal gap, the latter integral is obviously non-negative, i.e., the spectrum of the Mathur operator is non-negative as well.

Hence M_{λ} coincides with the operator norm of \mathcal{M}_{λ} , cf. [29, Theorem 5.14]. Furthermore, M_{λ} increases in λ , which can for example be seen in the integral (8.34). Theorem 8.11 now allows us to translate the existence of an oscillating mode corresponding to an eigenvalue of \mathcal{A} in the principal gap into a condition on the size of

$$M := \sup_{\lambda \in \mathcal{G}} M_{\lambda} = \sup_{\lambda \in \mathcal{G}} \|\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1} \to \mathcal{F}_{1}} :$$
(8.35)

- (a) If M > 1, then \mathcal{A} possesses at least one eigenvalue in the principal gap.
- (b) If M < 1, then \mathcal{A} has no eigenvalues in the principal gap.
- (c) In the case M = 1, the existence of an eigenvalue of A in the principal gap depends on whether or not the supremum (8.35) is attained.

Similar statements hold true in the plane symmetric setting. In particular, the spectrum of $\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda} : \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1} \to \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}$ is non-negative, and

$$\bar{M} := \sup_{\lambda \in \bar{\mathcal{G}}} \bar{M}_{\lambda} = \sup_{\lambda \in \bar{\mathcal{G}}} \|\bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}\|_{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1} \to \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}}$$
(8.36)

being larger (smaller) than 1 implies the existence one (no) eigenvalue(s) of \overline{A} in the principal gap.

8.2. Examples of linear oscillations

We now apply Theorem 8.11 to give a class of examples of steady states which allow for pulsating modes. A particularly simple-minded approach is to identify steady states for which M_{λ} (\bar{M}_{λ}) tends to infinity as λ approaches the top of the principal gap. **8.2.1. Linear oscillations in the planar case** In the plane symmetric setting we are able to analytically show the existence of linearly pulsating modes for a large class of steady state models by pursuing the approach discussed above.

Theorem 8.13. Let f_0 be a planar steady state of polytropic form (2.18) with $\frac{1}{2} < k \le 1$ or of King type (2.19). Then the associated linearized operator \overline{A} —restricted to \overline{H} , i.e., functions in \overline{H} which are odd in v_1 and x—possesses an eigenvalue in the principal gap $\overline{\mathcal{G}} =]0, 4\frac{4\pi^2}{T^2(E_0)}[$.

Proof. For $G \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_1$, the quadratic form in (8.31) is

$$\langle G, \bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}G \rangle_{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}} = \int_{\bar{S}} \int_{\bar{S}} \bar{K}_{\lambda}(x, y) G(x) G(y) dx dy = 32\pi \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\bar{S}} \int_{\bar{S}} \int_{\bar{S}} \int_{\bar{\Omega}_{0}^{E}(x) \cap \bar{\Omega}_{0}^{E}(y)} \times \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{T(E)} \frac{\sin(4\pi k \theta(x, E)) \sin(4\pi k \theta(y, E))}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E)^{2}} (2k)^{2} - \lambda} dE G(x) G(y) dx dy = 32\pi \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{U_{0}(0)}^{E_{0}} \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{T(E)} \frac{1}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E)^{2}} (2k)^{2} - \lambda} \times \left(\int_{x_{-}(E)}^{x_{+}(E)} \sin(4\pi k \theta(x, E)) G(x) dx \right)^{2} dE,$$
 (8.37)

see Proposition 8.7 for the definition of \bar{K}_{λ} . Note that the exchange of the infinite sum and the integration can be justified similarly to the radial case, see for example a related argument in the proof of Proposition 8.6. In particular, for any λ in the principal gap, i.e., $0 < \lambda < 4 \frac{4\pi^2}{T^2(E_0)}$, we conclude that for all non-zero $G \in \bar{\mathcal{F}}_1$,

$$\bar{M}_{\lambda} \geq \frac{\langle G, \bar{\mathcal{M}}_{\lambda}G \rangle_{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}}}{\|G\|_{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}}^{2}} \\
\geq \frac{32\pi}{\|G\|_{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{1}}^{2}} \int_{U_{0}(0)}^{E_{0}} \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{T(E)} \frac{1}{\frac{16\pi^{2}}{T(E)^{2}} - \lambda} \left(\int_{x_{-}(E)}^{x_{+}(E)} \sin(4\pi\theta(x, E)) G(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}E.$$
(8.38)

Consider a neighborhood $\bar{N}_{\eta} := [E_0 - \eta, E_0]$ of the cut-off energy E_0 for some sufficiently small parameter $0 < \eta < E_0 - U_0(0)$. By an easy continuity argument we can choose a closed interval $\bar{I} \subset [x_-(E_0), 0[=] - R_0, 0[$ such that

$$\sin(4\pi\theta(x,E)) \ge \frac{1}{2} \quad \text{for } E \in \bar{N}_{\eta}, \ x \in \bar{I},$$
(8.39)
if $\eta > 0$ is sufficiently small, in particular, $\overline{I} \subset]x_{-}(E), 0[$ for $E \in \overline{N}_{\eta}$. Now let

$$G: \bar{S} \to \mathbb{R}, \quad G(x) := \begin{cases} 1, & x \in \bar{I}, \\ -1, & -x \in \bar{I}, \\ 0, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(8.40)

Clearly, G is odd and $G \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_1$ with $||G||^2_{\overline{\mathcal{F}}_1} = 2|\overline{I}|$. Moreover,

$$\int_{x_-(E)}^{x_+(E)} \sin(4\pi\theta(x, E)) G(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \ge |\bar{I}|$$

for any $E \in \overline{N}_{\eta}$; observe that the symmetry of U_0 implies $4\pi\theta([x_-(E), 0], E) = [0, \pi]$ and $4\pi\theta([0, x_+(E)], E) = [\pi, 2\pi]$ as well as $\theta(x, E) + \theta(-x, E) = \frac{1}{2}$ for $x \in [x_-(E), 0]$, recall the definition (5.18) of θ . Plugging *G* into (8.38) yields

$$\bar{M}_{\lambda} \ge 16\pi |\bar{I}| \int_{\bar{N}_{\eta}} \frac{|lpha'(E)|}{T(E)} \frac{1}{\frac{16\pi^2}{T(E)^2} - \lambda} dE.$$

We now let $\lambda \to \sup \overline{\mathcal{G}} = \frac{16\pi^2}{T(E_0)^2}$ —notice that \overline{I} is independent of λ —and conclude by the monotone convergence theorem that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \frac{16\pi^2}{T(E_0)^2}} \bar{M}_{\lambda} \ge 16\pi |\bar{I}| \int_{\bar{N}_{\eta}} \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{T(E)} \frac{1}{\frac{16\pi^2}{T(E)^2} - \frac{16\pi^2}{T(E_0)^2}} dE$$
$$= \frac{|\bar{I}|}{\pi} \int_{\bar{N}_{\eta}} \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{T(E_0) - T(E)} \frac{T(E) T(E_0)^2}{T(E) + T(E_0)} dE$$
$$\ge C \int_{\bar{N}_{\eta}} \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{T(E_0) - T(E)} dE$$
(8.41)

for some C > 0; recall that *T* is bounded and bounded away from 0 on $[U_0(0), E_0[$ by Proposition 2.8. To show that the latter integral is infinite, we expand the denominator of its integrand. By the mean value theorem, for each $E \in \overline{N}_\eta$ there exists $E^* \in \overline{N}_\eta$ such that $T(E_0) - T(E) = T'(E^*) (E_0 - E)$. Since *T'* is continuous by Lemma 2.6, we obtain $T(E_0) - T(E) \le C (E_0 - E)$ for $E \in \overline{N}_\eta$ and some constant C > 0 depending on the steady state and η . Inserting this estimate in (8.41) then yields

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\lambda \to \frac{16\pi^2}{T(E_0)^2}} \bar{M}_{\lambda} &\geq C \int_{\bar{N}_{\eta}} \frac{|\alpha'(E)|}{E_0 - E} \, \mathrm{d}E \\ &= C \begin{cases} k \int_{E_0 - \eta}^{E_0} (E_0 - E)^{k-2} \, \mathrm{d}E, & \alpha \text{ is polytropic with } \frac{1}{2} < k \leq 1 \\ \int_{E_0 - \eta}^{E_0 - E} \mathrm{d}E, & \alpha \text{ is of King type} \end{cases} \\ &= \infty. \end{split}$$

The claim now follows by part (b) of Theorem 8.11.

- *Remark* 8.14. (a) Since T' > 0 on $]U_0(0), \infty[$, we can not expect to show that the integral (8.41) is infinite for polytropes with exponent k > 1 by expanding T to higher order.
- (c) For the above proof—and everything in the preceding sections—the exact polytropic (2.18) or King type (2.19) structure of α is not essential. Only the behavior of α near the cut-off energy E_0 matters for our argument.

8.2.2. Linear oscillations in the radial case In order to apply the same idea as in the proof of Theorem 8.13 we need to know where the period function $\mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL} \ni (E, L) \mapsto T(E, L)$ attains its maximal values. This is an involved technical question about the behavior of solutions to semi-linear radial ODEs of Lane-Emden type, which will be rigorously addressed in future work. However, numerical calculations conclusively show that for a wide range of steady states of the form (2.2)–(2.3) the period function has the property that

$$\sup_{\hat{\Omega}_{0}^{EL}}(T) = T(E_0, L_0), \tag{8.42}$$

where $L_0 \ge 0$ is the lowest occurring *L*-value in the steady state support. Note that $T(E_0, L_0)$ may formally not be defined by Definition 2.2, but *T* can easily be extended to L = 0 by replacing Ψ_L with U_0 in the definition.

In order to Taylor-expand T near its maximal value similar to the planar setting, we further require that

T is differentiable and
$$\partial_E T$$
, $\partial_L T$ are bounded near (E_0, L_0) . (8.43)

The latter can be shown by explicitly computing the derivatives of T with respect to E and L, but we choose to leave out the proof of this rather technical statement.

One way to validate (8.42) is to show

$$\partial_E T(E,L) \ge 0, \quad \partial_L T(E,L) \le 0, \quad \text{ for } (E,L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL},$$

$$(8.44)$$

and numerical computations indicate that (8.44) is indeed true for a wide range of steady states. We discuss this matter in more detail at the end of Sect. B.3 in the appendix, and give explicit parameters of a steady state for which (8.42) and (8.44) have been verified numerically in Remark 8.16.

Theorem 8.15. Let f_0 be a radial steady state of polytropic form (2.2) with parameters k, l, L_0 satisfying

$$L_0 > 0, \ k > 0, \ l > -1, \ k < l + \frac{7}{2}, \ k + l + \frac{1}{2} \ge 0, \ k + l \le 0.$$
 (8.45)

Assume further that the assumptions (8.42) and (8.43) hold. Then the associated linearized operator \mathcal{A} —restricted to H^{odd} , i.e., functions in H which are odd in v—possesses an eigenvalue in the principal gap $\mathcal{G} =]0, \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup^2(T)}[$.

Proof. Just like in the proof of Theorem 8.13 we can show that

$$M_{\lambda} \geq \frac{32\pi^{2}}{\|G\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{T(E,L)} \frac{1}{\frac{4\pi^{2}}{T(E,L)^{2}} - \lambda} \\ \times \left(\int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \sin(2\pi k\theta(r,E,L)) G(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}(E,L)$$
(8.46)

for any $G \in \mathcal{F}_1 \setminus \{0\}$ and $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}$. Letting $\lambda \to \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup^2(T)} = \frac{4\pi^2}{T(E_0, L_0)^2}$, using the monotone convergence theorem, and the boundedness of *T* from above and away from zero (see Proposition B.1), we conclude that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \frac{4\pi^2}{\sup^{2}(T)}} M_{\lambda} \geq \frac{C}{\|G\|_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{2}}$$
$$\int_{\Omega_{0}^{EL}} \frac{|\varphi'(E,L)|}{T(E_{0},L_{0}) - T(E,L)} \left(\int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \sin(2\pi\theta(r,E,L)) G(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}(E,L)$$

for some constant C > 0 depending on the steady state.

Consider a closed neighborhood N_{η} of the *T*-maximizer (E_0, L_0) of the form

$$N_{\eta} := [E_0 - \eta, E_0] \times [L_0, L_0 + \eta]$$

for a sufficiently small $\eta > 0$ such that $\mathring{N}_{\eta} \subset \Omega_0^{EL}$. Next, choose a non-empty, closed interval $I \subset S$ such that

$$\sin(2\pi\theta(r, E, L)) \ge \frac{1}{2} \quad \text{for } (E, L) \in N_{\eta}, \ r \in I.$$
(8.47)

Now let $G:=\mathbb{1}_I \in \mathcal{F}_1$. Analogously to (8.41) we conclude that

$$\limsup_{\lambda \to \frac{4\pi^2}{T(E_0, L_0)^2}} M_{\lambda} \ge C \int_{E_0 - \eta}^{E_0} \int_{L_0}^{L_0 + \eta} \frac{|\varphi'(E, L)|}{T(E_0, L_0) - T(E, L)} \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}E.$$
(8.48)

Taylor-expanding the denominator in this integral gives

$$T(E_0, L_0) - T(E, L) = c_E (E_0 - E) - c_L (L - L_0) + o_{(E,L) \to (E_0, L_0)} (|(E, L) - (E_0, L_0)|), \qquad (8.49)$$

where we denote $c_E := \partial_E T(E_0, L_0)$, $c_L := \partial_L T(E_0, L_0) < \infty$; recall the assumption (8.43). Thus, after choosing a possibly smaller η , we use (8.48) and the polytropic structure (2.2) of the steady state model to obtain

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \frac{4\pi^2}{T(E_0,L_0)^2}} M_{\lambda} \ge C \int_{E_0-\eta}^{E_0} \int_{L_0}^{L_0+\eta} \frac{(E_0-E)^{k-1}(L-L_0)^l}{E_0-E+L-L_0} \, \mathrm{d}L \, \mathrm{d}E$$
$$= C \int_0^\eta \int_0^\eta \frac{x^{k-1}y^l}{x+y} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x, \tag{8.50}$$

where we used the obvious change of variables $x = E_0 - E$ and $y = L - L_0$. The latter integral is infinite precisely when $k + l \le 0$. Together with part (a) of Theorem 8.11 this concludes the proof.

Remark 8.16. The steady state parameter conditions (8.45) are for example satisfied with

$$k = \frac{1}{2}, \quad l = -\frac{1}{2}, \quad L_0 > 0 \text{ arbitrary},$$
 (8.51)

and numerical computations—e.g. with $L_0 = \frac{1}{10}$ and $E_0 - U_0(0) = 1$ —clearly show that in this case the monotonicity assumptions (8.44) are valid.

Acknowledgements. M. Hadžić's research is supported by the EPSRC Early Career Fellowship EP/S02218X/1. The authors thank Thomas Kriecherbauer, Alexander Pushnitski, and Manuel Schaller for helpful discussions.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

A. Auxiliary Results on Potentials

In this section we discuss the properties of potentials induced by functions of the form $\mathcal{D}g$ for $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$ and $\overline{\mathcal{D}}g$ for $g \in D(\overline{\mathcal{D}})$ respectively.

A.1. Potentials in the spherically symmetric case

For $g \in D(\mathcal{D})$, let

$$\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{D}g} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathcal{D}g(\cdot, v) \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

We extend all functions by 0 on $\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$. Using (2.5) yields

$$\|\rho\|_2^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathcal{D}g(x,v) \,\mathrm{d}v \right)^2 \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|\mathcal{D}g(x,v)|^2}{|\varphi'(E,L)|} \,\mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{d}x = C \|\mathcal{D}g\|_H^2,$$

and supp $(\rho) \subset B_{R_0}(0)$, i.e., $\rho \in L^1 \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Furthermore, the integral of ρ vanishes, since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle |\varphi'(E, L)|, \mathcal{D}g \rangle_H$$

and $|\varphi'(E, L)| \in \ker(\mathcal{D}) \subset H$ by (2.5) as well as $\mathcal{D}g \in \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{D}) \perp \ker(\mathcal{D})$ by the skewadjointness of \mathcal{D} .

Now let $U:=U_{\rho}=U_{\mathcal{D}g}$ be the gravitational potential induced by $\mathcal{D}g$, i.e.,

$$U(x) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\rho(y)}{|x-y|} \, \mathrm{d}y, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$

Since $\rho \in L^1 \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, basic potential theory yields $U \in C(\mathbb{R}^3)$ with $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} U(x) = 0$ and $||U||_{\infty} \leq C ||\rho||_2$ as well as $\partial_x U \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ with

$$\|\partial_x U\|_2 \le C \|\rho\|_{\frac{6}{2}} \le C \|\rho\|_2,$$

and obviously $\Delta U = 4\pi\rho \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. In particular, all derivatives exist in the weak sense. Furthermore, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$ with $|x| \ge 2R_0$ the vanishing integral of ρ implies that

$$\begin{aligned} |U(x)| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\rho(y)}{|x-y|} \, \mathrm{d}y \right| = \left| \int_{B_{R_0}(0)} \frac{\rho(y)}{|x-y|} \, \mathrm{d}y - \int_{B_{R_0}(0)} \frac{\rho(y)}{|x|} \, \mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &\leq \int_{B_{R_0}(0)} |\rho(y)| \frac{||x| - |x-y||}{|x| \cdot |x-y|} \, \mathrm{d}y \leq \int_{B_{R_0}(0)} |\rho(y)| \frac{2R_0}{|x|^2} \, \mathrm{d}y = \frac{2R_0 \|\rho\|_1}{|x|^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\int_{|x|\ge 2R_0} |U(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le 4R_0^2 \|\rho\|_1^2 \int_{|x|\ge 2R_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{|x|^4} = 8\pi R_0 \|\rho\|_1^2 \le C \|\rho\|_2^2.$$

Overall we obtain $U \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ with

$$\|U\|_{H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \le C \|\rho\|_{2} \le C \|\mathcal{D}g\|_{H}, \tag{A.1}$$

where C > 0 only depends on the fixed steady state f_0 . Related arguments have also been used in the proof of Theorem 1.1 in [23].

Lastly, U inherits the symmetry of ρ , $\mathcal{D}g$ and g, i.e., we can write U(x) = U(|x|). Then,

$$U'_{\mathcal{D}g}(r) = U'(r) = \frac{4\pi^2}{r^2} \mathcal{J}(g)(r) = \frac{4\pi^2}{r^2} \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} w \, g(r, w, L) \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \tag{A.2}$$

for a.e. r > 0. For $g \in C_{c,r}^{\infty}(\Omega_0)$ this follows by integrating the radial Poisson equation, since

$$\rho(r) = \frac{\pi}{r^2} \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{D}g(r, w, L) \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L = \frac{\pi}{r^2} \, \partial_r \left(\int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} w \, g(r, w, L) \, \mathrm{d}w \, \mathrm{d}L \right).$$

(A.2) can be extended to D(D) by using the approximation scheme from [61,65] together with (4.5).

A.2. Potentials in the plane symmetric case

In the plane symmetric case, we let $g \in D(\overline{D})$ and

$$\rho(x) = \rho_{\bar{\mathcal{D}}g}(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \bar{\mathcal{D}}g(x, v) \,\mathrm{d}v, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

where we again extend all functions by 0 to $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3$. By (2.25), $\|\rho\|_2 \leq C \|\overline{D}g\|_{\overline{H}}$ with some constant C > 0 depending only on the steady state. Obviously, $\sup(\rho) \subset [-R_0, R_0]$,

i.e., $\rho \in L^1 \cap L^2(\mathbb{R})$. As in the spherically symmetric case, $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho = \langle |\varphi'(E, \bar{v})|, \bar{\mathcal{D}}g \rangle_{\bar{H}} = 0$ by the skew-adjointness of $\bar{\mathcal{D}}$.

Now let $U = U_{\rho} = U_{\bar{D}g}$ be the potential induced by $\bar{D}g$, cf. (1.12). Since ρ vanishes outside of $[-R_0, R_0]$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho = 0$, (1.14) implies that

$$U'(x) = 2\pi \int_{-R_0}^{R_0} \operatorname{sign}(x - y) \,\rho(y) \,\mathrm{d}y = 4\pi \int_{-R_0}^x \rho(y) \,\mathrm{d}y,$$

and U'(x) = 0 for $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R_0, R_0]$. Hence

$$\|U'\|_{2}^{2} = \int_{-R_{0}}^{R_{0}} |U'(x)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \le 16\pi^{2}R_{0}^{2} \|\rho\|_{2}^{2}.$$

Altogether,

$$\|U'\|_2 + \|U''\|_2 \le C \|\rho\|_2 \le C \|\bar{\mathcal{D}}g\|_{\bar{H}}^2.$$
(A.3)

Lastly, we obtain the representation

$$U'_{\bar{\mathcal{D}}g}(x) = 4\pi \int_{-R_0}^x \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \bar{\mathcal{D}}g(y,v) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}y = 4\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v_1 \, g(x,v) \, \mathrm{d}v, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$
(A.4)

for smooth g, which once again can be extended onto $D(\overline{D})$ by approximation, for example as in Remark 5.18, using the bound (4.12).

B. Properties of the Radial Period Function

This appendix is devoted to the properties of the period function T in the case of a spherically symmetric equilibrium, since it gives the essential spectrum of the linearized operator A and is a crucial quantity for the existence of oscillating modes. Recall the definition (2.11) of T(E, L) for L > 0 and $\Psi_L(r_L) < E < 0$. In the two upcoming sections we prove the following result:

Proposition B.1. There exist c, C > 0 such that $c \leq T(E, L) \leq C$ for $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$.

Afterwards we discuss the regularity and potential monotonicity of the period function.

B.1. An upper bound on T

First we recall the bound (2.12), i.e.,

$$T(E, L) \le 2\pi \frac{\|f_0\|_1^2}{E^2 \sqrt{L}}$$

for L > 0 and $\Psi_L(r_L) < E < 0$. This estimate has earlier been used in [61,65], where the reader may also find a rather straight-forward proof. In particular, it shows that in the case of a polytropic shell steady state, i.e., the ansatz function is of the form (2.2) with $L_0 > 0$, T is bounded from above on the whole set $\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}$. Unfortunately, the boundedness from above is harder to show in the case where no inner

Unfortunately, the boundedness from above is harder to show in the case where no inner vacuum region exists, for example in the case of isotropic steady states. In order to handle these models we use the maximum principle to estimate T as follows:

Lemma B.2. Consider an isotropic steady state, i.e., φ is of the form (2.3) or (2.2) with $L_0 = 0 = l$, in particular supp (ρ_0) = [0, R_0] and $\rho_0(0) > 0$. Suppose that there exist S, c > 0 such that $\rho_0 \ge c$ on [0, S] \subset [0, R_0]. Then

$$E - \Psi_L(r) \ge \frac{2\pi}{3} c \frac{(r_+(E,L) - r)(r - r_-(E,L))(r + r_+(E,L) + r_-(E,L))}{r}$$
(B.1)

for $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ and r > 0 such that $0 < r_-(E, L) \le r \le r_+(E, L) \le S$. This leads to

$$T(E,L) \le \sqrt{\frac{3\pi}{c}} \tag{B.2}$$

for $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ satisfying $r_+(E, L) \leq S$.

Proof. Fix $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$ with $r_+(E, L) \leq S$ and let

$$U_{c}(r) := -\frac{2\pi}{3}c \frac{(r_{+}(E,L)-r)(r-r_{-}(E,L))(r+r_{+}(E,L)+r_{-}(E,L))}{r}$$
$$= \frac{2\pi}{3}c \left(r^{2} - (r_{+} - r_{-})^{2} + r_{-}r_{+} + \frac{1}{r}r_{-}r_{+}(r_{+} + r_{+})\right)$$

for $r \in [r_{-}(E, L), r_{+}(E, L)]$, where we used the abbreviation $r_{\pm} = r_{\pm}(E, L)$. Obviously, $U_c(r_{\pm}(E, L)) = 0 = E - \Psi_L(r_{\pm}(E, L))$. Applying the (radial) Laplacian $\Delta = \left(\partial_r^2 + \frac{2}{r}\partial_r\right)$ yields

$$\Delta U_c(r) = 4\pi c,$$

$$\Delta \Psi_L(r) = \Delta U_0(r) + \frac{L}{r^4} = 4\pi \rho_0(r) + \frac{L}{r^4}$$

for $r \in [r_{-}(E, L), r_{+}(E, L)]$. Thus, by the choice of c,

 $\Delta (U_c + E - \Psi_L) < 0$ on $[r_-(E, L), r_+(E, L)]$.

By the maximum principle we therefore conclude that

 $U_c + E - \Psi_L > 0$ on $]r_-(E, L), r_+(E, L)[,$

which shows (B.1). Inserting this into the definition of T yields

$$T(E,L) \le \sqrt{\frac{3}{c\pi}} \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{+}(E,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{(r_{+}(E,L)-r)(r-r_{-}(E,L))}} = \sqrt{\frac{3\pi}{c}}.$$

The bound (2.12) shows that for any choice of $L_1 > 0$ the period function T is bounded on the set $L \ge L_1$. For any choice of $U_0(0) < E_1 < E_0$ orbits corresponding to (E, L)with $E \le E_1$ are radially restricted to some interval $[0, R_1]$ with $R_1 < R_0$. For an isotropic steady state, ρ_0 is bounded away from zero on such an interval, and the previous lemma shows that the period function T is bounded on the set $E \le E_1$. The next lemma closes the remaining gap.

Lemma B.3. Consider a steady state of the form (2.3) or (2.2) with $L_0 = 0 = l$, in particular supp $(\rho_0) = [0, R_0]$. Then there exist $U_0(0) < E_1 < E_0$ and $L_1 > 0$ and a constant C > 0 such that

$$T(E, L) \le C$$
 for $E_1 \le E \le E_0, \ 0 < L \le L_1.$

In particular, L_1 and E_1 can be chosen such that $\Psi_L(r_L) < E$ for $E_1 \le E \le E_0$, $0 < L \le L_1$, i.e., T is well-defined for points as above.

Proof. For L > 0 let $E_L := \Psi_L(r_L) < E \le E_0$ and $\epsilon > 0$ such that $E - \epsilon > E_L$; ϵ will be specified more precisely below. Then

$$r_{-}(E, L) < r_{-}(E - \epsilon, L) < r_{+}(E - \epsilon, L) < r_{+}(E, L).$$

Step 1. We estimate the time a particle takes to travel from $r_{-}(E, L)$ to $r_{-}(E - \epsilon, L)$. To do so we first show that Ψ_L is convex on the interval $]0, r_L]$, which contains the radii specified above. This follows from

$$\Psi_L''(r) = 4\pi\rho_0(r) - \frac{2}{r}U_0'(r) + 3\frac{L}{r^4}$$

and the fact that by definition of r_L ,

$$\Psi'_L(r) = U'_0(r) - \frac{L}{r^3} < 0$$

on]0, r_L [. For any $r \in [r_-(E, L), r_-(E - \epsilon, L)]$ we let

$$\alpha := \frac{r - r_-(E, L)}{r_-(E - \epsilon, L) - r_-(E, L)}.$$

Then

$$\Psi_L(r) \le (1-\alpha)\Psi_L(r_-(E,L)) + \alpha\Psi_L(r_-(E-\epsilon,L)) = E - \alpha\epsilon.$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} &\int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{-}(E-\epsilon,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{E-\Psi_{L}(r)}} \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{r_{-}(E-\epsilon,L)}-r_{-}(E,L)}{\sqrt{\epsilon}} \int_{r_{-}(E,L)}^{r_{-}(E-\epsilon,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{r-r_{-}(E,L)}} \\ &= 2\frac{r_{-}(E-\epsilon,L)-r_{-}(E,L)}{\sqrt{\epsilon}}. \end{split}$$

Step 2. Here we estimate the time a particle takes to travel from $r_{-}(E - \epsilon, L)$ to $r_{+}(E - \epsilon, L)$. On this interval, $\Psi_{L}(r) \leq E - \epsilon$, and hence

$$\int_{r_{-}(E-\epsilon,L)}^{r_{+}(E-\epsilon,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{E-\Psi_{L}(r)}} = \frac{r_{+}(E-\epsilon,L)-r_{-}(E-\epsilon,L)}{\sqrt{\epsilon}}$$

Step 3. Here we estimate the time a particle takes to travel from $r_+(E - \epsilon, L)$ to $r_+(E, L)$, which is the crucial part. Let

$$\mu := \min\{\Psi'_L(r) \mid r \in [r_+(E - \epsilon, L), r_+(E, L)]\}.$$

Clearly, $\Psi_L(r) \le E - \mu (r_+(E, L) - r)$ for $r \in [r_+(E - \epsilon, L), r_+(E, L)]$. Since $\mu > 0$ this implies that

$$\begin{split} \int_{r_+(E-\epsilon,L)}^{r_+(E,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{E-\Psi_L(r)}} &\leq \int_{r_+(E-\epsilon,L)}^{r_+(E,L)} \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\sqrt{\mu(r_+(E,L)-r)}} \\ &= 2\frac{\sqrt{r_+(E,L)-r_+(E-\epsilon,L)}}{\sqrt{\mu}}, \end{split}$$

so it remains to estimate μ independently of *E* and *L*.

We observe that $r_+(E, L) \rightarrow R_0 > 0$ as $(E, L) \rightarrow (E_0, 0)$, and $r_L \rightarrow 0$ as $L \rightarrow 0$. Hence there exist $U_0(0) < \tilde{E}_1 < E_0$ and $L_1 > 0$ such that

$$r_+(E, L) > r_{2L_1} > r_{L_1} \ge r_L$$

as well as $E_L < E$ for all $\tilde{E}_1 \le E \le E_0$ and $0 < L \le L_1$. We define

$$\epsilon := \frac{E_0 - \tilde{E}_1}{2}, \quad E_1 := \frac{E_0 + \tilde{E}_1}{2}$$

Consider any $E_1 \leq E \leq E_0$ and $0 < L \leq L_1$. Then $E - \epsilon \geq \tilde{E}_1$, and hence $r_+(E - \epsilon, L) > r_{2L_1}$ and for $r \in [r_+(E - \epsilon, L), r_+(E, L)]$,

$$\Psi'_{L}(r) = U'_{0}(r) - \frac{L}{r^{3}} \ge U'_{0}(r) - \frac{L_{1}}{r^{3}} = \Psi'_{L_{1}}(r)$$
$$\ge \min\{\Psi'_{L_{1}}(s) \mid s \in [r_{2L_{1}}, R_{0}]\} > 0.$$

The latter constant depends only on the given steady state and the parameter L_1 and provides the required lower bound on μ .

All three steps together yield the desired estimate for T(E, L), where we note that also ϵ , which enters in the estimates from the first two steps, has now been chosen to depend only on the parameters L_1 and $\tilde{E}_1 = 2E_1 - E_0$.

B.2. A lower bound on T

Lemma B.4. For all $(E, L) \in \mathring{\Omega}_0^{EL}$,

$$T(E, L) \ge \left(4\pi \|\rho_0\|_{\infty} + 3\frac{L}{r_L^4}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

Proof. First,

$$T(E,L) \ge \sqrt{2} \frac{r_{+}(E,L) - r_{-}(E,L)}{\sqrt{E - \Psi_{L}(r_{L})}} \ge \sqrt{2} \frac{r_{+}(E,L) - r_{L}}{\sqrt{E - \Psi_{L}(r_{L})}}.$$

We now apply the mean value theorem to the mapping $]\Psi_L(r_L), 0[\ni \eta \mapsto r_+(\eta, L), \text{ contin$ $uously extended by } r_+(\Psi_L(r_L), L):=r_L.$ Note that $r_+(\cdot, L)$ is differentiable on $]\Psi_L(r_L), 0[$ with

$$\frac{\partial r_+}{\partial E}(\eta, L) = \frac{1}{\Psi'_L(r_+(\eta, L))}, \qquad \eta \in]\Psi_L(r_L), 0[$$

by the inverse function theorem. Hence there exists $\eta \in]\Psi_L(r_L), E[$ such that

$$r_{+}(E, L) - r_{L} = \frac{E - \Psi_{L}(r_{L})}{\Psi'_{L}(r_{+}(\eta, L))}.$$

Thus,

$$T(E, L) \ge \sqrt{2} \frac{\sqrt{E - \Psi_L(r_L)}}{\Psi'_L(r_+(\eta, L))} \ge \sqrt{2} \frac{\sqrt{\eta - \Psi_L(r_L)}}{\Psi'_L(r_+(\eta, L))}$$
$$= \sqrt{2} \left(\frac{\Psi_L(r_+(\eta, L)) - \Psi_L(r_L)}{(\Psi'_L)^2(r_+(\eta, L)) - (\Psi'_L)^2(r_L)} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where we used $\Psi'_L(r_L) = 0$ and $\Psi'_L(r_+(\eta, L)) > 0$ in the last equality. By the (extended) mean value theorem, there exists $s \in [r_L, r_+(\eta, L)]$ such that

$$2\Psi'_L(s)\Psi''_L(s)\left(\Psi_L(r_+(\eta,L)) - \Psi_L(r_L)\right) = \Psi'_L(s)\left((\Psi'_L)^2(r_+(\eta,L)) - (\Psi'_L)^2(r_L)\right).$$

We therefore conclude that

$$T(E, L) \ge \sqrt{2} \left(\frac{\Psi'_L(s)}{2\Psi'_L(s)\Psi''_L(s)} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Psi''_L(s)}}$$

note that $\Psi'_L > 0$ on $]r_L, \infty[$ and the above equality yields $\Psi''_L(s) > 0$. Moreover,

$$\Psi_L''(s) = U_0''(s) + 3\frac{L}{s^4} = -2\frac{m_0(s)}{s^3} + 4\pi\rho_0(s) + 3\frac{L}{s^4} \le 4\pi \|\rho_0\|_{\infty} + 3\frac{L}{s^4},$$

and

$$T(E,L) \ge \left(4\pi \|\rho_0\|_{\infty} + 3\frac{L}{s^4}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \ge \left(4\pi \|\rho_0\|_{\infty} + 3\frac{L}{r_L^4}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

In order to obtain the boundedness of T away from zero when arbitrary small Ls are in the steady state support, we have to ensure that the continuous function $]0, \infty[\ni L \mapsto \frac{L}{r_L^4}]$ is bounded for $L \to 0$; note that $r_L \to 0$ as $L \to 0$.

Lemma B.5. It holds that

$$\lim_{L \to 0} \frac{L}{r_L^4} = \frac{4\pi}{3} \rho_0(0).$$

Proof. Recall that r_L is the unique solution of the equation $rm_0(r) = L$. By the implicit function theorem, the mapping $]0, \infty[\ni L \mapsto r_L$ is differentiable with

$$\frac{\partial r_L}{\partial L}(L) = \frac{1}{m_0(r_L) + 4\pi r_L^3 \rho_0(r_L)}, \quad L > 0.$$

Therefore, by l'Hospital's rule,

$$\lim_{L \to 0} \frac{L}{r_L^4} = \lim_{L \to 0} \frac{m_0(r_L) + 4\pi r_L^3 \rho_0(r_L)}{4r_L^3} = \lim_{L \to 0} \frac{m_0(r_L)}{4r_L^3} + \pi \rho_0(0)$$

Applying l'Hospital's rule once again we arrive at

$$\lim_{L \to 0} \frac{m_0(r_L)}{4r_L^3} = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{m_0(r)}{4r^3} = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{4\pi r^2 \rho_0(r)}{12r^2} = \frac{\pi}{3} \rho_0(0).$$

Since $\rho_0(0) < \infty$ if the steady state possesses no inner vacuum region, the previous two lemmata yield the boundedness of the period function *T* away from zero on $\mathring{\Omega}^{EL}$.

Remark B.6. Another approach to bound the period function *T* from below and above is to extend it continuously onto the boundary of $\hat{\Omega}_0^{EL}$.

B.3. Regularity & monotonicity of T

Lemma B.7. *T* is continuous on $\{(E, L) \in] - \infty, 0[\times]0, \infty[| \Psi_L(r_L) < E\}$.

Proof. The change of variables $r = s (r_+(E, L) - r_-(E, L)) + r_-(E, L)$ yields

$$T(E, L) = \sqrt{2} (r_{+}(E, L) - r_{-}(E, L))$$

$$\times \cdot \int_{0}^{1} \frac{ds}{\sqrt{E - \Psi_{L} \left[s (r_{+}(E, L) - r_{-}(E, L)) + r_{-}(E, L) \right]}}.$$

Since r_{\pm} are continuous by Lemma 2.1, it remains to show that the latter integral is also continuous. This can be seen by the dominated convergence theorem, since

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{E - \Psi_L \left[s \left(r_+(E, L) - r_-(E, L) \right) + r_-(E, L) \right]}} \\
\leq \frac{\sqrt{2}M_0^2}{\sqrt{L} E_0^2} \frac{1}{\left(r_+(E, L) - r_-(E, L) \right) \sqrt{s(1-s)}}$$

for $(E, L) \in]-\infty, 0[\times]0, \infty[$ with $\Psi_L(r_L) < E$ and $0 \le s \le 1$ by Lemma 2.1. Note that $(r_+ - r_-)^{-1}$ is locally bounded and $\int_0^1 \frac{ds}{\sqrt{s(1-s)}} = \pi < \infty$.

In fact, one can show that T is even differentiable. The *E*-derivative can be computed similarly to the plane symmetric case (see Proposition 2.6), the *L*-derivative can be computed by related techniques. Unfortunately, the non-negativity of $\partial_E T$ is harder to show in the spherically symmetric case than in the planar setting.

Nonetheless, numerical simulations clearly indicate $\partial_E T \ge 0$ and $\partial_L T \le 0$ for a wide range of steady states, including the ones satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 8.15, see Remark 8.16 for an explicit example.

We again emphasize that whether period functions as the one above are monotonous is an involved question and has been widely studied [9,64], especially in the context of bifurcation theory for Hamiltonian ODEs [11,12,27]. The rigorous monotonicity properties of T will be treated in future work.

References

- ANDRÉASSON, H., REIN, G.: A numerical investigation of the stability of steady states and critical phenomena for the spherically symmetric Einstein-Vlasov system. *Class. Quant. Grav.* 23, 3659–3677, 2006
- ANTONOV, V.A.: Remarks on the problems of stability in stellar dynamics. Soviet Astronom. AJ. 4, 859–867, 1960
- ANTONOV, V.A.: The exact determination of the oscillation spectrum of stellar systems as represented by the model of a plane homogeneous layer. *Trans. Astron. Obs. Leningrad Univ.* 28, 64–85, 1971
- 4. ARNOL'D, V.I.: Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics (second Edition), Graduate Texts in Mathematics 60. Springer, New York (1989)
- BATT, J., FALTENBACHER, W., HORST, E.: Stationary spherically symmetric models in stellar dynamics. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 93, 159–183, 1986
- BATT, J., MORRISON, P.J., REIN, G.: Linear stability of stationary solutions of the Vlasov-Poisson system in three dimensions. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 130, 163–182, 1995
- 7. BEDROSSIAN, J., MASMOUDI, N., MOUHOT, C.: Landau damping: paraproducts and gevrey regularity. Ann. PDE 2(4), 71, 2016

- 8. BINNEY, J., TREMAINE, S.: *Galactic Dynamics* (second edition), Princeton Series in Astrophysics **4**, Princeton University Press 2008
- 9. BONORINO, L., BRIETZKE, E.H.M., LUKASZCZYK, J.P., TASCHETTO, C.A.: Properties of the period function for some Hamiltonian systems and homogeneous solutions of a semilinear elliptic equation. *J. Differ. Equ.* **214**, 156–175, 2005
- 10. BREZIS, H.: Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations. Universitext, Springer, New York (2011)
- CHICONE, C.: The monotonicity of the period function for planar Hamiltonian vector fields. J. Differ. Equ. 69, 310–321, 1987
- CHOW, S.-N., WANG, D.: On the monotonicity of the period function of some second order equations. *Časopis Pěst. Mat.* 111, 14–25, 1986
- 13. CURTAIN, R.F., ZWART, H.: An Introduction to Infinite-Dimensional Linear Systems Theory, Texts in Applied Mathematics 21. Springer, New York (1995)
- 14. DOREMUS, J.-P., FEIX, M.R., BAUMANN, G.: Stability of encounterless spherical stellar systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **26**, 725–728, 1971
- 15. EDDINGTON, A.S.: On the pulsations of a gaseous star and the problem of the cepheid variables. Part I. *Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc.* **79**, 2–22, 1918
- ENGEL, K.-J., NAGEL, R.: One-Parameter Semigroups for Linear Evolution Equations, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 194. Springer, New York (2000)
- 17. FRIDMAN, A.M., POLYACHENKO, V.L.: Physics of Gravitating Systems I. Springer, New York (1984)
- GIDAS, B., NI, W.M., NIRENBERG, L.: Symmetry and related properties via the maximum principle. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 68, 209–243, 1979
- GLASSEY, R., SCHAEFFER, J.: Time decay for solutions to the linearized Vlasov equation. *Trans. Theory Stat. Phys.* 23, 411–453, 1994
- 20. GRENIER, E., NGUYEN, T.T., RODNIANSKI, I.: Landau damping for analytic and Gevrey data. *Available at* arXiv:2004.05979. 2020.
- GÜNTHER, S., KÖRNER, J., LEBEDA, T., PÖTZL, B., REIN, G., STRAUB, C., WEBER, J.: A numerical stability analysis for the Einstein-Vlasov system. *Class Quant. Gravity* 38, 035003–035030, 2021
- 22. GÜNTHER, S., REIN, G., STRAUB, C.: Oscillating solutions of the Einstein-Vlasov system. *In preparation.*
- GUO, Y., LIN, Z.: Unstable and stable galaxy models. Commun. Math. Phys. 279, 789– 813, 2008
- 24. GUO, Y., LIN, Z.: The existence of stable BGK waves. Commun. Math. Phys. 352, 1121–1152, 2017
- GUO, Y., REIN, G.: Isotropic steady states in galactic dynamics. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 219, 607–629, 2001
- GUO, Y., REIN, G.: A non-variational approach to nonlinear stability in stellar dynamics applied to the King model. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 271, 489–509, 2007
- HALE, J.K., KOÇAK, H.: Dynamics and Bifurcations, Texts in Applied Mathematics 3. Springer, New York (1991)
- 28. HADŽĆ, M., REIN, G., STRAUB, C.: On the existence of linearly oscillating galaxies. *Available at* arXiv:2102.11672v1, 104pp. 2021.
- 29. HISLOP, P.D., SIGAL, I.M.: Introduction to Spectral Theory, Applied Mathematical Sciences 113. Springer, New York (1996)
- IPSER, J.R., THORNE, K.S.: Relativistic, spherically symmetric star clusters. I. Stability theory for radial perturbations. *Astrophys. J.* 154, 251–270, 1968
- JANG, J.: Time periodic approximations of the Euler-Poisson system near Lane-Emden stars. Anal. PDE 9, 1043–1078, 2016
- JANG, J., MASMOUDI, N.: Well-posedness for compressible Euler equations with physical vacuum singularity. *Commun. Pure Appl. Math.* 62, 1327–1385, 2009
- 33. KALNAJS, A.J.: Dynamics of flat galaxies. I. Astrophys. J. 166, 275–293, 1971
- 34. KALNAJS, A.J.: Dynamics of flat galaxies. IV. The integral equation for normal modes in matrix form. *Astrophys. J.* **212**, 637–644, 1977

- 35. KANDRUP, H.E., SYGNET, J.F.: A simple proof of dynamical stability for a class of spherical clusters. *Astrophys. J.* **298**, 27–33, 1985
- KULSRUD, R.M., MARK, J.W.-K.: Collective instabilities and waves for inhomogeneous stellar systems. I. The necessary and sufficient energy principle. *Astrophys. J.* 160, 471–483, 1970
- 37. KUNZE, M.: Personal communication (2020).
- KUNZE, M.: A Birman-Schwinger Principle in Galactic Dynamics, Progress in Mathematical Physics 77, Birkhäuser Basel (2021)
- 39. KURTH, R.: A global particular solution to the initial-value problems of stellar dynamics. *Quart. Appl. Math.* **36**, 325–329, 1978
- 40. LANDAU, L.: On the vibrations of the electronic plasma. Akad. Nauk SSSR. Zhurnal Eksper. Teoret. Fiz. 16, 574–586, 1946
- 41. LANDAU, L.D., LIFSHITZ, E.M.: Mechanics (third edition), Course of Theoretical Physics **1**, Elsevier Butterworth-Heinemann (1982)
- LEMOU, M., MÉHATS, F., RAPHAËL, P.: A new variational approach to the stability of gravitational systems. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 302, 161–224, 2011
- LEMOU, M., MÉHATS, F., RAPHAËL, P.: Orbital stability of spherical galactic models. *Invent. Math.* 187, 145–194, 2012
- 44. LIEB, E., Loss, M.: Analysis (second edition), Graduate Studies in Mathematics 14. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (2001)
- LOUIS, P.D.: Discrete oscillation modes and damped stationary density waves in onedimensional collisionless systems. *Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc.* 258, 552–570, 1992
- 46. LOUIS, P.D., GERHARD, O.E.: Can galaxies oscillate? A self-consistent model of a nonstationary stellar system. *Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc.* 233, 337–365, 1988
- 47. LYNDEN-BELL, D.: The stability and vibrations of a gas of stars. *Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc.* **124**, 279–296, 1962
- LYNDEN-BELL, D.: Statistical mechanics of violent relaxation in stellar systems. Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc. 136, 101–121, 1967
- 49. LYNDEN-BELL, D.: Lectures on stellar dynamics, in Galactic dynamics and *N*-body simulations, vol. 433, pp. 3–31. Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1994)
- MAKINO, T.: On spherically symmetric motions of a gaseous star governed by the Euler-Poisson equations. *Osaka J. Math.* 52, 545–580, 2015
- MARK, J.W.-K.: Collective instabilities and waves for inhomogeneous stellar systems. II. The normal-modes problem of the self-consistent plane-parallel slab. *Astrophys. J.* 169, 455–475, 1971
- 52. MATHUR, S.D.: Existence of oscillation modes in collisionless gravitating systems. *Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc.* **243**, 529–536, 1990
- 53. MOUHOT, C., VILLANI, C.: On Landau damping. Acta Math. 207, 29-201, 2011
- 54. PAUSADER, B., WIDMAYER, K.: Stability of a point charge for the Vlasov-Poisson system: the radial case. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **385**, 1741–1769, 2021
- 55. RAMMING, T., REIN, G.: Spherically symmetric equilibria for self-gravitating kinetic or fluid models in the non-relativistic and relativistic case–A simple proof for finite extension. *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* **45**, 900–914, 2013
- RAMMING, T., REIN, G.: Oscillating solutions of the Vlasov-Poisson system–A numerical investigation. *Phys. D* 365, 72–79, 2018
- 57. REED, M., SIMON, B.: Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, II. Fourier Analysis. Self-Adjointness, Academic Press, New York London (1975)
- REED, M., SIMON, B.: Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, IV. Analysis of Operators. Academic Press, New York, London (1978)
- 59. REED, M., SIMON, B.: Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. I. Functional analysis (second edition). Academic Press Inc., New York (1980)
- REIN, G.: Collisionless Kinetic Equations from Astrophysics—The Vlasov-Poisson System, in *Handb. Differ. Equ., Evolutionary Equations*3, Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 383–476 (2007)

- REIN, G., STRAUB, C.: On the transport operators arising from linearizing the Vlasov-Poisson or Einstein-Vlasov system about isotropic steady states. *Kinet. Relat. Models* 13(5), 933–949, 2020
- 62. RIOSECO, P., SARBACH, O.: Phase space mixing in an external gravitational central potential. *Class. Quant. Grav.* **37**, 195027–195069, 2020
- 63. ROSSELAND, S.: The pulsation theory of cepheid variables (George Darwin Lecture). *Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc.* **103**, 233–243, 1943
- 64. SCHAAF, R.: A class of Hamiltonian systems with increasing periods. J. Reine Angew. Math. 363, 96–109, 1985
- 65. STRAUB, C.: *Stability of the King model a coercivity-based approach*, Master thesis, Universität Bayreuth 2019.
- 66. VANDERVOORT, P.O.: On stationary oscillations of galaxies. *Mon. Not. R. Astr. Soc.* **339**, 537–555, 2003
- 67. WANG, Z., GUO, Y., LIN, Z., ZHANG, P.: Unstable galaxy models. *Kinet. Relat. Models* 6(4), 701–714, 2013
- WEINBERG, M.D.: Vertical oscillation of the galactic disk. Astrophys. J. 373, 391–404, 1991
- WEINBERG, M.D.: Weakly damped modes in star clusters and galaxies. Astrophys. J. 421, 481–490, 1994

M. HADŽIĆ University College London, London UK. e-mail: m.hadzic@ucl.ac.uk

and

G. REIN · C. STRAUB University of Bayreuth, Bayreuth Germany. e-mail: gerhard.rein@uni-bayreuth.de e-mail: christopher.straub@uni-bayreuth.de

(Received March 23, 2021 / Accepted November 19, 2021) Published online December 29, 2021 © The Author(s) (2021)